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GRoup 
M A nAGeMent R epoRt
audited pursuant to section 269 of the Austrian Business Enterprise Code (‘UGB’)

GeneR Al econoMic enviRonMent 1)

the recovery in the global economy continued in 2014. 
Despite this, the international Monetary Fund (iMF) cut 
its forecast for global economic growth to 3.3% in autumn, 
responding in particular to the slower than expected economic 
momentum in the first half of 2014. this forecast is 0.3 per-
centage points lower than in April 2014. the iMF experts are 
currently anticipating growth of 3.8% in 2015, although the 
risk of a slowdown has intensified.

While economic growth in the usA was stable year-on-year 
at 2.2% according to iMF estimates, the figure for china 
declined slightly from 7.7% to 7.4% in the 2014 financial year, 
although growth remained robust. According to a forecast 
published in early november, the european union economy 
is set to record growth of 1.3% in 2014 following stagnation 
in the previous year (+/– 0%).

based on european commission estimates, economic growth 
in Austria improved from 0.2% in the previous year to 0.7% 
in 2014, and a further upturn of 1.2% is forecast for 2015. bul-
garia is expected to have recorded GDp growth of 1.2% in 2014, 
while economic growth in belarus is set to remain unchanged 
year-on-year at 0.9%. According to eu estimates, GDp growth 
in the Republic of Macedonia will increase again to 3.3% in 
2014. Following a 1.0% slowdown in economic output in the 

previous year, slovenia is expected to have returned to pos-
itive development with growth of 2.4% in 2014. by contrast, 
croatia looks likely to have again recorded a negative growth 
rate of 0.7%. Following the floods in spring 2014, the Republic 
of serbia is also expected to see a downturn in economic 
output of 1.0%.

While the us Federal Reserve has held its key interest rate at 
0.00–0.25% since 2008 and has ceased its bond buying pro-
gramme in 2014, the european central bank continued with 
its policy of monetary easing in the year under review. the 
further intensification of the low interest rate environment 
led to another two reductions of 10 basis points in June and 
september 2014 respectively, bringing the key interest rate to 
its current level of 0.05% as a consequence of the debate on 
a potential deflation in the eurozone. Further developments 
that shaped events on the international capital markets 
included the ongoing civil war in syria and, in particular, the 
military conflict in eastern ukraine and the economic sanc-
tions imposed on Russia. by contrast, the budgetary crises 
in the peripheral european states have eased slightly, at least 
for the time being.

inDustRy tRenDs AnD coMpetition
the business performance of the telekom Austria Group is 
significantly influenced by a number of external factors. in 

 2013 2014e 2015e
Austria 0.2 0.7 1.2
Bulgaria 1.1 1.2 0.6
croatia –0.9 –0.7 0.2
Belarus 0.9 0.9 1.5
slovenia –1.0 2.4 1.7
Republic of serbia 2.6 –1.0 0.0
Republic of macedonia 2.7 3.3 3.4

DevelopMent oF ReAl GDp in the MARkets oF telekoM AustRiA GRoup 
in %

Source: IMF for Belarus; European Commission for all other countries

The Group Management Report and the Consolidated Financial Statements are a translation 
from the original German versions, which are solely valid.
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 2012 2013
Austria 0.7 0.5
Bulgaria 3.5 3.2
croatia 1.5 1.5
Belarus 1.5 1.0
slovenia 1.4 1.2
Republic of serbia 2.9 2.8
Republic of macedonia 3.0 2.7

ict spenDinG in telekoM AustRiA 
GRoup MARkets 

2014, the market environment in both the fixed-line and 
mobile communications markets again proved to be highly 
competitive, particularly in the mature markets. this led to 
sustained pressure on prices, although moderate price adjust-
ments were possible during the course of 2014. Regulatory 
provisions continued to have a negative effect on revenues 
and earnings. this applies in particular to termination rates 
and roaming charges in mobile communications. Meanwhile, 
the uncertain political and economic situation in the cee 
region affected consumer behaviour in many countries. the 
telekom Austria Group counters these factors through the 
systematic implementation of its convergence strategy, a 
clear focus on high-value customers, innovative products 
and services as well as strict cost management.

in Austria, the telekom Austria Group offers a comprehensive 
and convergent product portfolio comprising both fixed-line 
and mobile communications solutions under its A1 brand. 
the latest market report issued by the regulatory authority, 
which tracked the most recent market data in Austria up to 
the second quarter of 2014, underlines the high degree of 
maturity of the Austrian market and describes the following 
average trends across all operators:

 Average revenues generated per mobile customer 
increased slightly year-on-year from euR 13.9 to euR 14.3, 
while end customer revenues also rose marginally. includ-
ing wholesale revenues — which include termination rates 
and roaming charges — revenues in this segment declined 
by 7% compared with 2013.2) While the number of voice 
minutes fell slightly compared with the second quarter of 
2013 (–5%) and the number of text messages saw a further 
significant downturn (–26%), the data volume enjoyed 
significant growth once again, rising by 45%. As previously, 
the strongest stimulus for this trend came from smart-
phone tariffs, which rose by 10% to more than 3.42 million.

 in the Austrian fixed-line market, the trend of fixed-to-
mobile substitution continued in the year under review. 
the number of fixed access lines in households (and the 
total number of fixed access lines) again declined slightly 
as against the previous year, whereas the figure for busi-
ness customers increased slightly (+3%). the share of total 
voice minutes attributable to fixed lines also fell slightly 
year-on-year. While 14.5% of all voice minutes were 
on fixed lines in the second quarter of 2013, this figure 
amounted to just 14.0% in the same period of 2014. 
Average telephony revenues per month in the fixed-line 
segment also remained on a downward trend, declining 
by 9% for private customers and 7% for business custom-
ers. the strong demand for broadband solutions continued 
in 2014 and resulted in an overall rise of 5% to just over 
7.8 million broadband connections. Fixed-line broadband 
grew by 5%, while mobile broadband (data tariffs and 
prepaid cards) declined by 2%.

in % of gross national income per capita 

According to statistik Austria, the share of Austrian house-
holds with internet access of any kind remained stable 
between 2013 and 2014 at 81%. household broadband lines 
remained largely unchanged at 79% (compared with 80% in 
the previous year), while business broadband lines increased 
further from 93% to 96%.3) While the above indicators collec-
tively suggest increased use of telecommunications solutions, 
telecom spending as a percentage of users’ average income 
is generally declining at the same time. this is confirmed by 
the information and communications technology (ict) price 
basket, which is published regularly by the international 
telecommunication union (itu). it calculates spending on 
the basis of a defined basket of products comprising fixed-
line telephony, mobile telephony and fixed broadband services 
as a percentage of average gross national income per capita. 
the index value for Austria declined from 1.1% in 2008 to 0.5% 
in 2013, the year of the most recent report.4)

in bulgaria, the high level of competitive intensity and the 
difficult market environment continued to have a huge influ-
ence on pricing for mobile communications services as well 
as convergent product packages in the year under review. the 
internet penetration rate across all households increased 
from 53.7% in the previous year to 56.7% in 2014, with mobile 
broadband currently being used by 24.8% of all users.5)

1)  Sources: GDP for World, USA, China, Belarus: IMF http://www.imf.org/ 
external/pubs/ft/weo/2014/02/pdf/text.pdf, dated October 2014, pages 2, 
60; European Union, Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia, Slovenia, Republic of Macedonia 
and Republic of Serbia: http://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/publications/
european_economy/2014/pdf/ee7_en.pdf, dated 4 November 2014, pages 1, 
116, 122

2)  https://www.rtr.at/de/komp/TKMonitor_4_2013/TM4_2014.pdf

3)  http://www.statistik.at/web_de/statistiken/informationsgesellschaft/index.html

4)  http://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/Pages/publications/mis2014.aspx 

5)  http://www.nsi.bg/en/content/6099/households-who-have-internet- 
access-home 
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the croatian ict market was also characterised by high com-
petitive intensity and a strained general economic situation 
in the year under review. this led to a general reduction in 
the number of mobile customers in the third quarter of 2014, 
with the share of prepaid customers increasing within this. by 
contrast, there was a slight upturn in the number of broadband 
connections. total mobile revenues declined significantly 
between 2013 and 20146),not least due to the heightened regu-
lation that accompanied croatia’s accession to the eu in July 
2013. the croatian government also imposed a substantial 
increase in frequency fees in July 2014, thereby further signif-
icantly impacting operator profitability.

in belarus, the ict market has developed strongly in recent 
years, which has led to a steady increase in the number of 
internet customers and the number of mobile telephone 
users.7)

in the Additional Markets segment of the telekom Austria 
Group, slovenia has the most developed ict market. Accord-
ing to official statistics, there was further growth in user 
behaviour among mobile communications customers in 
slovenia in the year under review, while fixed-line usage 
declined significantly. Mobile voice minutes increased by 
3.6% year-on-year in the first nine months of 2014, with the 
number of text messages sent rising by 12.4%. by contrast, 
the number of fixed-line voice minutes fell by 10.6% year-on-
year in the first three quarters. the number of mobile users 
increased compared with the previous year, with contract 
customers seeing considerably stronger growth (+3.9%) than 
prepaid customers (+0.9%).8)

in the Republic of serbia, the catch-up process in mobile 
broadband, starting from a far lower level than in the other 
markets of telekom Austria Group, continued in 2014. this 
development was supported by the general expansion in the 
network infrastructure. 90.6% of all serbian households now 
own a mobile phone compared with the figure of 82.0% in 
2010.9)

the ict market in the Republic of Macedonia is only slowly 
approaching the standards of Western europe in terms of user 
behaviour; both broadband penetration and average revenues 
are at significantly lower levels. According to the statistical 
office of the Republic of Macedonia, 68.3% of all Macedonian 
households had internet access in the first quarter of 2014, 
with broadband connections accounting for 99.1% of this 
figure. 55.2% of people with internet access used a mobile 
device to access the web.10)

ReGulAtion
As the market leader, A1 telekom Austria AG is classified as 
a provider with substantial market power in Austria and is 
therefore subject to the corresponding regulatory measures. 
these include extensive network access and price regulations. 
the international subsidiaries of the telekom Austria Group 
are also subject to far-reaching regulatory provisions in their 
respective national markets. the relevant regulation for A1 
telekom Austria AG in the fixed-line network applies at retail 
and wholesale levels, including access obligations to allow 
alternative providers access to infrastructure and services. 
however, decisions on regulation are not just made at a 
national level, but are increasingly also being made at a 
european level. For example, this is the case for the european 
commission roaming regulation, which applies equally to 
all eu member states.

FixeD-line telecoMMunicAtion MARkets
the Austrian regulatory authority made further rulings in the 
fourth round of the market review process in 2013 and 2014 
as part of the statutory market analysis. it was guided among 
other things by the european commission’s recommendation 
pertaining to the regulation of fixed and mobile termination 
rates of May 2009. Generally, the goal is to harmonise and 
significantly lower these rates throughout europe. the new 
cost accounting models developed under these guidelines 
provide the basis for the glidepaths which apply to fixed-line 
and mobile termination rates. in accordance with require-
ments, Austrian fixed-line and mobile termination rates 
were already reduced in the previous year with effect from 
1 november 2013.

6)  http://www.hakom.hr/UserDocsImages/2014/e_trziste/Croatian%20Quarterly%20electronic%20communications%20data,Q32014.pdf; 
http://www.hakom.hr/UserDocsImages/2014/e_trziste/KVA%20ENG%20Q3%202014_prepaid%20and%20postpaid%20subscribers_mobile.pdf

7)  http://belstat.gov.by/en/ofitsialnaya-statistika/otrasli-statistiki/transport-i-svyaz/osnovnye-pokazateli-za-period-s-1995-po-2010-gody/main-indicators-of-
general-use-communications-development/

8)  http://www.stat.si/eng/novica_prikazi.aspx?id=6722; http://www.stat.si/eng/novica_prikazi.aspx?ID=5959

9)  http://webrzs.stat.gov.rs/WebSite/Public/ReportResultView.aspx?rptKey=indId%3d270101IND01%2662%3d1%2c2%2c3%2c4%2c5%2635%3d6%262%3d%23All%231%26sAr
eaId%3d270101%26dType%3dName%26lType%3dEnglish; http://webrzs.stat.gov.rs/WebSite/Public/ReportResultView.aspx?rptKey=indId%3d270102IND03%262%3d%23
All%23%2635%3d6%2c7%2c00%2c8%26sAreaId%3d270102%26dType%3dName%26lType%3dEnglish

10)  http://www.stat.gov.mk/PrikaziSoopstenie_en.aspx?rbrtxt=77
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besides british telecommunications plc in the uk, A1 telekom 
Austria AG is the only company in europe to offer the innova-
tive product of virtual unbundled local access (vulA) as part 
of its next-generation access (nGA) network expansion. this 
product has been confirmed by both the national regulatory 
authority and the european commission as a central whole-
sale product for nGA expansion. the requirements of the 
latest rulings on the wholesale markets ‘physical access’ and 
‘Wholesale broadband’ were also formulated accordingly.

After the european commission vetoed the draft ruling of the 
Austrian regulator, the telecom control commission (tkk), 
on the wholesale market for ‘terminating segments of leased 
lines and ethernet services’, the market analysis was rolled 
out anew. Following approval by the european commission 
in coordination proceedings, the wholesale market for 
‘terminating segments of leased lines and ethernet services’ 
is now regulated by a new ruling of the tkk dated 28 July 2014. 
With this ruling, leased lines and ethernet services with 
high bandwidths were deregulated within 359 Austrian 
municipalities. in exchange, A1 telekom Austria AG is obliged 
for the first time to lease dark fibre to its wholesale customers 
in rural areas under certain conditions.

business performance in the international markets of the 
telekom Austria Group was influenced by the following 
regulatory provisions for fixed-line operations: in bulgaria, 
termination rates were significantly reduced from 1 July 2013 
in accordance with the aforementioned eu recommendation. 
until that time, the regulator (cRc) had intended a two-stage 
path, which came into effect from 1 July 2012, defining prices 
for local and national termination regardless of whether calls 
originated domestically or abroad. since croatia joined the 
eu as at 1 July 2013, the same european stipulations on termi-
nation rates also apply to all croatian operators.

Mobile telecoMMunicAtion MARkets
the mobile communications markets of the telekom Austria 
Group are subject to various regulation systems: As members 
of the eu and the european economic Area (eeA), their 
regulations apply in Austria, bulgaria, slovenia, liechtenstein 
and, since 1 July 2013, croatia. they define roaming charges 
and termination rates between individual market players. the 
regulatory frameworks in belarus, the Republic of serbia and 
the Republic of Macedonia are at different stages of develop-
ment, but there are also signs of gradual harmonisation with 
eu regulations. 

the eu’s third Roaming Regulation came into effect on 
1 July 2012 and, unlike previous regulations, involved a struc-
tural solution from 2014. this enabled customers to choose 
an alternative provider for roaming services regardless of the 
national operator. this promotes the goal of further increas-
ing competition between operators in europe. Furthermore, 
new price caps were set for voice, messaging and data ser-
vices. besides the regulatory provisions already in place, the 
proposal of a uniform european telecommunications market, 
which has not yet been approved by the european parliament 
and the council of the european union, would mean further 
significant market intervention.

While in Austria termination rates remained the same in 
2014, they were again reduced in bulgaria, croatia and the 
Republic of serbia.

international subsidiaries of the Group acquired additional 
frequency rights in 2014. in the coming years, further spec-
trum prolongation and auction processes will take place in 
markets of the telekom Austria Group.

GliDepAths FoR Mobile teRMinAtion RAtes
in EURc

*  National mobile termination rates; international termination rates may differ.

**  No changes in mobile termination rates in Belarus during the period shown; however, the prices converted into EUR may differ.

 Jan 13 Jul 13 nov 13 Jan 14 Jul 14 sep 14 Jan 15 Jul 15
Austria 2.01 2.01 0.8049 0.8049 0.8049 0.8049 0.8049 0.8049
Bulgaria 2.35 1.18 1.18 1.02 1.02 1.02 0.97 0.97
croatia 2.61 2.54* 2.54* 1.69* 1.69* 1.69* 0.83 0.83
Belarus 1.50** 1.50** 1.50** 1.50** 1.50** 1.50** 1.50** 1.50**
slovenia 3.24 3.24 3.24 3.24 3.24 3.24 3.24 3.24
Republic of serbia 4.20 4.20 3.72 3.46 3.46 3.46 3.01 3.01
Republic of macedonia 6.50 6.50 1.95 1.95 1.95 1.46 1.46 1.46
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inFoRMAtion on FinAnciAl RepoRtinG
the telekom Austria Group reports on five business segments: 
Austria, bulgaria, croatia, belarus and Additional Markets. 
the segment corporate & other performs strategic and man-
agement functions for all segments in addition to financing 
agendas. 

the telekom Austria Group reports the financial performance 
indicators ebitDA comparable and ebitDA including effects 
from restructuring and impairment tests to present the oper-
ational development of individual business units transpar-
ently. ebitDA is defined as the net result excluding financial 
result, income tax, depreciation and amortisation. ebitDA 
comparable is defined as ebitDA adjusted for the expenses 
of the restructuring programme and, where applicable, of 
impairment charges as well as for income from the reversal 
of impairment losses.

the restructuring programme includes social plans for 
employees in Austria whose employment contracts are being 
terminated in a socially responsible manner and future 
expenses for civil servants who no longer provide services to 
the telekom Austria Group, but whose employment contracts 
cannot be terminated due to their civil servant status. ebitDA 
comparable also takes into account expenses for the transfer 
of civil servants to the Austrian government.

the use of automated calculation systems when adding up 
rounded figures can give rise to rounding differences.

ApplicAtion oF iAs 29 ‘FinAnciAl RepoRtinG 
in hypeRinFlAtionARy econoMies’
taking into account macroeconomic developments, belarus 
was classified as a hyperinflationary economy in December 
2011, which is why the provisions for financial reporting in 
hyperinflationary economies as per iAs 29 were then applied 
for the first time to the telekom Austria Group’s 2011 consoli-
dated Financial statements. iAs 29 defines the following 
indicators of a hyperinflationary economy:

 Wealth is kept in non-monetary assets, and amounts of 
local currency held are immediately invested to maintain 
purchasing power.

 prices are quoted in foreign currencies; sales and purchases 
on credit take place at prices that compensate for the 
expected loss of purchasing power during the credit 
period.

 interest rates, wages and prices are linked to a price index.
 the cumulative inflation rate over three years approaches, 

or exceeds, 100%.

the provisions concerning ‘Financial Reporting in hyperin-
flationary economies’ affect several areas of the consolidated 
Financial statements of the telekom Austria Group as at 
31 December 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011, in addition to — indi-
rectly — those for subsequent periods. Further information 
can be found in note (1) to the consolidated Financial state-
ments.

Revenue AnD eARninGs DevelopMent11)

in the 2014 financial year, the telekom Austria Group con- 
tinued to focus on counteracting revenue losses resulting 
from competitive price pressure and regulatory intervention 
through a clear value focus and strict cost management. 
in Austria, management followed the restructuring of the 
mobile tariff portfolio implemented in the previous year with 
measures aimed at existing mobile and fixed-line customers 
and a significant reduction in handset subsidies, thereby sus-
tainably improving profitability compared with the previous 
year. in managing its market, A1 telekom Austria AG primarily 
focussed on high-value, convergent offerings, the profitable 
high-value customer segment and the monetisation of rising 
data demand. to this end, management has also decided to 
use about euR 400 mn from the capital increase that was suc-
cessfully completed in november 2014 for the expansion of 
the fibre network in Austria between 2015 and 2018. this plan 
is subject to the announced government subsidy programme 
as well as annual budget approvals by the supervisory board.

Wholesale (in euRc) before Jul 12 Jul 13 Jul 14
Data (per mB) 50.0 25.0 15.0 5.0
Voice (per minute) 18.0 14.0 10.0 5.0
sms (per sms) 4.0 3.0 2.0 2.0

Retail (in euRc) before Jul 12 Jul 13 Jul 14
Data (per mB) none 70.0 45.0 20.0
Voice-calls made (per minute) 35.0 29.0 24.0 19.0
Voice-calls received (per minute) 11.0 8.0 7.0 5.0
sms (per sms) 11.0 9.0 8.0 6.0

eu RoAMinG GliDepAth

GRou p M A nAGe M e n t R e p oRt
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in 2014 the bulgarian segment suffered from pronounced 
macroeconomic pressure and an uncertain political situation 
with an adverse impact on customer behaviour. changed 
medium-term macroeconomic expectations and the weak 
operative performance of Mobiltel in 2014 led to a change in 
the assessment of the development of the bulgarian subsid-
iary Mobiltel. thus management’s previous expectation of 
a medium-term recovery of the region is no longer sustain-
able. Due to a change in the weighted average cost of capital 
(WAcc) of the bulgarian segment as well as changed expecta-
tions of the development of the bulgarian subsidiary Mobiltel 
an impairment test had to be carried out in June 2014. this 
resulted in a reduction of the value in use of the cash-gener-
ating unit bulgaria and led to a corresponding impairment of 
euR 400 mn, of which euR 59.4 mn were recognised in 2013 
and euR 340.6 mn in 2014.12)

11)  Comparative period 2013 was adjusted in accordance with IAS 8 
(please refer to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (1)).

12)  The effects on the items concerned and the related deferred 
taxes are presented in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (1). 

 2014 2013 change in %
Revenues 4,018.0 4,183.9 –4.0
eBitDA comparable 1,286.1 1,287.4 –0.1
eBitDA comparable margin 32.0% 30.8% – 
eBitDA incl. effects from restructuring and impairment tests 850.8 1,182.8 –28.1
operating income –3.0 318.2 n. m.
net result –185.4 52.1 n. m.
earnings per share (in euR) –0.46 0.07 n. m.
Free cash flow per share (in euR) 0.34 –1.62 n. m.
capital expenditure* 757.4 1,779.1 –57.4
net debt 2,693.3 3,758.7 –28.3

 2014 2013 change in %
material expenses 497.3 547.3 –9.1
employee costs 876.4 845.9 3.6
other operating expenses 1,477.1 1,590.5 –7.1
Restructuring charges 89.6 45.2 98.2
impairment charges 345.7 59.4 n. m.
Depreciation and amortisation 853.8 864.6 –1.2

key FinAnciAls

expenses

in EUR million

in EUR million

Comparative period 2013 was adjusted in accordance with IAS 8 (please refer to Note (1) of the Consolidated Financial Statements).

*  Excluding capital expenditure arising from asset retirement obligations

Comparative period 2013 was adjusted in accordance with IAS 8 (please refer to Note (1) of the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Revenues AnD ebitDA coMpARAble
in EUR million

4,018.0

1,286.1

4,183.9

1,287.4
2013

2014

EBITDA comparableRevenues
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in croatia, business operations were also negatively affected 
by the difficult economic environment, intense competition 
and regulatory intervention since the country’s accession to 
the eu in July 2013. An increase in frequency usage fees in 
July 2014 led to tariff adjustments among all operators and 
additional churn; however, positive fixed-line trends helped 
to offset some of the losses in the mobile business. Despite 
the political crisis in ukraine, velcom in belarus showed 
strong operating results as a result of price increases through-

out the year and strong demand for smartphone tariffs as well 
as higher data volume. the high Fx risks became visible again 
when the belarusian Rouble devalued in January 2015, which 
however did not affect the 2014 consolidation. the Additional 
Markets segment continued to develop positively with the 
exception of vip operator in the Republic of Macedonia, 
which suffered from significant reductions in mobile termi-
nation rates in november 2013 and september 2014.

Revenues 2014 2013 change in %
Austria 2,472.0 2,658.6 –7.0
Bulgaria 371.3 399.4 –7.1
croatia 378.2 389.2 –2.8
Belarus 355.0 331.7 7.0
Additional markets 481.1 453.5 6.1
corporate & other, eliminations* –39.6 –48.5 n. m.
Total 4,018.0 4,183.9 –4.0

eBitDA comparable 2014 2013 change in %
Austria 755.4 745.3 1.4
Bulgaria 143.1 158.6 –9.8
croatia 84.3 117.6 –28.3
Belarus 172.4 155.9 10.6
Additional markets 137.0 138.5 –1.1
corporate & other, eliminations* –6.0 –28.5 n. m.
Total 1,286.1 1,287.4 –0.1

operating income 2014 2013 change in %
Austria 157.2 184.0 –14.6
Bulgaria –284.9 4.6 n. m.
croatia 15.9 51.8 –69.4
Belarus 82.2 71.6 14.9
Additional markets 31.8 33.8 –5.8
corporate & other, eliminations* –5.2 –27.7 n. m.
Total –3.0 318.2 n. m.

eBitDA incl. effects from restructuring and impairment tests 2014 2013 change in %
Austria 665.8 700.1 –4.9
Bulgaria –197.5 99.2 n. m.
croatia 84.3 117.6 –28.3
Belarus 172.4 155.9 10.6
Additional markets 131.9 138.5 –4.8
corporate & other, eliminations* –6.0 –28.5 n. m.
Total 850.8 1,182.8 –28.1

key peRFoRMAnce inDicAtoRs telekoM AustRiA GRoup
in EUR million

Comparative period 2013 was adjusted in accordance with IAS 8 (please refer to Note (1) of the Consolidated Financial Statements).

*  For details of the content and composition of the reconciliation item, please refer to the report on the Group’s operating segments in the 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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there were also a range of structural changes in the Additional 
Markets segment: the acquisition of blizoo Macedonia, which 
closed on 30 July 2014, will allow telekom Austria Group to 
also offer bundled fixed-line and mobile services in the Mace-
donian market. Furthermore, the telekom Austria Group and 
the telekom slovenije Group agreed to merge the Macedonian 
subsidiaries vip operator and one in october 2014. the trans-
action requires approval by competition authorities, and the 
closing is expected for the first quarter of 2015. 2014 also saw 
the merger of mobilkom liechtenstein with telecom liechten- 
stein; the transaction closed on 27 August 2014. the telekom 
Austria Group has a 24.9% interest in the merged entity. As of 
the third quarter of 2014 this interest has been reported using 
the equity method and mobilkom liechtenstein is thus no 
longer included in the Additional Markets segment.

in mobile communications, the telekom Austria Group saw a 
slight downturn of 0.5% to approximately 20.0 million 
customers in the year under review. the Republic of serbia 
enjoyed the strongest growth, with the customer base 
increasing by around 141,800. in bulgaria the customer base 
also increased by 39,500. in contrast, A1 telekom Austria AG 
in Austria lost around 290,500 customers due to lower gross 
additions despite the reduced churn. vipnet in croatia also 
lost 102,800 mobile subscribers. in the fixed-line business the 
company gained around 86,400 access lines at Group level, 
corresponding to growth of 3.3% to around 2.7 mn access 
lines. the growth stemmed primarily from the acquisition of 
blizoo Macedonia; access lines also rose in Austria and croatia.

As a result of the developments described above, telekom 
Austria Group saw a reduction in revenues of 4.0% to euR 
4,018.0 mn in 2014. higher revenues in the belarusian and 
Additional Markets segments were offset by declines in 
Austria, bulgaria and croatia. negative regulatory effects 
amounted to euR 128.2 mn. Revenues in Austria included 
negative extraordinary net effects from the second quarter in 
the amount of euR 28.2 mn, primarily as a result of changes 
in revenue accounting estimates relating to the introduction 
of a new fixed-line billing system interface. Adjusted for 
these extraordinary and negative Fx effects in the amount of 
euR 46.0 mn, revenues declined by 2.2% compared with the 
previous year. the telekom Austria Group’s international 
segments accounted for 39.1% of total revenues in 2014 after 
37.2% in the previous year (measured as total consolidated 
revenues of the international segments to total Group reve-
nues not including corporate & other, eliminations).

the telekom Austria Group continued to focus on the ongo-
ing optimisation of operating efficiency and strict cost man-
agement in 2014. in addition to the reduction in intercon-
nection expenses due to lower mobile termination rates, the 
9.1% reduction in material expenses to euR 497.3 mn and 
lower marketing and sales expenses were the main factors in 
the 4.5% reduction in operating expenses to euR 2,850.9 mn. 

employee costs increased by 3.6% to euR 876.4 mn, largely 
as a result of a one-off provision for potential back-payments 
for civil servants in the amount of euR 30.1 mn. this provision 
was the result of a european court of Justice decision from 
11 november 2014, which ruled that the legal framework for 
the years of service and consequently the term to promotion 
for Austrian civil servants was not in line with union law.

other operating income rose by 36.7% to euR 119.0 mn in 
2014 due to a one-off effect in the amount of euR 26.8 mn 
relating to the merger of mobilkom liechtenstein and 
telecom liechtenstein, which was closed on 27 August 2014.

Despite the negative net effects from the above-mentioned 
one-offs, ebitDA comparable fell by only 0.1% to euR 1,286.1 mn 
in the 2014 financial year, largely as a result of the reduction 
in operating expenses. the segments Austria and belarus saw 
growth in ebitDA comparable of 1.4% and 10.6% respectively, 
thereby nearly offsetting declines of 9.8%, 28.3% and 1.1% 
in bulgaria, croatia and the Additional Markets segment. 
excluding the extraordinary effects from the fixed-line busi-
ness and employee costs in Austria as well as the one-off 
effect in liechtenstein, and adjusted for negative foreign 
exchange effects in the amount of euR 20.1 mn, ebitDA com-
parable increased by 3.9% compared with the previous year. 
All in all, the ebitDA comparable margin improved from 
30.8% in the previous year to 32.0% in the year under review.

Restructuring expenses, which relate entirely to the Austrian 
segment, amounted to euR 89.6 mn in the year under review 
after euR 45.2 mn in the previous year. they include social 
plans for employees whose employment contracts are being 
terminated in a socially responsible manner, and future 
expenses for civil servants who no longer provide services 
to telekom Austria Group, but whose employment contracts 
cannot be terminated due to their civil servant status. the 
cost savings from the fewer employees accepting social plans 
were insufficient to offset the negative effects of an interest 
rate adjustment affecting the valuation of the restructuring 
provision in the amount of euR 42.6 mn as well as a provision 
for payments to civil servants in the amount of euR 15.0 mn. 
in addition, a change in the weighted average cost of capital 
(WAcc) of the bulgarian segment and the revised expectations 
for the development of Mobiltel led to the above-mentioned 
impairment charge. in the Republic of Macedonia telekom 
Austria Group also booked an impairment of euR 5.1 mn 
in the fourth quarter of 2014 as a result of changes in the 
weighted average cost of capital (WAcc) for vip operator.

largely as a result of this impairment charge, ebitDA includ-
ing the effects of restructuring and impairment testing 
declined by 28.1% to euR 850.8 mn. Depreciation and amor-
tisation fell slightly year-on-year by 1.2% to euR 853.8 mn. 
operating income declined from euR 318.2 mn in the previ-
ous year to a negative euR 3.0 mn.
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 2014 2013 change in %
earnings per share (in euR) –0.46 0.07 n. m.
Dividend per share (in euR) 0.05* 0.05 n. m.
Free cash flow per share (in euR) 0.34 –1.62 n. m.
Roe –10.1% 4.9% –
Roic –0.1% 2.4% –

the telekom Austria Group recorded a financial result of 
euR 181.1 mn in the year under review, 6.1% lower than in the 
previous year. this was primarily attributable to the euR 11.8 mn 
reduction in interest expenses due to the recognition of a net 
loss in connection with the forward starting interest rate swaps. 
interest income also declined slightly to around euR 14.6 mn. 
Fx differences amounted to a negative euR 1.9 mn after a neg-
ative euR 4.3 mn in 2013 as a result of the higher level of Fx 
gains in the year under review.

tax expenses fell from euR 73.1 mn in 2013 to euR 1.3 mn in 
the year under review due to the higher capitalised deferred 
taxes.

coMpAny key FiGuRes

bAlAnce sheet stRuctuRe 
in EUR million  As % of the balance  As % of the balance 
 31 Dec 2014 sheet total 31 Dec 2013 sheet total
current assets 2,047.3 24.6 1,221.2 15.7
property, plant and equipment 2,246.1 27.0 2,308.1 29.6
Goodwill 1,189.5 14.3 1,522.5 19.5
other intangible assets 2,570.1 30.9 2,590.3 33.2
other assets 263.4 3.2 158.5 2.0
ASSETS 8,316.4 100.0 7,800.6 100.0
      
current liabilities  1,537.5 18.5  1,442.3 18.5
long-term debt  3,385.0 40.7  3,737.7 47.9
employee benefit obligation  200.9 2.4  164.3 2.1
non-current provisions  867.5 10.4  881.4 11.3
other long-term liabilities  107.4 1.3  115.8 1.5
stockholders‘ equity  2,218.0 26.7  1,459.1 18.7
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS‘ EQUITY  8,316.4 100.0  7,800.6 100.0

Comparative period 2013 was adjusted in accordance with IAS 8 (please refer to Note (1) of the Consolidated Financial Statements).

overall, the telekom Austria Group reported a negative net 
income of euR 185.4 mn in 2014 compared with a positive 
euR 52.1 mn in the previous year.

net Assets AnD FinAnciAl position
total assets increased by 6.6% year-on-year to euR 8,316.4 mn 
as at 31 December 2014 due to the higher level of cash and 
cash equivalents resulting from the capital increase that was 
concluded in november 2014.

higher cash and cash equivalents were also the main reason 
for current assets rising by 67.6% to euR 2,047.3 mn in the 
year under review. Accounts receivable fell by 12.3 % year-on-

Comparative period 2013 was adjusted in accordance with IAS 8 (please refer to Note (1) of the Consolidated Financial Statements).

*  Proposal to the 2014 Annual General Meeting, which will take place on 27 May 2015
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net Debt*

in EUR million
 31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013
long-term debt 3,385.0 3,737.7
short-term borrowings 340.8 232.2
cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments –1,032.5 –211.2
Derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes 0.0 0.0
Net debt Telekom Austria Group 2,693.3 3,758.7
net debt/eBitDA comparable 2.1× 2.9×

13)  As of 31 December 2014 long-term financial investments, instalment sales 
receivables and financial leasing are no longer included in the calculation of 
net debt; comparative figures were restated accordingly.

year, as a result of lower revenues as well as a change in rev-
enue accounting estimates relating to the introduction of a 
new fixed-line billing system interface. non-current assets 
fell by 4.7% to euR 6,269.1 mn, mainly due to a reduction in 
goodwill following the impairment at Mobiltel in bulgaria. 
this was only partially offset by the increase in deferred 
taxes and investments in associations following the merger 
of mobilkom liechtenstein and telecom liechtenstein, in 
which the telekom Austria Group now holds a 24.9% equity 
interest.

current liabilities increased by 48.0% to euR 340.8 mn in 
2014, largely as a result of maturing loans. long-term debt 
declined due to the reclassification of maturing loans as well 
as the early repayment of loans by 9.4% to euR 3,385.0 mn. 
employee benefit obligations increased by euR 36.6 mn 
following the reduction in the interest rate applied in their 
valuation.

Dividend payments for the 2014 reporting year amounted 
to euR 56.0 mn compared with euR 22.2 mn in the previous 
year; this was due to first-time payments to the creditors 
of the euR 600 mn hybrid bond. the rise in equity from 
euR 1,459.1 mn to euR 2,218.0 mn was primarily attribut- 
able to the successful completion of the capital increase in 
november 2014, which more than compensated the reduction 
in retained earnings. this also entailed an increase in the 
equity ratio as at 31 December 2014 to 26.7% after 18.7% as at 
31 December 2013.

net Debt13)

net debt of the telekom Austria Group fell by 28.3% to 
euR 2,693.3 mn in the year under review as a result of the 
lower level of long-term debt and the increase in cash and 
cash equivalents following the capital increase. together with 
the stable ebitDA comparable, this resulted in an increase 
of the net debt to ebitDA comparable ratio from 2.9× in the 
previous year to 2.1× in 2014.

net Debt AnD equity
in EUR million

Net debt

Equity

net debt to 
eBitDA comparable

2,693.3

3,758.7

2,218.0

1,459.1

2013 2014

2.1×

2.9×

*  As of 31 December 2014 long-term financial investments, instalment sales receivables and financial leasing are no longer included in the calculation of net debt; 
comparative figures were restated accordingly.
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cApitAl expenDituRe
capital expenditure declined significantly to euR 757.4 mn 
in the year under review (2013: euR 1,779.1 mn). this was 
primarily due to the high costs in connection with the Austrian 
multiband auction and the acquisition of intellectual property 
rights, frequencies and collocation rights for base stations 
from orange Austria in 2013.

tangible capital expenditure remained stable at euR 488.6 mn, 
as reductions in Austria and the Republic of serbia could not 
compensate stable or higher investments in the other markets 
and in belarus in particular. in Austria, tangible capital 
expenditure declined due to the completion of the project 
introducing All-ip in the fixed-line business and due to 
reduced expenses for customer handsets and infrastructure. 
in belarus, tangible capital expenditure increased mainly on 
the back of higher investment in the network and it infra-
structure. tangible capital expenditure in the Republic of 
serbia declined by euR 14.8 mn largely as a result of a change 
in the revenue recognition for handsets; this was partially 
offset by increased network investments.

the reduction in intangible capital expenditure to euR 268.8 mn 
(2013: euR 1,292.1 mn) is largely due to the acquisition of 
mobile frequencies in the Austrian multi-band auction and 
intellectual property rights, frequencies and collocation 
rights for base stations from orange Austria in the previous 
year. in bulgaria intangible capital expenditure increased 
year-on-year following the prolongation of 900 Mhz and 
1800 Mhz frequency bands for euR 30.6 mn in April 2014. by 
contrast, intangible capital expenditure in croatia declined 
due to the euR 23.1 mn acquisition of mobile frequencies 
in 2013. in slovenia the acquisition of mobile spectrum for 
euR 63.9 mn in the year under review led to a further signifi-
cant increase in intangible assets, while the lower intangible 
capital expenditure in the Republic of Macedonia was attrib-
utable to the acquisition of the lte spectrum in 2013 for 
euR 10.3 mn.

cAsh FloW
in EUR million
 2014 2013 change in %
cash flow generated from operations 901.4 1,051.6 –14.3
cash flow used in investing activities –781.6 –2,021.4 n. m.
cash flow generated from (used in) financing activities 696.5 569.6 22.3
effects of exchange rate changes –0.1 1.8 n. m.
loss of purchasing power on cash and cash equivalents 0.5 –1.0 n. m.
change in cash and cash equivalents 816.7 –399.4 n. m.

cAsh FloW 
the cash flow from operating activities fell by 14.3% in the 
reporting year to euR 901.4 mn. As the gross cash flow rose 
by 4.7% for operational reasons, this downturn was attributable 
to the large increase in working capital. the higher working 
capital requirements were primarily due to the increase in 
prepaid expenses as a result of increased demand for instal-
ment plans in croatia, Austria, belarus, slovenia and the 
Republic of serbia, as well as the continued utilisation of 
the restructuring provision. in addition, accounts payable 
declined particularly in Austria in the year under review due 
to the lower level of outstanding liabilities to suppliers.

the cash flow used for investing activities fell from 
euR 2,021.4 mn in the previous year to euR 781.6 mn in 
the year under review, consisting primarily of regular cApex 
and expenditure for spectrum acquisitions in bulgaria and 
slovenia as well as the acquisition of blizoo Macedonia. 
the year-on-year reduction was mainly due to the acquisition 
of mobile frequencies and intellectual property rights, 
frequencies and collocation rights for base stations from 
orange Austria in 2013.

the cash flow from financing activities increased from 
euR 569.6 mn in the previous year to euR 696.5 mn in the 
year under review. cash outflows for the repayment of 
liabilities and the increased dividend due to payments to 
owners of the hybrid bond were more than offset by the 
euR 996.6 mn capital increase.

As a result, cash and cash equivalents increased to euR 816.7 mn 
compared with a negative euR 399.4 mn at year-end 2013.

Free cash flow, which includes income from the disposal 
of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, 
increased from a negative euR 716.7 mn in the previous year 
to a positive euR 156.1 mn in the year under review. this was 
the result of the lower cash flow used for investing activities 
due to the acquisition of mobile frequencies in Austria in 2013.
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 2014 2013 change in %
tangible Austria 288.4 306.3 –5.9
tangible Bulgaria 45.3 37.6 20.5
tangible croatia 57.7 51.5 12.1
tangible Belarus 42.2 28.8 46.6
tangible Additional markets 55.0 62.7 –12.4
Total tangible 488.6 487.0 0.3
intangible Austria 110.3 1,203.5 –90.8
intangible Bulgaria 57.6 22.5 155.2
intangible croatia 12.2 30.9 –60.4
intangible Belarus 6.2 5.2 20.3
intangible Additional markets 82.5 30.0 174.5
Total intangible 268.8 1,292.1 –79.2
Total capital expenditure* 757.4 1,779.1 –57.4

cApitAl expenDituRe *
in EUR million

*  Excluding capital expenditure arising from asset retirement obligations

seGMent AnAlysis

seGMent AustRiA
For A1 telekom Austria AG, 2014 was again dominated by the 
turnaround strategy and its focus on the premium customer 
segment, with the aim of counteracting the continued head-
winds of competition and regulation. Following the funda-
mental changes to the tariff structure for new customers in 
the previous year, A1 telekom Austria AG was able to generate 
important momentum for a sustainable improvement in 
profitability in the year under review by implementing tariff 
adjustments for existing customers and significantly reduc-
ing handset subsidies for new and existing customers. the 
tariff adjustments led to increased churn and negative net 
additions in the second quarter of 2014; however, these trends 
normalised in the third quarter of 2014. the Austrian mobile 
communications market was again characterised by intense 
competition in 2014, which intensified towards the end of the 
year with the entry or the announcement of the entry of addi-
tional mobile virtual network operators (Mvnos). Further 
reductions in roaming charges in July 2013 and July 2014 and 
mobile termination rates in november 2013 resulted in further 
pressure on revenues, which the company attempted to miti-
gate with extensive cost-cutting measures.

convergent product packages remained a central element of 
the operational strategy in 2014, so as to counteract the ongo-
ing substitution of fixed-line voice telephony with mobile 

communications. in its fixed-line business, the company 
also focused increasingly on the development of broadband 
capacities and services in the year under review, with the aim 
of meeting the rising demand for data volume. Management 
team has allocated euR 400.0 mn of the funds generated 
from the successful capital increase in november 2014 to the 
expansion of the fibre network in Austria between 2015 and 
2018. this plan is subject to the announced government 
subsidy programme as well as annual budget approvals by 
the supervisory board.

in the year under review, A1 telekom Austria AG saw a 5.1% 
decline in the number of mobile communication customers 
to approximately 5.4 million, with the significant reduction 
in churn failing to offset lower gross additions as a result of 
less market rotation compared with the previous year. Accord-
ingly, A1 telekom Austria AG’s market share fell by 1.5 percent-
age points to 41.1%. the number of fixed access lines rose 
slightly by 3,200 lines year-on-year. broadband and A1 tv 
enjoyed considerable year-on-year growth of 5.7% and 6.9% 
to 1,469.1 million and 251,800 customers respectively. the 
growth in broadband was driven by the increasing demand 
for 16 and 30 Mbps products. in contrast to the positive devel-
opments in broadband and tv, fixed-line voice minutes 
continued to fall by 12.8% (2013: –10.5%) resulting from the 
above-mentioned substitution of fixed-line telephony with 
mobile communications.
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 2014 2013 change in %
material expenses  237.2  343.6 –30.9
employee costs  704.2  683.7 3.0
other operating expenses  861.7  973.5 11.5
Restructuring charges  89.6  45.2 98.2
Depreciation and amortisation  508.6  516.1  1.4

opeRAtinG expenses AustRiA
in EUR million

key peRFoRMAnce inDicAtoRs AustRiA 

*  The methodology for counting mobile subscribers has been changed with effect from the second quarter of 2013. The figures for the first quarter of 2013 
were adjusted retrospectively.

key financials (in euR million) 2014 2013 change in %
Revenues 2,472.0 2,658.6 –7.0
 of which monthly fee and traffic 1,777.2 1,843.3 –3.6
 of which data and ict solutions 220.7 224.7 –1.7
 of which wholesale (incl. roaming) 147.7 140.9 4.9
 of which interconnection 191.8 260.5 –26.4
 of which equipment 112.9 170.0 –33.6
 of which other 21.6 19.2 12.3
eBitDA comparable 755.4 745.3 1.4
eBitDA comparable margin 30.6% 28.0% – 
eBitDA incl. effects from restructuring and impairment tests 665.8 700.1 –4.9
operating income 157.2 184.0 –14.6
capital expenditure 398.7 1,509.8 –73.6

mobile communication*   
ARpu (in euR) 16.2 16.1 0.5
mobile communication subscribers (in ̒000) 5,424.1 5,714.5 –5.1
share of contract customers 70.2% 69.4% – 
market share 41.1% 42.6% –
mobile broadband subscribers (in ̒000) 714.9 816.4 –12.4
penetration 155.1% 158.1% – 

Fixed line   
ARpl (in euR) 30.4 31.3 –2.9
total access lines (in ̒000) 2,287.1 2,283.9 0.1
 of which fixed broadband lines 1,469.1 1,390.2 5.7
  of which retail 1,433.1 1,352.2 6.0
  of which wholesale 36.1 38.0 –5.1
unbundled lines (in ̒000) 239.3 250.0 –4.3
Fixed line voice traffic (in million minutes) 1,821.9 2,090.1 –12.8
 of which domestic traffic 1,138.1 1,342.2 –15.2
 of which fixed-to-mobile traffic 483.5 521.5 –7.3
 of which international fixed-line traffic 200.3 226.3 –11.5
mobile and fixed broadband penetration in Austria in % of households 124.3% 121.2% – 
       
employees (full-time equivalents as of 31 Dec) 8,635 8,804 –1.9
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on the revenue side, the operational measures described 
above were not sufficient to offset the negative effects of 
competition and regulation in the year under review, with 
the result that the Austrian segment reported a drop in reve-
nues of 7.0% to euR 2,472.0 mn for 2014. Revenues in Austria 
included negative extraordinary net effects from the second 
quarter of 2014 in the amount of euR 28.2 mn, primarily as a 
result of changes in revenue accounting estimates relating to 
the introduction of a new fixed-line billing system interface. 
this adversely impacted monthly fee and traffic revenues 
by euR 39.4 mn and data and ict solutions by euR 7.8 mn. 
Among other things, the reversal of provisions and deferrals 
had a positive effect on wholesale revenues (incl. roaming) of 
euR 17.0 mn and on other revenues of euR 2.0 mn. Adjusted 
for these effects, revenues declined by 6.0% year-on-year.

the downturn in revenues is primarily attributable to inter-
connection revenues and revenues from the sale of equip-
ment, as well as monthly fee and traffic revenues. Despite 
increased usage in the transit business, interconnection 
revenues declined by 26.4% to euR 191.8 mn as a result of 
lower termination rates. All in all, regulatory effects nega-
tively impacted revenues by euR 77.0 mn. in addition, lower 
gross additions as a result of reduced subsidies meant that 
revenues from the sale of equipment declined by 33.6% to 
euR 112.9 mn. Monthly fee and traffic revenues fell by 3.6% 
to euR 1,777.2 mn; adjusted for the aforementioned extraor-
dinary effects, however, the reduction fell to 1.4%. increased 
monthly fixed fees could not offset lower customer roaming 
and airtime revenues. Declining voice minutes continued 
to negatively impact fixed-line revenues, but were partly 
compensated by gains in tv and broadband.

Average monthly revenues per mobile user (ARpu) rose from 
euR 16.1 in 2013 to euR 16.2 in the year under review, with the 
positive effects from increased fixed fees and the higher pro-
portion of premium customers offsetting the negative impact 
of regulation and lower variable mobile revenues. Given the 
further decline in the fixed-line voice business, which was 
only partially mitigated by higher revenues from broadband 
and A1 tv, average monthly revenue per fixed access line 
(ARpl) fell to euR 30.4 in 2014 (2013: euR 31.3).

the reduction in material expenses and termination rates had 
a positive impact on operating expenses, which fell by 9.9% 
to around euR 1,803.1 mn in the year under review. Material 
expenses fell by 30.9% to euR 237.2 mn, largely as a result of 
the reduction in subsidies and reduced gross additions. lower 
prices also meant that interconnection expenses declined 
sharply by 25.0% to euR 180.0 mn. Further cost savings were 
generated in marketing and sales, maintenance, consulting, 
service and energy. by contrast, employee costs rose by 3.0% 
to euR 704.2 mn. this was due to a one-off effect of euR 30.1 mn 
as a result of a provision for potential subsequent payments 
to civil servants. this provision was the result of a european 

court of Justice decision from 11 november 2014, which ruled 
that the legal framework for the years of service and conse-
quently the term to promotion for Austrian civil servants was 
not in line with union law.

Despite lower revenues, the reduction in operating expenses 
resulted in an increase in ebitDA comparable by 1.4% to 
euR 755.4 mn in the year under review. All in all, regulatory 
effects had a negative impact of euR 19.5 mn on ebitDA 
comparable. Adjusted for the extraordinary effects in fixed-
line and employee costs, ebitDA comparable increased by 
9.2%. the ebitDA comparable margin also increased from 
28.0% in the previous year to 30.6% in 2014.

Restructuring expenses of euR 89.6 mn were recognised 
in the Austrian segment in the 2014 reporting year (2013: 
euR 45.2 mn). these include social plans for employees whose 
employment contracts are being terminated in a socially 
responsible manner, and future expenses for civil servants 
who no longer provide services to the telekom Austria Group, 
but whose employment contracts cannot be terminated due 
to their civil servant status. the cost savings from the fewer 
employees accepting social plans were insufficient to offset 
the negative effects of an interest rate adjustment affecting 
the valuation of the restructuring provision in the amount 
of euR 42.6 mn as well as a provision for payments to civil 
servants in the amount of euR 15.0 mn. As a result, ebitDA 
including the effects of restructuring and impairment testing 
declined by 4.9% to euR 665.8 mn.

Depreciation and amortisation declined by 1.4% to 
euR 508.6 mn, with lower depreciation for fixed-line infra-
structure more than offsetting the increase in amortisation 
for the mobile spectrum acquired in october 2013. As a result 
of the developments described above, the operating income 
of the Austrian segment amounted to euR 157.2 mn, 14.6% 
below the figure for the previous year.
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seGMent bulGARiA
the market environment in bulgaria was dominated by the 
weak economy and the uncertain political situation in 2014, 
with the associated negative impact on demand and the 
purchasing power of customers. the worsening of long-term 
macroeconomic expectations, which were the result of struc-
tural impediments and negatively affected economic devel-
opment, resulted in a downgrade of bulgaria’s long-term 
sovereign credit rating by s&p to bbb- in June 2014 and to bb+ 
in December 2014. Furthermore, business performance was 
adversely affected by the intense competitive environment 
and harsh regulatory effects. operationally, Mobiltel counter-
acted these challenges by focusing on value creation through 
up- and cross-selling, convergent product bundles and the 
retention of premium customers. Management also aimed to 
mitigate revenue pressure on profitability by way of strict cost 
management.

Despite massive price pressure, Mobiltel succeeded in slightly 
increasing its mobile customer base in the year under review, 
largely on the back of growth in the no-frills and business 
segments. Mobiltel’s market share, however, declined further 
from 39.0% to 37.6%. the ongoing increase in the use of data 

led to a further increase in mobile broadband customers by 
29.0% to over 248,900. Moreover, the year-on-year number of 
smartphone customers using voice and data packages nearly 
doubled due to successful upselling. the number of fixed-
line customers declined by 3.9% to around 153,600, largely 
as a result of the loss of business broadband customers. the 
number of broadband customers fell by 6.4% year-on-year. 
After the launch of a Dth offering the tv business saw sub-
stantial growth in its customer base of 8.2%.

Revenues in the year under review were impacted by negative 
effects in the form of a further reduction in prices and termi-
nation rates, declining by 7.1% year-on-year to euR 371.3 mn 
despite positive momentum from the growing importance 
of mobile data traffic. Monthly fee and traffic revenues fell 
considerably as a result of price pressure in the retail and 
business segments. higher fixed service revenues could not 
compensate for the weak trend in the mobile business. in 
addition, the reduction in termination rates with effect from 
1 July 2013 and 1 January 2014 and roaming charges with effect 
from 1 July 2013 and 1 July 2014 had a negative impact on 
interconnection and roaming revenues.

key peRFoRMAnce inDicAtoRs bulGARiA

key financials (in euR million) 2014 2013 change in %
Revenues 371.3 399.4 –7.1
eBitDA comparable 143.1 158.6 –9.8
eBitDA comparable margin 38.5% 39.7% – 
eBitDA incl. effects from restructuring and impairment tests –197.5 99.2 n. m.
operating income –284.9 4.6 n. m.
capital expenditure 102.9 60.2 71.0

Fixed line   
ARpl (in euR) 14.4 13.5 6.9
total access lines (in ̒000) 153.6 159.9 –3.9
 of which fixed broadband lines 145.1 155.0 –6.4
       
employees (full-time equivalents as of 31 Dec) 2,527 2,647 –4.6

mobile communication*   
ARpu (in euR) 6.1 6.3 –4.2
mobile communication subscribers (in ̒000) 4,221.0 4,181.5 0.9
share of contract customers 78.7% 78.7% – 
market share 37.6% 39.0% – 
mobile broadband subscribers (in ̒000)** 248.9 192.9 29.0
penetration 152.7% 144.8% – 

* The methodology for counting mobile and fixed-line subscribers has been changed with effect from the fourth quarter of 2013. 
 The figures for the previous quarters of 2013 were adjusted retrospectively.

**  The methodology for counting mobile broadband customers has been changed to exclusively include data-only tariffs with effect from the first quarter of 2013. 
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the developments described above were reflected in a reduc-
tion in average monthly revenue per mobile user (ARpu) to 
euR 6.1 (2013: euR 6.3). by contrast, average monthly revenue 
per access line (ARpl) increased to euR 14.4 (2013: euR 13.5) 
as a result of the higher ARpl for business customers. Fixed 
service revenues also rose by 1.4% to euR 26.6 mn.

to counteract the difficult operating environment, Mobiltel’s 
management team continued to focus on effective cost 
management in the year under review. increased material 
expenses from the sale of higher-quality equipment due to 
increased subsidies for customer retention, among other 
things, were balanced by the reduction in expenses for fines 
and penalties. interconnection and roaming expenses also 
declined as a result of the aforementioned regulatory effects. 
employee costs were also reduced by means of restructuring, 
the optimisation of Ftes and outsourcing. As a result total 
operating expenses fell by 4.4% to euR 241.7 mn.

the improved cost base helped to partly mitigate the negative 
impact of lower revenues on ebitDA comparable, which fell 
by 9.8% to euR 143.1 mn in the year under review.

Depreciation and amortisation decreased by 7.7% year-on-
year in 2014 as a result of lower monthly amortisation for 
mobile network infrastructure as well as for the prolonged 
GsM licence. in addition, a change in the weighted average 
cost of capital (WAcc) of the bulgarian segment and changed 
macroeconomic expectations for bulgaria in the medium 
term as well as the resulting revised outlook for the develop-
ment of the bulgarian subsidiary led to an impairment charge. 
All in all, the impairment resulted in negative operating 
income of euR 284.9 mn in the year under review compared 
with a positive figure of euR 4.6 mn in 2013.

seGMent cRoAtiA
in croatia the performance of the mobile business was again 
negatively affected by the difficult economic environment 
and intense competition in 2014. earnings were impacted by 
regulatory intervention after croatia’s accession to the eu in 
July 2013, while the increase in frequency usage fees in July 
2014 resulted in additional pressure. subsequent tariff adjust-
ments by all operators led to increased churn, which vipnet 
counteracted in the third quarter of 2014 with higher subsi-
dies. in contrast to the mobile segment, the fixed-line 

key peRFoRMAnce inDicAtoRs cRoAtiA

key financials (in euR million) 2014 2013 change in %
Revenues 378.2 389.2 –2.8
eBitDA comparable 84.3 117.6 –28.3
eBitDA comparable margin 22.3% 30.2% – 
eBitDA incl. effects from restructuring and impairment tests 84.3 117.6 –28.3
operating income 15.9 51.8 –69.4
capital expenditure 70.0 82.4 –15.1

Fixed line   
ARpl (in euR) 21.4 22.7 –5.8
total access lines (in ̒000) 219.9 193.1 13.9
 of which fixed broadband lines 136.0 109.2 24.5
      
employees (full-time equivalents as of 31 Dec) 1,151 1,138 1.1

mobile communication   
ARpu (in euR) 11.1 11.6 –4.3
mobile communication subscribers (in ̒000) 1,741.0 1,843.8 –5.6
share of contract customers 46.8% 45.1% – 
market share 36.0% 37.3% – 
mobile broadband subscribers (in ̒000)* 144.2 168.8 –14.6
penetration 112.6% 115.1% – 

*  The methodology for counting mobile broadband customers has been changed to only include data-only tariffs with effect from the first quarter of 2013. 
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business continued to enjoy positive development, partially 
offsetting the decline in the mobile business once again in 
the year under review.

the total number of mobile communications customers 
declined by 5.6% to approximately 1.7 mn in the year under 
review. this was due to the reduction in the number of 
customers with multiple prepaid cards as a result of their 
migration to contract tariffs, as well as customer migration 
following tariff adjustments by all operators in June 2014. 
the proportion of contract customers increased to 46.8% over 
the course of the year (2013: 45.1%). Market share declined 
from 37.3% to 36.0% as a result of intense competition and 
the cleaning of the prepaid customer base for inactive cus-
tomers. the number of fixed access lines rose by 13.9% to 
219,900. the fixed broadband connections included in the 
total number of access lines climbed by 24.5% to around 
136,000 in the year under review as a result of organic growth 
as well as acquisitions in 2013. the number of tv customers 
also increased by 6.8% to around 167,700.

vipnet’s revenues declined by 2.8% to euR 378.2 mn in the 
year under review, including a negative foreign exchange rate 
effect of euR 2.8 mn. the most significant negative factor by 
far was regulation, which served to reduce interconnection 
and roaming revenues by a total of euR 18.9 mn. Monthly 
fee and traffic revenues also declined. this was attributable 
to lower variable mobile revenues due to the smaller number 
of prepaid customers and year-on-year price reductions, 
which could not be compensated by the increased revenues 
from mobile fixed fees and fixed-line services. increased 
revenues from the sale of equipment, which were the result 
of the focus on contract customers, helped to partially offset 
some of the aforementioned losses.

the reduction in average monthly revenue per mobile user 
(ARpu) to euR 11.1 (2013: euR 11.6) was due to regulatory 
effects and price pressure in contract and prepaid business, 
with business ARpu coming under particular competitive 
pressure. Average monthly revenue per fixed access line 
(ARpl) also declined to euR 21.4 (2013: euR 22.7) as a result 
of developments in the business segment, as the customers 
acquired in 2013 generated lower average revenue per fixed 
access line than the rest of vipnet’s customer base. however, 
the reported growth in the number of fixed access lines led 
to a total increase in fixed service revenues of 8.9%.

operating expenses rose by 8.7% to euR 301.4 mn in the year 
under review. this was primarily due to the increase in fre-
quency usage fees together with higher expenses for bad debt 
and outsourcing. in addition, material expenses increased as 
a result of higher demand for high-value equipment after the 
introduction of instalment sales, while the intensification of 
marketing activities in the year under review led to a higher 
level of marketing and sales expenses. these effects were only 

partially offset by lower interconnection expenses due to the 
reduction in termination rates.

vipnet’s ebitDA comparable declined by 28.3% to euR 84.3 mn 
in the year under review as a result of the negative revenue 
and cost developments. the margin also fell from 30.2% in 
the previous year to 22.3% in the year under review. together 
with a slight increase in depreciation and amortisation, this 
resulted in operating income of euR 15.9 mn, down 69.4% 
year-on-year.

seGMent belARus
belarus was classified as a hyperinflationary country in 
December 2011, and it was resolved that accounting for hyper-
inflationary economies would be applied for the whole year 
2011. hyperinflation is determined, among other things, by 
the three-year cumulative inflation rate. As this amounted 
to around 108.7% for 2011, around 21.8% for 2012 and around 
16.6% for 2013, hyperinflationary accounting continued to 
be applied in 2014. to what extent hyperinflation accounting 
will be applied in 2015 as a result of volatile market develop-
ment after 1 January 2015 will be decided on the basis of the 
inflation development in the financial year 2015.

the macroeconomic environment in belarus remained rela-
tively stable in the year under review despite the political crisis 
in ukraine. Following a weak first half of the year, the belarusian 
Rouble lost 9.0% of its value over the year as a whole 
(2013: –13.3%). the currency devaluation shortly thereafter in 
January 2015 did not affect the consolidation in 2014. At 16.2% 
the 2014 rate of inflation remained at the level of the prior year.

in light of these developments, velcom’s management team 
continued to concentrate on a tariff and equipment portfolio 
focussed on smartphones and tablets in 2014 with the aim 
of monetising the rising demand for data. tariffs were also 
adjusted in the year under review to counteract currency and 
hyperinflationary effects. Furthermore, the company focused 
on optimising operating expenses and disconnecting them 
from currency effects.

velcom’s customer base remained largely stable at 4.95 million 
in the year under review. the 15.2% increase in mobile broad-
band customers to around 284,100 reflects the continuous 
rise in demand for data as mentioned above. velcom’s market 
share also remained broadly stable in the year under review.

After changes due to financial reporting in hyperinflationary 
economies and including negative currency effects in the 
amount of euR 35.3 mn, revenues increased by 7.0% year-on-
year to euR 355.0 mn in 2014. local currency revenues rose by 
19.8%. inflation-related price adjustments in 2013 and 2014, 
upselling effects and increased data usage were the main 
reasons for the growth in monthly fee and traffic revenues. 
equipment revenues also climbed as a result of the increased 
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demand for smartphones as well as tablets. velcom also gen-
erated higher interconnection revenues, primarily as a result 
of increased international fees. As a result of the aforemen-
tioned developments, average monthly revenue per mobile 
user (ARpu) improved to euR 5.1 (2013: euR 4.8).

operating expenses increased by 4.4% to euR 188.6 mn in 
the year under review. in local currency, the increase was pri-
marily due to higher maintenance, repair and rental expenses, 
as well as higher bad debt. in addition, inflation-related salary 
adjustments and growth-related employee recruitment led 
to increased employee costs. Material expenses also rose as 
a result of the high level of demand for smartphones and 
tablets; however the equipment margin remained positive. 
the reduction in interconnection expenses due to lower 
transit fees and the downturn in international usage were 
not sufficient to offset the aforementioned effects.

thanks to the positive revenue development, ebitDA 
comparable increased by 10.6% to euR 172.4 mn in the year 
under review, despite negative foreign exchange rate effects 
amounting to euR 17.1 mn. the ebitDA comparable margin 
climbed to 48.6% in the year under review (2013: 47.0%), 
the highest margin in the Group yet again.

Despite increased depreciation and amortisation as a result of 
the faster depreciation of equipment, the increase in ebitDA 

key financials (in euR million) 2014 2013 change in %
Revenues 355.0 331.7 7.0
eBitDA comparable 172.4 155.9 10.6
eBitDA comparable margin 48.6% 47.0% – 
eBitDA incl. effects from restructuring and impairment tests 172.4 155.9 10.6
operating income 82.2 71.6 14.9
capital expenditure 48.5 34.0 42.6

mobile communication   
ARpu (in euR) 5.1 4.8 6.4
mobile communication subscribers (in ̒000) 4,949.9 4,947.4 0.0
share of contract customers 80.6% 80.6% – 
market share 42.4% 42.5% – 
mobile broadband subscribers (in ̒000)* 284.1 246.5 15.2
penetration 123.3% 123.0% – 
       
employees (full-time equivalents as of 31 Dec) 1,881 1,749 7.5

key peRFoRMAnce inDicAtoRs belARus

* The methodology for counting mobile broadband customers has been changed to only include data-only tariffs with effect from the first quarter of 2013.

comparable translated into an increase in operating income 
of 14.9% to euR 82.2 mn.

ADDitionAl MARkets seGMent

sloveniA
si.mobil continued to successfully navigate a challenging 
macroeconomic and fiercely competitive environment by 
focusing on its multi-brand strategy also in 2014. the com- 
pany also acquired around 50% of the mobile spectrum auc-
tioned in the frequency auction in April 2014 for euR 63.9 mn, 
thereby securing 2 × 10 Mhz in the new 800 Mhz band and 
modest gains in the other bands.

in the year under review si.mobil slightly increased its 
customer base in slovenia by 0.3% to around 681,500, largely 
on the back of positive momentum in the no-frills segment. 
this was accompanied by a further improvement in the 
proportion of contract customers to 79.4% (2013: 78.0%). 
Despite this, si.mobil’s market share declined slightly from 
30.0% in the previous year to 29.2% in 2014 as a result of the 
aggressive pricing environment.

Revenues in slovenia increased slightly by 0.4% to euR 199.6 mn 
in the year under review, benefitting from strong growth in 
equipment revenues due to the sale of high-value equipment 
to new customers. this was partially offset by lower fee and 
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traffic revenues as a result of price pressure and reduced 
roaming revenues, as well as lower interconnection revenues 
following the reduction in mobile termination rates in 
september 2014. As a result of the increase in no-frills contract 
customers, the average monthly revenue per mobile user 
(ARpu) declined to euR 19.1 (2013: euR 19.9).

Demand for high-value equipment led to a sharp rise in 
material expenses in the year under review; however, this was 
partially offset by a reduction in interconnection expenses 
due to lower prices, as well as a reduction in marketing and 
sales expenses. All in all, operating expenses increased only 
slightly by 0.2% to euR 139.2 mn. As a result ebitDA compar- 
able rose by 1.2% year-on-year to euR 63.6 mn. With depre-
ciation and amortisation slightly lower, operating income 
increased by 2.8% to euR 41.0 mn.

Republic oF seRbiA
in the Republic of serbia, vip mobile continued on its growth 
path in 2014 and increased the number of its mobile customers 
by 7.0% to just under 2.2 million. the successful focus on 
high-value customer segments was reflected in contract 
customer growth; at the same time the positive reaction to 
a no-frills product helped to increase the prepaid customer 

basis. the company’s market share climbed by 1.4 percentage 
points to 22.5%, although this was due in part to the cleaning 
of a competitor’s customer base, resulting in a reduction in 
the total number of mobile customers in the market.

Despite negative Fx effects of euR 7.9 mn (2013: euR 0.1 mn), 
resulting from the 3.6% decline of the serbian Dinar versus 
the euro, vip mobile increased revenues by 16.8% to 
euR 213.2 mn in the year under review. this was primarily driven 
by higher equipment revenues attributable to a change in 
the revenue recognition for handsets. Monthly fee and traffic 
revenues were slightly reduced due to Fx effects. operation-
ally an increase in monthly fixed fees due to the higher pro-
portion of contract customers was mostly offset by a decline 
in traffic and roaming revenues as well as the reversal of a 
deferral effect for equipment revenues. lower termination 
rates also served to reduce interconnection revenues. other 
revenues fell as a result of the change in handset revenue rec-
ognition. Average monthly revenue per mobile user (ARpu) 
declined to euR 6.9 (2013: euR 7.4) as a result of the lower 
level of variable mobile revenues as well as regulatory effects.

higher material expenses resulting from the change in the 
revenue recognition for handsets were the main reason for 

key peRFoRMAnce inDicAtoRs sloveniA

key financials (in euR million) 2014 2013 change in %
Revenues 199.6 198.9 0.4
eBitDA comparable 63.6 62.8 1.2
eBitDA comparable margin 31.8% 31.6% –
eBitDA incl. effects from restructuring and impairment tests 63.6 62.8 1.2
operating income 41.0 39.9 2.8
capital expenditure 89.9 23.2 287.6

mobile communication   
ARpu (in euR) 19.1 19.9 –3.9
mobile communication subscribers (in ̒000) 681.5 679.2 0.3
share of contract customers 79.4% 78.0% –
market share 29.2% 30.0% –
mobile broadband subscribers (in ̒000) 24.3 20.8 16.8
penetration 111.8% 108.5% – 
       
employees (full-time equivalents as of 31 Dec) 399 396 0.7
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key financials (in euR million) 2014 2013 change in %
Revenues 213.2 182.6 16.8
eBitDA comparable 64.0 64.0 –0.1
eBitDA comparable margin 30.0% 35.0% – 
eBitDA incl. effects from restructuring and impairment tests 64.0 64.0 –0.1
operating income –2.9 –8.6 n. m.
capital expenditure 37.8 52.7 –28.2

mobile communication   
ARpu (in euR) 6.9 7.4 –5.7
mobile communication subscribers (in ̒000) 2,159.5 2,017.7 7.0
share of contract customers 50.4% 50.8% –
market share* 22.5% 21.1% –
penetration 133.6% 133.1% –
       
employees (full-time equivalents as of 31 Dec) 933 918 1.6

key peRFoRMAnce inDicAtoRs Republic oF seRbiA

*  Changes are mostly due to an adjustment in the method for the calculation of the competitors’ mobile customer base.

the 23.9% increase in operating expenses to euR 158.0 mn. 
this was only partially mitigated by reduced interconnection 
costs due to the adjustment of termination rates in accord-
ance with the glidepath.

All in all, the rise in revenues outweighed the increased oper-
ating expenses in the 2014 reporting year, leading to a stable 
ebitDA comparable of euR 64.0 mn. the ebitDA comparable 
margin, however, fell as a result of higher operating expenses 
from 35.0% in the previous year to 30.0% in 2014. earnings 
included negative foreign exchange effects in the amount 
of euR 2.4 mn. operating income improved from a negative 
euR 8.6 mn in the previous year to a negative euR 2.9 mn 
due to the lower level of depreciation for equipment.

Republic oF MAceDoniA
in a mobile market characterised by intense competition, vip 
operator in the Republic of Macedonia maintained its focus 
on the growth of premium segments in the year under review. 
the acquisition of blizoo Macedonia, which closed on 30 July 
2014, represents a significant step in the execution of the 

telekom Austria Group’s convergence strategy and means that 
telekom Austria Group can now also offer bundled fixed-line 
and mobile services in the Macedonian market.

Furthermore, the telekom Austria Group and the telekom 
slovenije Group agreed the merger of their subsidiaries vip 
operator and the third-largest mobile operator one in october 
2014. telekom Austria Group will have a 55% equity interest 
in and thus sole control over the newly created joint company; 
telekom slovenije Group will have an equity interest of 45%. 
the agreement includes options for the exit of the telekom 
slovenije Group within three years of the transaction closing 
date. the transaction requires approval by the Macedonian 
anti-trust authorities, which is expected for the first quarter 
of 2015.

the significant growth in the number of contract customers 
was not quite sufficient to mitigate the fall in prepaid custom-
ers resulting from the migration to bundled products in the 
year under review. Accordingly, the total number of mobile 
communications customers fell by 1.2% year-on-year to 
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622,000. the share of contract customers thus increased from 
47.5% in 2013 to 52.4% in the year under review. vip operator’s 
mobile market share also increase to 28.2% (2013: 28.0%). 
Following the acquisition of blizoo Macedonia, the telekom 
Austria Group also reported 62,600 fixed access lines in the 
Republic of Macedonia at year-end 2014.

Despite this, vip operator’s revenues fell by 4.4% year-on-year 
to euR 62.0 mn. this was due to the lower level of intercon-
nection revenues as a result of the cuts to national termina-
tion rates in november 2013 and september 2014. operation-
ally, earnings were also impacted by price pressure and lower 
prepaid revenues. the figures include revenues generated 
by blizoo Macedonia in the amount of euR 4.4 mn, which 
explains the substantial rise in monthly fee and traffic reve-
nues. Average monthly revenue per mobile user (ARpu) fell to 
euR 6.9 (2013: euR 7.9) as a result of the price pressure in the 
contract and prepaid segments.

on the cost side, the increase in material expenses due to 
higher equipment sales to contract customers was more 
than offset by the considerable reduction in interconnection 
expenses. in contrast, vip operator saw higher costs for 
service, rental, maintenance and repair as well as transport. 
All in all, operating expenses however declined by 1.7% to 
euR 49.7 mn.

Despite reduced operating expenses lower revenues led to 
a 14.6% reduction in ebitDA comparable to euR 12.6 mn, of 
which euR 1.4 mn were generated by blizoo Macedonia. the 
ebitDA comparable margin fell from 22.7% in the previous 

year to 20.3% in the year under review. in addition, in the 
Republic of Macedonia telekom Austria Group booked an 
impairment of euR 5.1 mn in the fourth quarter of 2014 as 
a result of changes in the weighted average cost of capital 
(WAcc) for vip operator. increased depreciation and amorti-
sation due to the acquisition of blizoo Macedonia exacerbated 
the effect on operating income, which declined to a negative 
euR 2.6 mn in the year under review.

liechtenstein
the merger of mobilkom liechtenstein and telecom liechten-
stein resulted in the telekom Austria Group holding a 24.9% 
equity interest in the merged entity. the transaction closed 
on 27 August 2014. Following the closing, mobilkom liechten- 
stein is no longer consolidated in the Additional Markets 
segments and the 24.9% interest is reported using the equity 
method.

last figures for mobilkom liechtenstein prior to the merger 
show approximately 6,500 mobile communications customers 
as of 31 July 2014 compared with 6,350 at 31 December 2013. 
mobilkom liechtenstein generated revenues of euR 4.2 mn 
up until the end of July 2014 after euR 6.5 mn in 2013. ebitDA 
comparable amounted to euR 0.6 mn at the end of July 2014 
compared with euR 0.6 mn in 2013. Following negative oper-
ating income of euR 0.2 mn in the 2013 financial year, the 
company reported negative operating income of euR 0.2 mn 
as of the end of July 2014.

key financials (in euR million) 2014 2013 change in %
Revenues 62.0 64.9 –4.4
eBitDA comparable 12.6 14.7 –14.6
eBitDA comparable margin 20.3% 22.7% –
eBitDA incl. effects from restructuring and impairment tests 7.5 14.7 –49.2
operating income –2.6 6.3 n. m.
capital expenditure 9.4 16.1 –41.6

mobile communication   
ARpu (in euR) 6.9 7.9 –13.6
mobile communication subscribers (in ̒000) 622.0 629.7 –1.2
share of contract customers 52.4% 47.5% –
market share 28.2% 28.0% –
penetration 107.4% 109.2% –
       
employees (full-time equivalents as of 31 Dec) 535 214 149.8

key peRFoRMAnce inDicAtoRs Republic oF MAceDoniA
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non-FinAnciAl 
peRFoRMAnce inDicAtoRs

coRpoRAte sociAl Responsibility
the telekom Austria Group’s corporate strategy is geared 
towards increasing enterprise value in a sustainable way, 
while taking into account all relevant economic, ecological 
and social aspects. this goal is supported by the Group’s com-
mitment to the Austrian corporate Governance code and the 
application of all of the requirements of the internal control 
system, the code of conduct and the compliance guidelines. 
An integrated corporate social responsibility (csR) management 
system, defined standards and processes, Group-wide envi-
ronmental management and compliance with the principles 
of the un Global compact ensure the ongoing development 
of strategies and goals and the involvement of all business 
units and hierarchies. sustainability reporting is based on 
the guidelines of the Global Reporting initiative (GRi) and is 
independently validated by an external auditor.

the sustainability strategy of the telekom Austria Group was 
fundamentally revised in 2013. A materiality analysis was 
conducted with the help of various interest groups to iden-
tify the central sustainability issues. Four areas of activity 
were then derived which are considered material to the future 
development of the telekom Austria Group. specific targets, 
measures and performance indicators were defined for these 
areas of activity.

the area of activity named ‘providing responsible products’ 
builds on the innovative application options for secure, high 
performance communication networks and their positive 
impact on the environment and society. ‘living green’ high-
lights the specific measures to reduce the telekom Austria 
Group’s ecological footprint. to allow performance measure-
ment in this area, environmental indicators are drawn across 
the Group (with the exception of liechtenstein). the targeted 
promotion of employees is at the heart of the area of activity 
named ‘empowering people’. Finally, ‘creating equal oppor-
tunities’ comprises the telekom Austria Group’s initiatives 
aimed at fostering digital media skills at subsidiaries.

the environmental management of A1 telekom Austria AG 
and si.mobil in slovenia are iso 14001 certified and satisfy all 
eMAs requirements. the energy management of A1 telekom 
Austria AG is also iso 50001 certified. compliance with the 
requirements of these standards is reviewed annually by an 
independent certification body. in 2014, A1 telekom Austria 
AG introduced the first and, to date, only carbon-neutral 
network in Austria. the underlying co2 calculation was 
audited and validated by tÜv sÜD in accordance with the 
international standard pAs 2060.

eMployees
the telekom Austria Group had 16,240 employees at year-end 
2014, 1.2% more than one year previously. this development 
was primarily attributable to the acquisition of blizoo 

key financials (in euR million) per 31.07.2014* 2013 change in %
Revenues 4.2 6.5 n. m.
eBitDA comparable 0.6 0.6 n. m.
eBitDA comparable margin 15.0% 9.9% –
eBitDA incl. effects from restructuring and impairment tests 0.6 0.6 n. m.
operating income 0.2 –0.2 n. m.
capital expenditure 0.1 0.5 n. m.

mobile communication   
ARpu (in euR)** 40.0 40.7 n. m.
mobile communication subscribers (in ̒000) 6.5 6.4 n. m.
market share 16.3% 16.1% –
penetration 109.0% 108.1% –
       
employees (full-time equivalents as of 31 Dec)* 14 15 n. m.

key peRFoRMAnce inDicAtoRs liechtenstein

*  On account of the merger of mobilkom liechtenstein and Telecom Liechtenstein, which was closed on 27 August 2014, 
the data is shown as of 31 July 2014.

**  As a result of a change in the calculation methodology, ARPU was changed retrospectively for 2013. 
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Macedonia. headcount in the Austrian segment was reduced 
by 1.9% to 8,635 employees as part of the ongoing restructuring 
measures. Around 50% of these employees have civil servant 
status. the segments outside of Austria saw development of 
4.9% to 7,424 employees.

With a view to maintaining its competitive capability and 
innovative drive, the telekom Austria Group invests in exten-
sive professional training for its employees on an ongoing 
basis. the telekom Austria Group business school functions 
as a central development platform. it developed and organised 
more than 64 training opportunities for 1,053 participants in 
the course of 2014. in addition to the training offered by this 
central institution, the telekom Austria Group subsidiaries 
have also developed their own training programmes tailored 
to the needs of their respective markets. to meet future 
requirements for experts and managers, the telekom Austria 
Group is particularly committed to apprenticeship training. 
in Austria, university and college graduates are offered a 
twelve-month graduate programme while school-leavers 
can experience on-the-job training with the A1 trainee pro-
gramme.

total spending on further education and professional 
training in the year under review amounted to euR 7.8 mn 
(2013: euR 7.9 mn). this corresponds to an average of 
euR 480 per employee at year-end (2013: euR 492).

Managers are faced with the challenge of getting more out of 
fewer resources while preventing burnout. the ‘healthy man-
agement’ seminar, which will be rolled out for all managers in 
2015, is aimed at helping managers to balance these priorities 
and learn how to motivate, encourage and relieve the burden 
on employees in the face of pressure to perform and scarcity 
of resources.

innovAtion AnD technoloGy
the telekom Austria Group concentrates its extensive 
research and development activities on the development of 
market-oriented products and services and the ongoing 
technological development of its network infrastructure in 
order to ensure that it is well-equipped for the increasingly 
stringent demands of the future, namely the need to provide 
ever-larger data volumes more quickly and ideally irrespec-
tive of location.

With vipnet, Mtel, vip mobile and vip operator, the telekom 
Austria Group is one of the first european operators to have 
successfully tested the network function virtualisation (nFv) 
technology — providing for the virtualisation and automation 
of network functions — in four field trials in croatia, bulgaria, 
the Republic of serbia and the Republic of Macedonia. nFv 
technology makes the network more efficient and flexible, 
and hence represents a paradigm shift for the entire telecom-
munications industry. occupying a leading position in this 
area is a key element of the Group’s innovation strategy.

in spring 2014, the telekom Austria Group again demonstrated 
its innovative strength with a successful field trial of 400 Gbps 
high-speed technology between Zagreb and ljubljana. in 
Austria, A1 telekom Austria AG became the world’s first 
operator to demonstrate the ultra-broadband transmission 
technology G.fast in live operation. Data speeds of several 
hundred Mbps per household were achieved using existing 
copper wires in a 19th-century building. in other words, G.fast 
makes it possible to offer ultra-broadband services via the 
existing copper network.

Following the acquisition of the necessary frequencies, the 
expansion of the mobile network is clearly focused on lte. 
si.mobil already offers coverage of more than 75% in slovenia, 

eMployees

employees at year-end* 2014 2013 change in %
Austria 8,635 8,804 –1.9
Bulgaria 2,527 2,647 –4.6
croatia 1,151 1,138 1.1
Belarus 1,881 1,749 7.5
Additional markets 1,867 1,543 21.0
corporate 181 165 9.4
Total 16,240 16,045 1.2
*  Full-time equivalent employees

GRou p M A nAGe M e n t R e p oRt

24 t elekom Aus t RiA GRoup  AnnuAl FinAnciAl Rep oR t 2 014



while A1 telekom Austria AG offers coverage of more than 
60% in Austria, vip operator’s coverage in the Republic of 
Macedonia is in excess of 42%, and vipnet in croatia offers 
coverage of more than 27%. the lte networks are not only 
being expanded, however — they are also evolving. in June 
2014, A1 telekom Austria AG became the first operator in 
Austria to test voice telephony over 4G/lte in its live network 
as part of a voice over lte (volte) trial. the subsidiaries 
si.mobil and A1 telekom Austria AG also made an important 
step in advancing the development of the fourth generation 
of mobile telecommunications technology towards lte 
Advanced with the implementation of lte carrier aggrega-
tion in selected conurbations in november 2014. instead of 
the previous maximum of 150 Mbps, suitable devices can now 
achieve speeds of up to 300 Mbps. Following the launch of 
4G/lte roaming in switzerland in late 2013, A1 telekom Austria 
AG has expanded its roaming partnerships to include a total 
of 21 countries in recent months.

in the period under review, A1 telekom Austria AG expanded 
its central business areas to include Managed it and e-health 
solutions. in the area of Managed it, A1 telekom Austria AG is 
already the market leader for desktop outsourcing with more 
than 55,000 managed workstations. A1’s infotainment offering 
in the e-health solutions business area allows patients 
to access tv, radio, internet, telephone and medical records — 
the latter secured by using fingerprints.

telekom Austria Group M2M realises M2M projects through-
out the entire footprint of telekom Austria Group. starting 
from managed connectivity as the basic product, the range 
of services extends from complete solutions for asset track-
ing and fleet management in all countries of telekom Austria 
Group via industrial automation through to smart metering. 
the connection of cash registers to the fiscal authorities in 
bulgaria, croatia and the Republic of serbia was also success-
fully implemented. Activities in the area of smart metering 
are focused on Austria due to the national implementation 
of the eu legal framework, which requires the conversion of 
95% of existing electricity meters to smart meters by 2019.

thanks to the interconnection of its fibre footprint with 
América Móvil, the telekom Austria Group can now offer its 
wholesale customers more than 200 points of presence (pop) 
in 47 countries. the two companies are also cooperating in 
the area of voice services: with the interconnection in Miami, 
the telekom Austria Group is one of the first operators to use 
the latin America hub of América Móvil.

through the cooperation with national and international 
institutions and application-based research partnerships with 
science and industry, telekom Austria Group is pursuing dif-
ferent approaches for the integration of future information 
and communications technologies in order to allow it to per-
manently offer market and customer-oriented communications 

solutions. the telekom Austria Group currently has research 
partnerships with the Research centre for telecommunica-
tions in vienna, the vienna university of technology, the 
christian Doppler laboratory for Wireless technologies for 
sustainable Mobility, the Josef Ressel centre for user-friendly 
secure Mobile environments and the technical university of 
sofia. beyond its own sphere of action, A1 telekom Austria AG 
also promotes innovation by new companies with a start-up 
initiative that provides expertise and infrastructure to help 
make innovations a reality. As part of the stakeholder process 
for the smart Grids Austria technology platform, the telekom 
Austria Group is also participating in the debate on the future 
introduction of smart power grids.

DisclosuRe in AccoRDAnce 
With section 243A oF the AustRiAn 
business enteRpRise coDe (‘uGb’)

shAReholDeR stRuctuRe AnD cApitAl 
DisclosuRes
the shareholders’ agreement between Österreichische 
industrieholding AG (‘ÖiAG’), América Móvil, s.A.b. de c.v. 
(‘América Móvil’) and carso telecom b.v. (‘carso telecom’) 
came into force on 27 June 2014 (see note (29)). under the 
terms of the shareholders’ agreement, the parties have under-
taken to jointly pursue a long-term policy with regard to the 
management of telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft by exer-
cising their voting rights on a concerted basis. the sharehold-
ers’ agreement also contains provisions on the joint exercise 
of voting rights in the committees of the company for the 
election of supervisory board and Management board mem-
bers and restrictions on the sale of shares. the supervisory 
board of the company consists of ten shareholder represent- 
atives, of which eight members are nominated by carso 
telecom and two by ÖiAG. ÖiAG has the right to appoint the 
chairman of the supervisory board. carso telecom has the 
right to appoint the Deputy chairman. the Management 
board of the company consists of three members. two mem-
bers are nominated by carso telecom, while one member of 
the Management board, namely the chief executive officer 
(ceo), is nominated by ÖiAG. the extraordinary General 
Meeting on 14 August 2014 also amended the Articles of Asso-
ciation to state that, as long as the Republic of Austria directly 
or indirectly holds at least 25% plus one share of the share 
capital of the company, resolutions on capital increases and 
the issue of instruments containing a conversion right or 
a conversion obligation for shares of the company and 
amendments to the provisions of the Articles of Association 
relating to capital increases and such instruments shall 
require a majority of at least three quarters of the share capital 
represented at the vote on the resolution.

ÖiAG and carso telecom have agreed that at least 24% of 
the shares of the company should be in free float while the 
shareholders’ agreement is in place. this minimum free 
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float requirement is based on ÖiAG’s maximum equity inter-
est of 25% plus one share. if ÖiAG holds more than 25% plus 
one share of the share capital of the company, the minimum 
free float requirement decreases accordingly so that América 
Móvil can retain an equity interest in the company of 51%. 
if the number of shares in free float falls below the minimum 
while the shareholders’ agreement is in place, (i) carso 
telecom undertakes to sell shares within the next 24 months 
and (ii) América Móvil undertakes to ensure that neither it 
nor its subsidiaries purchase any additional shares until the 
minimum free float requirement is restored.

As long as ÖiAG holds 25% plus one share or more of the 
share capital of telekom Austria AG, ÖiAG shall have the 
following rights of codetermination in accordance with the 
voting rights agreement: the right to veto capital increases of 
telekom Austria AG and its subsidiaries, the issue of certain 
convertible instruments, the appointment of the auditor of 
the Financial statements, related party transactions, the relo-
cation of the registered office of the company and material 
business functions, including research and development, the 
disposal of the company’s core business, and changes to the 
name of telekom Austria AG and the brands of telekom Austria 
AG, among other things. ÖiAG shall also be granted the block-
ing minority rights accruing by law to a minority shareholder 
with an equity interest of 25% plus one share. ÖiAG’s veto 
rights in connection with capital increases and the issue of 
certain convertible instruments are also set out in the Articles 
of Association of the company. if ÖiAG’s equity interest falls 
below 20% but remains above 10%, ÖiAG shall retain certain 
veto rights. the voting rights agreement shall expire auto-
matically if the equity interest held by one of the parties falls 
below 10%.

With respect to the loans still outstanding as of 31 December 
2014 which are designated to the ‘change of control’ clauses, 
the lenders did not demand early repayment in the course of 
the financial year 2014.

At the end of 2014, a total of 59.70% or 396,705,196 shares 
of the telekom Austria AG were directly or indirectly held 
by América Móvil. the Republic of Austria holds 28.42% via 
ÖiAG, while the remaining 11.88% is attributable to free float. 
0.1% or 0.4 million of these shares were held by the company 
itself. América Móvil has more than doubled its equity interest 
compared with the figure of 23.67% at the end of the previous 
year. on 23 April 2014, América Móvil and ÖiAG entered into 
the aforementioned shareholders’ agreement that triggered a 
public takeover offer. During the acceptance and additional 
acceptance period from 15 May 2014 to 16 october 2014, a 
total of 142,414,783 shares (32.15%) of the telekom Austria AG 
were sold to América Móvil for a price of euR 7.15 per share. 
the first capital increase in the history of the telekom 
Austria AG was undertaken in november 2014. between 
10 and 24 november 2014, a total of 221,500,000 new shares 

were offered for subscription at a price of euR 4.57 per 
share. Around 99.7% of the new shares were placed, with 
the remaining 0.3% subscribed by Deutsche bank at a price 
of euR 5.26 per share. As a result, the number of shares in 
circulation increased to 664,500,000.

the voting rights attached to shares held by telekom Austria 
AG employees, which are held in a collective custody account, 
are exercised by a custodian (notary).

the main changes in the shareholder structure were as 
follows:

on 14 January 2014, carso telecom, in which América Móvil 
indirectly holds a controlling interest, concluded a condi-
tional share purchase agreement with inmobiliaria carso, s.A. 
de c.v and control empresarial de capitales, s.A. de c.v for a 
total of 13,901,000 telekom Austria AG shares, corresponding 
to 3.14% of the share capital. When the transaction comes 
into force, carso telecom holds a total of 110,841,174 ordinary 
shares of telekom Austria AG, corresponding to 25.0206% 
of the voting rights in telekom Austria AG, and therefore 
exceeds the threshold of 25% of the voting rights of the issuer; 
América Móvil holds directly (section 91 (1) of the Austrian 
stock exchange Act (‘börseG’)) and indirectly (section 92 (Z 4) 
of the Austrian stock exchange Act) a total of 118,776,874 ordi-
nary shares of telekom Austria AG, corresponding to 26.8119% 
of the voting rights in telekom Austria AG, and therefore 
exceeds the threshold of 25% of the voting rights of the issuer.

Following this transaction, carso telecom holds a total of 
110,841,174 ordinary shares of telekom Austria AG as of 
13 March 2014, corresponding to 25.0206% of the voting rights 
in telekom Austria AG, and therefore exceeds the threshold of 
25% of the voting rights of the issuer; América Móvil directly 
(section 91 (1) of the Austrian stock exchange Act) and indi-
rectly (section 92 (Z 4) of the Austrian stock exchange Act) 
holds a total of 118,776,874 ordinary shares of telekom Austria 
AG, corresponding to 26.8119% of the voting rights in telekom 
Austria AG, and therefore exceeds the threshold of 25% of the 
voting rights of the issuer.

on 23 April 2014, América Móvil announced that it had 
concluded a shareholders’ agreement with ÖiAG concerning 
its equity interest in telekom Austria AG via its wholly- 
owned subsidiary carso telecom.

on 25 April 2014, América Móvil and ÖiAG announced that 
the conditional shareholders’ agreement in accordance with 
sections 91, 91a and 92 (Z 1) of the Austrian stock exchange 
Act encompassed the voting rights for 244,694,609 shares of 
telekom Austria AG, corresponding to an equity interest of 
55.2358%. When the shareholders’ agreement went into effect, 
América Móvil and ÖiAG exceeded the thresholds of 30%, 
35%, 40%, 45% and 50% of the votes in telekom Austria AG 
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in accordance with section 92 (Z 1) in conjunction with 
section 91 of the Austrian stock exchange Act.

on 30 June 2014, carso telecom announced that, following 
the conclusion of a conditional shareholders’ agreement with 
ÖiAG on 15 May 2014, it had submitted a voluntary public 
takeover offer with the aim of effecting a change of control 
in accordance with section 25a of the Austrian takeover Act 
(‘ÜbG’). the takeover offer to the shareholders of telekom 
Austria AG related to the acquisition of all no-par value shares 
not already held by the bidder, the América Móvil Group, 
ÖiAG or telekom Austria AG. the offer price was euR 7.15 ex 
dividend 2013 per no-par value share of telekom Austria AG. 
the offer could have been accepted between 15 May 2014 and 
10 July 2014, 5:00 p.m, vienna time.

on 30 June 2014, carso telecom and ÖiAG announced that all 
of the conditions precedent of the shareholders’ agreement 
had been met by 27 June 2014. the shareholders’ agreement 
came into force with the fulfilment of all of the conditions 
precedent. in accordance with sections 91, 91a and 92 (Z 1) of 
the Austrian stock exchange Act, the shareholders’ agreement 
encompassed the voting rights for 246,218,158 shares of telekom 
Austria AG, corresponding to an equity interest of 55.58% at 
this point in time.

on 15 July 2014, América Móvil and ÖiAG announced that 
carso telecom had received 103,978,115 shares during the 
acceptance period of the public takeover offer for all of the 
shares of telekom Austria AG, corresponding to approxi-
mately 23.47% of the voting rights in telekom Austria AG. in 
accordance with sections 91, 91a and 92 (Z 1) of the Austrian 
stock exchange Act, the shareholders’ agreement encom-
passed the voting rights for 351,002,957 shares of telekom 
Austria AG, corresponding to an equity interest of 79.23% at 
this point in time. the acceptance period ended on 10 July 
2014. Following the payment of the purchase price and the 
transfer of the shares, América Móvil held directly and indi-
rectly 225,085,222 shares, corresponding to around 50.80% of 
the share capital of telekom Austria AG. under the conditions 
of the offer document, every shareholder who did not accept 
the offer was offered a sell-out period of an additional three 
months.

on 18 July 2014, América Móvil and ÖiAG submitted the fol-
lowing notification: the 125,917,735 ordinary shares of telekom 
Austria AG held by ÖiAG corresponding to 28.4239% of the 
voting rights of the issuer, are attributable in accordance with 
section 92 of the Austrian stock exchange Act. Furthermore, 
a total of 103,978,115 ordinary shares of telekom Austria AG 
were delivered under the terms of the takeover offer by carso 
telecom up until 14 July 2014, corresponding to 23.4713% of 
the voting rights in telekom Austria AG. Directly and indi-
rectly and taking into account the shares held by ÖiAG and 
the delivered shares, América Móvil therefore held a total 

of 351,002,957 ordinary shares of telekom Austria AG, corre-
sponding to 79.2332% of the voting rights in telekom Austria AG.

on 21 october 2014, América Móvil announced that its sub-
sidiary carso telecom had received 38,436,668 shares during 
the additional acceptance period of the public takeover offer 
for all of the shares of telekom Austria AG, corresponding to 
approximately 8.68% of the voting rights in telekom Austria 
AG. the additional acceptance period ended on 16 october 
2014.

on 21 october 2014, América Móvil announced that, following 
the purchase of additional ordinary shares of telekom Austria 
AG by carso telecom on the otc market and the settlement of 
the shares acquired during the additional acceptance period 
in accordance with section 19 (3) of the Austrian takeover Act, 
América Móvil held 264,470,131 ordinary shares of telekom 
Austria AG directly and indirectly via carso telecom, corre-
sponding to 59.6998% of the voting rights in telekom Austria 
AG. the 125,917,735 ordinary shares of telekom Austria AG 
held by ÖiAG, corresponding to 28.4239% of the voting rights 
of telekom Austria AG, are attributable in accordance with 
section 92 of the Austrian stock exchange Act and section 
20 of the Austrian banking Act. Directly and indirectly 
and taking into account the ordinary shares held by ÖiAG, 
América Móvil therefore held a total of 390,387,866 ordinary 
shares of telekom Austria AG, corresponding to 88.1237% of 
the voting rights in telekom Austria AG.

on 7 november 2014, the Management board of telekom 
Austria AG, with the approval of the supervisory board of 
telekom Austria AG, resolved to implement a capital increase 
with the aim of generating net proceeds of up to euR 1 bn 
from the issue of up to 221,500,000 new no-par value shares 
with voting rights.

on 24 november 2014, the telekom Austria AG announced 
the end of the subscription period and the completion of the 
capital increase announced on 7 november 2014. As a result, 
the number of shares of the telekom Austria AG increased 
by 221.5 million, from 443.0 million to 664.5 million. the net 
proceeds from the transaction amounted to euR 996.6 mn.

on 28 november 2014, the telekom Austria AG announced 
that the share capital of telekom Austria AG had increased 
from euR 966,183,000 to euR 1,449,274,500 as a result of 
the capital increase, which was entered in the commercial 
register on 27 november 2014. At the same time, the 
number of no-par value shares in circulation increased 
from 443,000,000 to 664,500,000.
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chAnGes to the MAnAGeMent boARD 
AnD the supeRvisoRy boARD
harald stöber, who had been a member of the supervisory 
board for a number of years, died in early May 2014.

All of the supervisory board members elected until 14 August 
2014 stepped down from their positions with effect from 
the end of the extraordinary General Meeting on 14 August. 
the extraordinary General Meeting on 14 August 2014 newly 
elected the members of the supervisory board following the 
implementation of the shareholders’ agreement.

siegfried Mayrhofer was appointed as chief Financial officer 
for one year with effect from 1 June 2014 to replace hans 
tschuden, whose contract expired on 31 May 2014.

cAsh-use policy
Maintaining its solid investment grade rating is the top 
priority of telekom Austria Group’s cash-use policy. While the 
Moody’s rating of baa2 (outlook stable) remained unchanged 
in 2014, standard & poor’s upgraded its rating from bbb- 
(outlook stable) to bbb (outlook stable) in August 2014 in view 
of the upcoming capital increase. these ratings by Moody’s 
and standard & poor’s ensure the required financial flexibility 
for strategic projects. Following the successful completion of 
the capital increase in november 2014, the telekom Austria 
Group plans to invest approx. euR 400 mn in addition to 
its regular cApex in an accelerated fibre rollout in Austria 
between 2015 and 2018. this plan is subject to the announced 
government subsidy programme as well as annual budget 
approvals by the supervisory board. in addition, the Group 

telekoM AustRiA AG: MeMbeRs oF the supeRvisoRy boARD end of current term of office/
name (year of birth) Date of first appointment leaving date
Alfred Brogyányi (1948) 29.05.2013 14.08.2014
elisabetta castiglioni (1964) 29.05.2013 2016*
Henrietta egerth-stadlhuber (1971) 20.05.2008 14.08.2014
carlos García moreno elizondo, first Deputy chairman (1957) 14.08.2014 2018**
michael enzinger (1959)*** 29.05.2013 14.08.2014
carlos m. Jarque (1954) 14.08.2014 2018**
Alejandro cantú Jiménez (1972) 14.08.2014 2016*
Rudolf kemler, chairman (1956) 01.11.2012 2018**
Reinhard kraxner (1970) 14.08.2014 2016*
Günther leonhartsberger (1968) 14.08.2014 2018**
peter J. oswald (1962) 20.05.2008 14.08.2014
Ronny pecik (1962)**** 23.05.2012 2018**
stefan pinter (1978) 14.08.2014 2016*
Wolfgang Ruttenstorfer (1950) 27.05.2010 14.08.2014
Harald stöber (1952)***** 04.06.2003 09.05.2014
oscar Von Hauske solís (1957) 23.10.2012 2018**

members of the supervisory Board appointed by the staff council
silvia Bauer (1968) 30.01.2009 to 03.11.2010, reappointed on 26.07.2012
Walter Hotz (1959) Reappointed on 06.05.2011  
Werner luksch (1967) 03.08.2007 to 20.10.2010, reappointed on 11.01.2011
Alexander sollak (1978) 03.11.2010
Gottfried kehrer (1962)****** 27.10.2010

 * The term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting for the 2015 financial year (provisionally May 2016).

 ** The term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting for the 2017 financial year (provisionally May 2018).

 *** Second Vice Chairman until 14 August 2014

 **** First Vice Chairman until 14 August 2014

 ***** Harald Stöber passed away on 9 May 2014.

 ****** Name changed from Zehetleitner to Kehrer on 10 October 2014
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may capitalise on value accretive M&A opportunities with 
a primary focus on in-market consolidation as well as the 
implementation of its convergence strategy within the 
current footprint. expansion into new markets is the third 
priority of the Group’s M&A strategy.

the telekom Austria Group’s dividend policy is based on a 
minimum dividend of euR 0.05 per share and is aimed at 
achieving a sustainable distribution level with upside poten-
tial. the planned dividend is announced at the start of each 
financial year. After the end of each financial year, additional 
payments to the shareholders may be defined depending on 
the Group’s actual results taking into account free cash flow 
and the Group’s planned capital structure and investment 
requirements in particular.

Risk MAnAGeMent

pRinciples AnD MethoDs
As one of the leading telecommunications companies in 
Austria and central and eastern europe, the telekom Austria 
Group is exposed to a wide range of risks and changes in market 
circumstances. the risk management system of the telekom 
Austria Group anticipates these developments at an early 
stage in order to allow an effective response. it essentially 
consists of four areas: Market and business risks which may 
arise in the respective countries due to competition, regula-
tory intervention or an unclear legal situation are monitored 
and analysed throughout the Group by a central risk manager. 
Risks which may influence the guaranteed availability and 
security of the services offered, such as technical and topo-
graphical risks, are covered by business interruption manage-
ment. compliance risks are monitored by Group compliance, 
which is aided by local compliance managers. Finally, finan-
cial risks such as liquidity, default, currency, transfer and 
interest rate risks are handled by treasury.

the market and competition risks listed below are managed 
at Group level by means of the regular analysis of risks and 
opportunities and the use of effective measures to mitigate 
and exploit these. the effects of deviations from planning are 
evaluated using scenario and probability calculations. the 
overall risk situation is derived from the sum of the individ-
ual risks. in addition to the Austrian fixed-line and mobile 
communications market, the telekom Austria Group also 
holds leading positions internationally in six other telecom-
munication markets as at 31 December 2014, which ensures 
broad diversification in terms of both sectors and geograph-
ical regions. the risk sets of the respective markets vary, 
which is why risk management is the responsibility of the 
local operational units. Risk management is controlled by the 
holding company. structured interviews are conducted with 
the respective top managers in order to identify and assess 
risks and summarise them in an overall risk report. build-
ing on this, measures to reduce and avoid risk are prepared, 

implemented and subsequently analysed. A risk catalogue 
forms the basis for risk management. the close integration 
of business planning and risk management also ensures 
appropriate risk control.

the telekom Austria Group’s risk management is monitored 
by the Audit committee of the supervisory board.

the most important risk categories and individual risks that 
could materially influence the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations of the telekom Austria Group are 
explained below.

Risks

MARket AnD coMpetition Risks
high competitive intensity, which is also being observed in 
the telekom Austria Group’s international markets, is leading 
to sharp price reductions in both mobile communications 
and data traffic. Accordingly, there is a risk that growth in traf-
fic volumes will not be sufficient to offset these price declines. 
Falling prices for mobile communications are also acceler-
ating fixed-to-mobile substitution. however, the Group is 
addressing this risk by means of attractive product bundles 
and by expanding its convergent business strategy to include 
foreign markets. the trend towards smartphones is being 
exploited to make higher-value tariffs more attractive, thereby 
increasing sales potential in the medium term. the focus 
remains on convergent products.

the telecommunications sector is facing the challenge of 
having to be able to offer new services and products at faster 
and faster rates. shorter innovation cycles also entail inno-
vation risks that are countered with different measures. one 
example of this is ‘future.talk’, a series of events created 
by the telekom Austria Group to discuss global challenges 
to the industry.

the economic and financial crisis led to increased volatility 
in the overall economic environment in the telekom Austria 
Group’s operating markets. Accordingly, the monitoring of 
key macroeconomic indicators in order to assess any changes 
in consumer behaviour is an important aspect of risk 
management as well as strategic pricing and product design.

ReGulAtoRy AnD leGAl Risks
telecommunications services offered by a provider with sig-
nificant market power are subject to extensive network access 
and price regulations. in Austria, the telekom Austria Group 
is classified as this kind of provider in several sub-markets, 
and its foreign subsidiaries are also subject to equivalent reg-
ulatory frameworks. Regulation at both retail and wholesale 
levels restricts operational flexibility with regard to products 
and product bundles. there is also an obligation to provide 
access to infrastructure and fixed-line services for alternative 
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providers. Additional regulatory rulings such as a reduction 
in mobile and fixed-line termination rates due to the euro-
pean commission’s recommendation on termination rates 
could negatively affect the telekom Austria Group’s earnings 
development.

in 2011, the european union decided to introduce additional 
comprehensive regulatory measures for roaming rates within 
the community as part of its Roaming iii regulation, which 
came into effect on 1 July 2012. in contrast to the previous 
system, this includes a structural solution that is intended 
to allow customers a choice of provider for roaming services 
regardless of the national operator. this measure led to 
additional competition between operators in europe from 
mid-2014 onwards. price regulation also continued for voice, 
messaging and data services. Furthermore, the european 
commission has issued a proposal entitled ‘Digital single 
Market’ with the aim of lowering roaming charges for con-
sumers to a national level. these regulations would affect the 
mobile communications companies of the telekom Austria 
Group in the eeA member states Austria, bulgaria, croatia 
and slovenia.

telekom Austria Group and its subsidiaries are party to a 
number of legal proceedings both in and out of court with 
authorities, competitors and other parties. An ongoing dia-
logue with the stakeholders involved and a regular exchange 
of information on controversial issues that could pose a 
threat to the company enable the Group to identify problems 
at an early stage and develop measures to counteract them in a 
targeted manner if need be. telekom Austria Group has joined 
the ongoing proceedings in connection with past misconduct 
as a private party. While some of the proceedings have already 
been concluded in the court of first instance, a final ruling 
has not yet been imposed.

coMpliAnce Risks
the annual compliance risk assessment process — which is 
an essential element of the telekom Austria Group’s compli-
ance management system — identifies relevant compliance 
risks on the basis of structured management interviews and 
workshops and defines risk-mitigating measures.

FinAnciAl Risks
the telekom Austria Group is exposed to liquidity, default, 
currency, transfer and interest rate risks (see note (33) 
‘Financial instruments’ in the notes to the consolidated 
Financial statements). 

investMent Risks
the telekom Austria Group counters investment risks with 
measures such as the active management of equity invest-
ments through target requirements, coordination processes 
and, where acquisitions of equity interests are concerned, 
thorough due diligence and enterprise valuation.

peRsonnel-RelAteD Risks
the telekom Austria Group counters personnel-related risks 
in various ways. For example, young talents are recruited as 
part of the ‘1A career’ programme, which focuses on gradu-
ates, trainees and apprentices. the risk of losing key employ-
ees is counteracted by means of forward-looking succession 
planning and Group-wide talent management. Managers 
operate in accordance with Group-wide leadership standards 
with the dimensions ‘person’, ‘team’ and ‘business’. Group-
wide feedback for manager development is provided as part 
of a 360° feedback programme. An internal business school 
develops employees’ skills and abilities and serves as a 
platform for the Group-wide transfer of expertise. A regular 
Group-wide survey, ‘tAGisfaction’, is used to obtain employee 
feedback. every year, the results of tAGisfaction lead to a 
number of effective improvement measures and are also 
incorporated into strategic planning for the subsequent year. 
in addition to business plan-oriented cost planning, human 
resources planning includes measures aimed at encouraging 
employee mobility.

Around 50% of employees in the Austrian segment have civil 
servant status. this corresponds to 27% at Group level. to 
address the structure of employee costs, the Austrian segment 
has developed not only several social plans in cooperation 
with employee representatives, but also models which enable 
employees with civil servant status to transfer to government 
ministries. the verdict by the european court of Justice in 
november 2014 concerning the remuneration and other rights 
of civil servants required the telekom Austria Group to recog-
nise additional provisions in the amount of euR 30.1 mn for 
personnel costs as well as euR 15.0 mn for restructuring costs 
in the 2014 financial year, and hence served to increase the 
level of expenditure for periods subsequent to the 2014 finan-
cial year; this could have an adverse effect on the Group’s 
financial position and results of operations.

technicAl AnD topoGRAphicAl Risks
Maintaining a high level of availability and reliability of the 
services and products offered is a key aspect of operational 
risk management, as a host of threats such as natural disasters, 
major technical disruptions, third-party construction work, 
hidden faults or criminal activities can all impair their quality. 
long-term planning takes technological developments into 
account, while the redundancy of critical components ensures 
fault tolerance, and efficient organisational structures for oper-
ations and security serve to secure high standards of quality. 
Furthermore, dedicated Group guidelines guarantee uniform 
methods for the recognition and management of the most 
important risks to operational processes. in 2014, operational 
risk provisioning was required to demonstrate its effectiveness 
following the serious flooding that hit the Republic of serbia 
and parts of croatia. thanks to good technical and organisa- 
tional preparations, the crisis was managed superbly by the local 
contingency management team with support from the Group.
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enviRonMentAl Risks
climate change can give rise to risks for the telekom Austria 
Group’s network infrastructure (ranging from rising average 
temperatures and high rainfall levels through to flooding, 
mudslides, etc.). the telekom Austria Group is actively com-
mitted to climate protection and continuously observes devel-
opments in this area in order to ensure that it can initiate 
measures to protect its infrastructural facilities as necessary.

inteRnAl contRol systeM 
FoR FinAnciAl RepoRtinG
since delisting from the new york stock exchange in 2007, 
the telekom Austria Group has retained the internal control 
system (ics) for financial reporting as was required by law 
up until that time. the ics is intended to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability and accuracy of external 
financial reporting in compliance with international and 
national standards. Regular internal reporting to management 
and the review of the internal control system by internal 
Audit also ensure that weaknesses are identified promptly 
and reported and eliminated accordingly. the most impor-
tant content and principles apply to all telekom Austria 
Group subsidiaries. each significant financial transaction has 
a risk and control matrix to ensure that its financial report-
ing is correct and complete. the effectiveness of this system 
is reviewed, analysed and assessed at regular intervals. At 
the end of each year, the Group’s management carries out an 
assessment of the relevant companies with the involvement 
of the business units. based on the findings of this assess-
ment and the defined criteria, the management declared the 
internal control system to be effective as at 31 December 2014. 

subsequent events
in october 2014 telekom Austria Group reached an agreement 
with telekom slovenije Group to merge its subsidiaries vip 
operator and one, both operating in the Republic of Macedonia. 
telekom Austria Group will hold 55% and have sole control 
over the newly created company whereas telekom slovenije 
Group will hold 45%. Furthermore, the agreement also 
includes call and put options for the exit of telekom slovenije 
Group within three years of the closing of the merger. the 
closing of the merger is subject to merger control clearance 
in the Republic of Macedonia, which is expected for the first 
quarter 2015. one is the third largest mobile network operator 
in the Republic of Macedonia and achieved revenues of 
approximately euR 75.5 mn and ebitDA of approximately 
euR 14.4 mn in 2013.

since 31 December 2014, the belarusian Rouble lost approx-
imately 20% of its value compared to the euro. the effect of 
the devaluation on the inflation rate in belarus remains to be 
seen (see note (1)).

on 21 January 2015, a condition of the agreement subject 
to conditions precedent between telekom slovenije and 

si.mobil was fulfilled. thereupon, si.mobil withdrew its 
lawsuit and already received a first payment of euR 20 mn 
(see note (34)).

in its judgement of 11 november 2014, the european court of 
Justice (ecJ) decided at the request of the Austrian Adminis-
trative court that the Austrian law determining the reference 
date for salary increments for Austrian civil servants is not 
in conformity with european union law (see note (22)). to 
compensate the resulting burden on the federal budget the 
national Assembly passed a law on 21 January 2015, which has 
not yet entered into force as it still needs to be enacted by the 
Austrian Federal Assembly and published in the Austrian 
Federal law Gazette. telekom Austria Group will further 
examine the accounting of this fact based on the judgement 
by the Austrian Administrative court as well as the assessment 
of the existing wording of the law regarding eu conformity.

outlook 2015
the past financial year saw the implementation of a number 
of important strategic measures for the future development 
of the telekom Austria Group. the support provided by the 
new majority shareholder América Móvil and the additional 
flexibility following the successful conclusion of the capital 
increase in november 2014 serve to strengthen the manage-
ment’s confidence in reinforcing the stabilisation that was 
initiated in the past financial year and returning to growth.

challenges such as macroeconomic headwind, regulatory 
intervention and severe price pressure are expected to remain 
in place in all markets for the time being. in 2014, however, 
the increasingly positive impact of the strategic measures 
initiated by the management in response to these challenges 
has been confirmed.

in order to further support these developments an extensive 
transformation programme has been initiated. A range of 
measures relating to market activities, costs and technology 
is intended to generate growth in revenues as well as in 
ebitDA comparable. this will be accompanied by an increase 
in free cash flow.

particularly, in the Group’s home market Austria, the expansion 
of lte coverage and its fibre network will allow the growing 
monetisation of demand for data, and hence the more inten-
sive marketing of new products and services. however, the 
introduction of new services from mobile virtual network 
operators (Mvnos) entails additional risks in Austria.

the return to growth will depend to a large extent on the 
recovery of the strained economic situation in the cee region. 
operationally, the telekom Austria Group will pursue contin-
ued growth in the mobile-only markets of belarus, slovenia 
and the Republic of serbia and the successful continuation of 
its convergence strategy in bulgaria, croatia and the Republic 
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of Macedonia. Regulatory cuts will have a negative impact 
also in the coming year. Furthermore, management expects 
the belarusian Rouble to decline against the euro (approx-
imately 20% for 2015). As the devaluation which took place 
in early 2015 fully reflected the assumptions for the full year 
2015, a potential further decline of the belarusian Rouble 
presents an additional risk factor.

in order to continue to grow margins, management targets 
extensive cost-cutting activities in 2015, with the aim of 
achieving total gross savings of around euR 90 mn. in order 
to achieve this, planned activities include measures to further 
optimise market-related costs as well as structural efficiency 
improvements in areas such as procurement and technology 
in particular. Restructuring costs for civil servants in Austria 
are expected to amount to approximately euR 40 mn.

Following the completion of the capital increase, the telekom 
Austria Group is planning to invest approximately euR 400 mn 
in the accelerated expansion of the fibre network between 
2015 and 2018, in addition to its regular cApex investments. 
the investment volume is expected to increase throughout 
the ramp-up phase in 2015 and 2016, with the majority of 
investment taking place in 2017 and 2018. this plan is subject 
to the announced government broadband subsidy programme 
as well as annual budget approvals by the supervisory board. 
Accordingly, the accelerated expansion of the fibre network 
in Austria will lead to a higher level of investment despite 
further cApex efficiency improvements.

Frequency purchases are expected for bulgaria, slovenia and 
the Republic of serbia in 2015. Frequencies in the 1800 Mhz 
spectrum are expected to be sold in bulgaria, while the sale 
of the 700, 1400, 1800, 2100, 2300, 3500 and 3700 Mhz bands 
is scheduled in slovenia. in the Republic of serbia the sale of 
the 1800 Mhz band is planned for mid-March 2015; sales of 
the 800 and 900 Mhz band (digital dividend frequencies) are 
also expected in 2015.

the telekom Austria Group is committed to maintaining its 
ratings of baa2 (stable outlook) with Moody’s and bbb (stable 
outlook) with standard & poor’s in line with its conservative 
financial profile, in order to secure the Group’s financial 
flexibility. the telekom Austria Group still intends to pay a 
dividend of euR 0.05 per share for each of the 2014 and 2015 
financial years.

vienna, 22 January 2015

the Management board

Günther ottendorfer
chief technology officer
telekom Austria Group 

hannes Ametsreiter 
chairman of the Management board
telekom Austria Group 

siegfried Mayrhofer
chief Financial officer
telekom Austria Group 
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TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss  
 

Notes in TEUR 2014 2013

(4) Operating revenues 4,017,964 4,183,949

(5) Other operating income 119,035 87,079

       

       Material expenses –497,336 –547,302

       Employee expenses, including benefits and taxes –876,409 –845,872

(6)      Other operating expenses –1,477,149 –1,590,496

  Operating expenses –2,850,894 –2,983,669

  EBITDA comparable 1,286,105 1,287,359

(22)      Restructuring –89,565 –45,185

(17) (18) (19)      Impairment and reversal of impairment –345,700 –59,400

  EBITDA incl. effects from restructuring and impairment tests 850,840 1,182,774

(18) (19)      Depreciation and amortisation –853,826 –864,606

  OPERATING INCOME –2,986 318,168

       

(7)      Interest income 14,562 16,123

(7)      Interest expense –194,545 –206,333

(7)      Foreign exchange differences –1,921 –4,278

(7)      Other financial result 105 –137

(15)      Result from investments in affiliates 668 1,697

  Financial result –181,131 –192,927

  EARNINGS BEFORE TAXES –184,117 125,241

       

(30) Income taxes –1,281 –73,111

  NET RESULT –185,398 52,130

       

       Attributable to:    

            Owners of the parent –210,900 28,977

            Non-controlling interests 190 60

(29)           Hybrid capital holders 25,313 23,093

       

(29) Basic and fully diluted earnings per share –0.46 0.07   
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences. 
The 2013 comparison period was adjusted according to IAS 8 (see Note (1)). 
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TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
 

Notes in TEUR 2014 2013

  Net result –185,398 52,130

       

(8) (16) Unrealised result on securities available-for-sale –51 19

     Income tax (expense) benefit 5 –5

(7) Realised result on securities available-for-sale 14 217

     Income tax (expense) benefit –3 –54

(33) Unrealised result on hedging activities 0 448

     Income tax (expense) benefit 0 –112

(33) Realised result on hedging activities 5,840 8,688

     Income tax (expense) benefit –1,460 –2,172

(29) Foreign currency translation adjustment –18,354 –4,234

  Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss –14,010 2,795

(27) Re-measurements of defined benefit obligations –26,115 1,365

     Income tax (expense) benefit 6,433 –370

  Items that are not reclassified to profit or loss –19,682 994

  Other comprehensive income (loss) –33,692 3,790

       

  Total comprehensive income –219,090 55,920

       

  Attributable to:    

  Owners of the parent –244,593 32,766

  Non-controlling interests 191 61

(29) Hybrid capital holders 25,313 23,093      
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences. 
The 2013 comparison period was adjusted according to IAS 8 (see Note (1)). 
 

 

cons ol i DAt e D F i nA nc i A l s tAt e M e n t s

35AnnuAl FinAnciAl Rep oR t 2 014  t elekom Aus t RiA GRoup



 

 

CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I NAN C I AL  STAT E M E N TS   

 

 36 TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP  ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2014  

    

TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
 

Notes in TEUR 
31 December 

2014
31 December  

2013 
1 January 

2013
  ASSETS     
  Current assets     
       Cash and cash equivalents 1,018,065 201,334 600,763
(8)      Short-term investments 14,433 9,882 85,123
(9)      Accounts receivable – trade, net of allowances 600,068 683,843 751,102
(10)      Receivables due from related parties 1,255 58 7
(11)      Inventories 140,124 127,273 152,942
(12)      Prepaid expenses 125,418 101,684 106,692
(30)      Income tax receivable 27,373 22,162 21,140
(13)      Non-current assets held for sale 413 962 881
(14)      Other current assets 120,137 73,995 90,602
  Total current assets 2,047,288 1,221,193 1,809,252
  Non-current assets     
(15)      Investments in associates 38,253 4,979 3,661
(16)      Long-term investments 7,400 5,247 7,872
(17)      Goodwill 1,189,481 1,522,506 1,289,501
(18)      Other intangible assets, net 2,570,106 2,590,269 1,522,577
(19)      Property, plant and equipment, net 2,246,115 2,308,127 2,426,436
(20)      Other non-current assets 46,859 25,243 30,767
(30)      Deferred tax assets 170,895 123,006 167,083
  Total non-current assets 6,269,110 6,579,379 5,447,896
  TOTAL ASSETS 8,316,397 7,800,572 7,257,148
        
  LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY     
  Current liabilities     
(21)      Short-term borrowings –340,813 –230,284 –1,049,424
(23)      Accounts payable – trade –522,344 –573,836 –590,783
(22)      Current provisions and accrued liabilities –337,297 –301,369 –301,789
(10)      Payables due to related parties –7,058 –5,891 –7,775
(30)      Income tax payable –33,448 –34,658 –37,158
(23)      Other current liabilities –132,703 –137,098 –171,454
(24)      Deferred income –163,877 –159,134 –163,710
  Total current liabilities –1,537,539 –1,442,271 –2,322,093
  Non-current liabilities     
(25)      Long-term debt –3,384,984 –3,737,702 –2,831,983
(27)      Employee benefit obligations –200,916 –164,332 –161,642
(22)      Non-current provisions –867,518 –881,355 –923,146
(30)      Deferred tax liabilities –90,804 –99,324 –115,176
(28)      Other non-current liabilities and deferred income –16,595 –16,441 –84,014
  Total non-current liabilities –4,560,818 –4,899,154 –4,115,961
  Stockholders' equity     
(29)      Common stock –1,449,275 –966,183 –966,183
(29)      Treasury shares 7,803 7,803 8,196
(29)      Additional paid-in capital –1,100,148 –582,618 –582,896
(29)      Hybrid capital –591,186 –591,186 0
(29)      Retained earnings 418,032 190,208 236,128
(29)      Available-for-sale reserve 50 15 191
(29)      Hedging reserve 37,227 41,607 48,459
(29)      Translation adjustments 460,649 442,296 438,062
  Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent –2,216,846 –1,458,058 –818,042
  Non-controlling interests –1,195 –1,089 –1,052
  TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY –2,218,041 –1,459,147 –819,094
  TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY –8,316,397 –7,800,572 –7,257,148   
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences.  
The 2013 comparison period was adjusted according to IAS 8 (see Note (1)). 
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TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 

Notes in TEUR 2014 2013

  Net result –185,398 52,130

  Adjustments to reconcile net result to cash flow    

(18) (19)      Depreciation, amortisation,    

(17)        impairment and reversal of impairment 1,199,526 924,006

(27)      Employee benefit obligation – non-cash 20,806 11,861

(6)      Bad debt expenses 48,645 43,989

(30)      Change in deferred taxes –41,614 22,568

(15)      Result from investments in affiliates 1,056 –1,419

(31)      Share-based compensation 662 –378

(22)      Change in asset retirement obligation – non-cash 6,209 7,839

(22)      Provision for restructuring – non-cash 99,017 54,836

(7)      Result on sale of investments –53 218

(6)      Result on disposal/retirement of equipment 1,041 8,538

(7)      Gain on monetary items – non cash 841 –1,062

(32)      Other 39,649 14,090
  Gross cash flow 1,190,390 1,137,217
     

(9)      Accounts receivable – trade –11,584 36,311

(10)      Receivables due from related parties –1,274 –72

(11)      Inventories –11,318 25,878

(12) (14)      Prepaid expenses and other assets –105,962 1,189

(23)      Accounts payable – trade –49,555 –28,708

(27)      Employee benefit obligation –7,840 –7,902

(22)      Provisions and accrued liabilities –107,214 –92,513

(23) (24)      Other liabilities and deferred income 4,151 –18,013

(10)      Payables due to related parties 1,608 –1,822
  Changes in assets and liabilities –288,989 –85,652
  Cash flow from operating activities 901,401 1,051,564

       

(18) (19)      Capital expenditures –757,419 –1,779,085

(2) (15)      Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired –25,173 –330,932

(2) (15)      Sale of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed –4,458 –25

(18) (19)      Sale of property, plant, equipment, intangible assets 12,136 10,772

(8) (16)      Purchase of investments –16,132 –564,155

(8) (16)      Sale of investments 9,463 642,057
  Cash flow from investing activities –781,582 –2,021,368

       

(25)      Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt   1,040,274

(25)      Principal payments on long-term debt –246,170 –932,223

(21)      Change in short-term borrowings 4,008 –10,126

(29)      Issuance of hybrid bond 0 588,248

(29)      Capital increase 996,570 0

(29)      Dividends paid –55,963 –22,152

(33)      Settlement of derivative financial instruments   –65,142

(2)      Deferred consideration paid for business combinations –1,904 –29,323
  Cash flow from financing activities 696,542 569,555

       

  Effect of exchange rate changes –114 1,803

  Monetary loss on cash and cash equivalents 485 –983
  Change in cash and cash equivalents 816,731 –399,429

       

  Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 201,334 600,763
  Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 1,018,065 201,334  
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The 2013 comparison period was adjusted according to IAS 8 (see Note (1)). 
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences. 
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TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity 
 

in TEUR 
Common stock 

Par value 
Treasury shares

at cost

Additional
paid-in
capital

 
Hybrid 
capital 

Retained
earnings

At 1 January 2013 966,183 –8,196 582,896 0 –236,128
Net result 0 0 0 0 52,071

Other comprehensive income (loss)  0 0 0 0 993
         

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 53,064
Distribution of dividends 0 0 0 0 –14,430

Hyperinflation adjustment 0 0 0 0 7,286

Issuance of hybrid capital 0 0 0 591,186 0
Issue of treasury shares 0 392 –278 0 0

At 31 December 2013 966,183 –7,803 582,618 591,186 –190,208
         

Net result 0 0 0 0 –185,588

Other comprehensive income (loss)  0 0 0 0 –19,682

         

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 –205,269

Distribution of dividends 0 0 0 0 –47,442

Hyperinflation adjustment 0 0 0 0 24,887

Capital increase 483,092 0 517,530 0 0

At 31 December 2014 1,449,275 –7,803 1,100,148 591,186 –418,032
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences. 
The tax benefit resulting from the accrued interest attributable to hybrid capital holders is included in the distribution of dividends (see Note (29)). 
The 2013 comparison period was adjusted according to IAS 8 (see Note (1)). 
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Available-for-sale 

reserve 

 
Hedging 
reserve 

Translation
reserve Total

 
Non-controlling 

interests 

Total
stockholders'

equity

   –191 –48,459 –438,062 818,042 1,052 819,094
   0 0 0 52,071 60 52,130

   177 6,852 –4,234 3,789 1 3,790

             

   177 6,852 –4,234 55,859 61 55,920

   0 0 0 –14,430 –24 –14,454

   0 0 0 7,286 0 7,286

   0 0 0 591,186 0 591,186

    0 0 0 114 0 114

   –15 –41,607 –442,296 1,458,058 1,089 1,459,147
             

    0 0 0 –185,588 190 –185,398

   –36 4,380 –18,354 –33,692 –0 –33,692

            

   –36 4,380 –18,354 –219,279 190 –219,090

   0 0 0 –47,442 –84 –47,526

   0 0 0 24,887 0 24,887

   0 0 0 1,000,622 0 1,000,622

   –50 –37,227 –460,649 2,216,846 1,195 2,218,041     
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TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Consolidated Segment Reporting 

2014 (in TEUR) Austria
 

Bulgaria Croatia  
External revenues 2,452,215 368,624 369,365  
Intersegment revenues 19,767 2,636 8,869  
Total revenues 2,471,983 371,260 378,234  
Other operating income 86,497 13,541 7,502  
Segment expenses –1,803,110 –241,736 –301,406  
EBITDA comparable 755,370 143,065 84,331  
Restructuring –89,565 0 0  
Impairment and reversal of impairment 0 –340,600 0  
EBITDA incl. effects from restructuring and impairment tests 665,805 –197,535 84,331  
Depreciation and amortisation –508,590 –87,333 –68,464  
Operating income 157,214 –284,868 15,866  
Interest income 2,376 1,256 225  
Interest expense –42,836 –497 –9,784  
Equity in earnings of affiliates 571 0 0  
Other financial income 644 –44 –1,137  
Earnings before income taxes 117,969 –284,152 5,170  
Income taxes      
Net result      
       
Segment assets 4,814,359 881,609 596,438  
Segment liabilities –2,650,203 –95,041 –421,255  
Capex other intangible assets 110,330 57,552 12,208  
Capex property, plant and equipment 288,359 45,340 57,747  
   Total capital expenditures 398,689 102,891 69,955  
Cost to acquire property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 404,478 103,341 70,301  
Other non-cash items 211,392 4,536 13,327  
EBITDA comparable margin 30.6% 38.5% 22.3%  
    

2013 (in TEUR) Austria
 

Bulgaria Croatia  
External revenues 2,637,497 395,720 377,487  
Intersegment revenues 21,081 3,729 11,708  
Total revenues 2,658,578 399,449 389,194  
Other operating income 87,501 11,897 5,834  
Segment expenses –2,000,792 –252,754 –277,389  
EBITDA comparable 745,287 158,592 117,640  
Restructuring –45,185 0 0  
Impairment and reversal of impairment 0 –59,400 0  
EBITDA incl. effects from restructuring and impairment tests 700,102 99,192 117,640  
Depreciation and amortisation –516,059 –94,587 –65,836  
Operating income 184,043 4,605 51,803  
Interest income 2,411 1,054 916  
Interest expense –38,972 –2,766 –10,999  
Equity in earnings of affiliates 1,697 0 0  
Other financial income –527 –58 –2,116  
Earnings before income taxes 148,652 2,835 39,604  
Income taxes      
Net result      
       
Segment assets 4,926,958 1,222,759 544,657  
Segment liabilities –2,695,242 –146,488 –366,134  
Capex other intangible assets 1,203,488 22,550 30,850  
Capex property, plant and equipment 306,327 37,616 51,532  
   Total capital expenditures 1,509,815 60,165 82,382  
Cost to acquire property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 1,515,020 60,270 82,747  
Other non-cash items 96,006 4,766 4,419  
EBITDA comparable margin 28.0% 39.7% 30.2%   
For further information on segments, see Note (3). The 2013 comparison period was adjusted according to IAS 8 (see Note (1)). 
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences. 
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Belarus Additional Markets Corporate & Other
 

Eliminations Consolidated
  354,962 472,797 0 0 4,017,964
  16 8,295 0 –39,583 0
  354,978 481,091 0 –39,583 4,017,964
  5,966 11,888 54,500 –60,859 119,035
  –188,578 –355,966 –60,025 99,927 –2,850,894
  172,366 137,013 –5,525 –515 1,286,105
  0 0 0 0 –89,565
  0 –5,100 0 0 –345,700
  172,366 131,913 –5,525 –515 850,840
  –90,168 –100,068 0 797 –853,826
  82,198 31,846 –5,525 282 –2,986
  9,457 1,308 35,295 –35,354 14,562
  –2,015 –2,449 –172,325 35,361 –194,545
  0 0 97 0 668
  454 –1,118 –662,075 661,461 –1,816
  90,095 29,586 –804,533 661,749 –184,117
        –1,281
        –185,398
         
  568,810 807,660 7,701,935 –7,054,416 8,316,397
  –68,228 –198,071 –4,270,118 1,604,559 –6,098,357
  6,208 82,483 0 0 268,780
  42,243 54,951 0 0 488,639
  48,451 137,433 0 0 757,419
  52,104 138,713 0 0 768,936
  4,232 5,142 –21,742 0 216,886
  48.6% 28.5% n.a. n.a. 32.0%
      

  
 

Belarus Additional Markets Corporate & Other
 

Eliminations Consolidated
  331,676 441,569 0 0 4,183,949
  55 11,918 0 –48,490 0
  331,731 453,487 0 –48,490 4,183,949
  4,866 12,359 23,908 –59,288 87,079
  –180,712 –327,353 –52,371 107,703 –2,983,669
  155,886 138,493 –28,463 –75 1,287,359
  0 0 0 0 –45,185
  0 0 0 0 –59,400
  155,886 138,493 –28,463 –75 1,182,774
  –84,332 –104,679 0 887 –864,606
  71,554 33,814 –28,463 812 318,168
  8,160 800 21,602 –18,820 16,123
  –1,823 –768 –169,828 18,822 –206,333
  0 0 0 0 1,697
  810 –135 326,308 –328,696 –4,415
  78,702 33,711 149,619 –327,882 125,241
        –73,111
        52,130
         
  572,539 751,667 7,723,350 –7,941,357 7,800,572
  –58,261 –126,911 –4,435,668 1,487,279 –6,341,425
  5,158 30,046 0 0 1,292,093
  28,813 62,706 0 0 486,993
  33,971 92,752 0 0 1,779,085
  34,152 95,543 0 0 1,787,731
  7,854 5,414 5,817 0 124,277
  47.0% 30.5% n.a. n.a. 30.8%    
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Table of Other Intangible Assets 
 

in TEUR 
 

Licenses Brand names Software
Customer

base

Advances/ 
construction in 

progress 
 

Other Total

Cost           

At 1 January 2013 1,041,083 549,820 1,093,913 1,099,088 76,630 182,584 4,043,118
Hyperinflation adjustment 974 967 629 3,444 60 42 6,117

Additions 75,893 10,000 98,719 333 1,088,052 19,095 1,292,093

Disposals –95 0 –51,763 –22,682 –61 –20,254 –94,854

Transfers 19,792 0 67,879 0 –82,498 810 5,983

Translation adjustment –2,329 –295 –941 –566 –109 –707 –4,947

Changes in reporting entities 0 12,950 –3,024 42,168 0 6,695 58,788

At 31 December 2013 1,135,319 573,442 1,205,413 1,121,786 1,082,074 188,264 5,306,298

Hyperinflation adjustment 5,645 5,603 3,729 19,954 523 279 35,733

Additions 95,874 0 87,438 0 73,504 11,964 268,780

Disposals –44 0 –161,204 0 –45 –3,403 –164,696

Transfers 456,499 325 75,709 –51 –522,113 23,377 33,746

Translation adjustment –12,145 –104 –1,935 –257 –146 –3,420 –18,006

Changes in reporting entities –116 –386 –709 2,633 –1 –116 1,305

At 31 December 2014 1,681,032 578,881 1,208,440 1,144,064 633,796 216,947 5,463,160

            

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment           
At 1 January 2013 –667,750 –27,493 –792,572 –904,621 0 –128,105 –2,520,541
Hyperinflation adjustment –295 0 –534 –2,010 0 –40 –2,878

Additions –54,391 –5,753 –152,119 –53,699 0 –16,548 –282,510

Disposals 95 0 51,164 22,682 0 12,897 86,837

Transfers 0 0 –118 0 0 1,090 972

Translation adjustment 776 20 764 341 0 592 2,493

Changes in reporting entities 0 0 1,462 0 0 –1,863 –401

At 31 December 2013 –721,564 –33,227 –891,954 –937,306 0 –131,977 –2,716,029

Hyperinflation adjustment –2,075 0 –3,317 –13,859 0 –238 –19,489

Additions –87,278 –8,401 –149,425 –54,941 0 –13,649 –313,694

Disposals 37 0 160,740 0 0 1,856 162,633

Transfers 0 –325 –1,519 51 0 –14,443 –16,236

Translation adjustment 4,266 13 1,397 163 0 3,108 8,947

Changes in reporting entities 68 0 625 0 0 121 814

At 31 December 2014 –806,546 –41,940 –883,453 –1,005,892 0 –155,223 –2,893,054

            

Carrying amount at           

31 December 2014 874,486 536,941 324,987 138,172 633,796 61,724 2,570,106

31 December 2013 413,755 540,215 313,459 184,479 1,082,074 56,287 2,590,269    
For further information on other intangible assets, see Note (18). 
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences.  
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Table of Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

in TEUR 

Land, buildings
& leasehold 

improvements

Communications
network and

other equipment
Finance

leases

 
Advances/ 

construction in 
progress Total

Cost       
At 1 January 2013 892,542 10,480,897 390 153,421 11,527,250
Hyperinflation adjustment 393 3,702 0 204 4,299

Additions 13,515 365,467 0 116,657 495,639

Disposals –8,938 –773,756 –390 –2,309 –785,394

Transfers 4,926 113,680 0 –126,982 –8,376

Translation adjustment –673 –8,559 0 –272 –9,504

Changes in reporting entities 81 11,627 0 0 11,708

At 31 December 2013 901,845 10,193,058 0 140,719 11,235,622

Hyperinflation adjustment 2,306 25,324 0 1,761 29,391

Additions 9,306 316,482 0 174,369 500,156

Disposals –17,359 –545,079 0 –374 –562,812

Transfers 2,724 88,583 0 –124,551 –33,244

Translation adjustment –662 –15,926 0 –1,016 –17,604

Changes in reporting entities –968 17,488 0 288 16,808

At 31 December 2014 897,191 10,079,929 0 191,197 11,168,317

        

Accumulated depreciation and impairment       
At 1 January 2013 –573,357 –8,527,213 –244 0 –9,100,814

Hyperinflation adjustment –36 –2,631 0 0 –2,667

Additions –33,255 –548,810 –30 0 –582,095

Disposals 7,742 748,824 274 0 756,840

Transfers 1,985 –914 0 0 1,071

Translation adjustment 272 6,242 0 0 6,514

Changes in reporting entities –13 –6,329 0 0 –6,343

At 31 December 2013 –596,664 –8,330,831 0 0 –8,927,495
Hyperinflation adjustment –275 –17,218 0 0 –17,493

Additions –30,324 –509,808 0 0 –540,132

Disposals 14,739 527,450 0 0 542,189

Transfers –204 16,219 0 0 16,015

Translation adjustment 327 10,584 0 0 10,911

Changes in reporting entities 897 –7,094 0 0 –6,197

At 31 December 2014 –611,505 –8,310,697 0 0 –8,922,202
        

Carrying amount at       

31 December 2014 285,686 1,769,232 0 191,197 2,246,115

31 December 2013 305,182 1,862,226 0 140,719 2,308,127   
For further information on property, plant and equipment, see Note (19). 
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences.  
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(1) The Company and Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Description of business and relationship with the Federal Republic of Austria 

Telekom Austria AG is incorporated as a joint stock corporation (“Aktiengesellschaft”) under the laws of the Republic of Austria and is located 

in Austria, Lassallestrasse 9, 1020 Vienna. Telekom Austria AG and its subsidiaries (“Telekom Austria Group”) are engaged as full service 

telecommunications providers of long distance, local and wireless services, corporate data communications services as well as internet 

services and television broadcasting. Telekom Austria Group also supplies telephones and technical equipment for telephone communi-

cations. These activities are conducted primarily in Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia, Belarus, Slovenia, Serbia and Macedonia. 

The parent company of Telekom Austria Group is América Móvil, S.A.B. de C.V. (“América Móvil”), which is located in Mexico. The Federal 

Republic of Austria, through Österreichische Industrieholding AG (“ÖIAG”), is a significant shareholder of Telekom Austria Group. América 

Móvil’s and ÖIAG’s stake in Telekom Austria Group is disclosed in Note (29).  

In addition to the related party transactions described in Note (10), the Federal Republic of Austria regulates certain activities of Telekom Austria 

Group via the Rundfunk und Telekom Regulierungs-GmbH (“RTR”). In addition, the government holds the taxing authority for the Austrian 

operations of Telekom Austria Group and imposes taxes such as corporate income tax and value-added taxes. 

The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences. 

Basis of presentation 

Telekom Austria Group prepared the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2014 in compliance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS/IAS”), issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), the interpretations 

of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) and the interpretation of the former Standards Interpretation Committee (“SIC”), effective as 

of 31 December 2014 and as endorsed by the European Union. 

The following amendments to and revisions of existing IFRS as well as new IFRS and IFRIC are effective as of 1 January 2014.  

IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – Amendments to IAS 32 
IFRS 10.12; IAS 27 Investment Entities – Amendments to IFRS 10, 12 and IAS 27 
IAS 36 Amendment IAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures 
IAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting 
IFRIC 21* Levies   
* Applicable to financial years starting on or after 17 June 2014 according to EU endorsement.  

The initial application of the standards (IAS, IFRS) and interpretations (IFRIC) mentioned above had an insignificant impact on the 

Consolidated Financial Statements since the amendments and revisions were not fully applicable.  

The following standards and interpretations were issued by the IASB, but were not effective for the financial year 2014. Telekom Austria Group 

has not early adopted these standards and interpretations and is currently evaluating their impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements 

and disclosures.  

   Effective * Effective**

IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions 1 July 2014 not endorsed

all IFRSs Annual Improvements 2011– 2013 1 July 2014 1 July 2015

all IFRSs Annual Improvements 2010– 2012 1 July 2014 not endorsed

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 1 January 2016 not endorsed

IFRS 11 Amendments Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint operations 1 January 2016 not endorsed

IAS 16.38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation 1 January 2016 not endorsed

IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants 1 January 2016 not endorsed

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2017 not endorsed

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 not endorsed

all IFRSs Annual Improvements 2012– 2014 1 January 2016 not endorsed

IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2016 not endorsed

IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 1 January 2016 not endorsed
* This standard/interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after the presented date (in accordance with IASB). 
** This standard/interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after the presented date (in accordance with EU endorsement). 
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Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 

Prior period errors are accounted for retrospectively. The Consolidated Financial Statements including all comparative amounts for prior 

periods are reported as if the prior period error had never occurred. Changes in accounting estimates are recognised prospectively. 

Due to a random sample of Österreichische Prüfstelle für Rechnungslegung (OePR), the Austrian Financial Reporting Enforcement Panel, the 

Consolidated Financial Statements 2013 as well as the half-year financial statements 2014 of Telekom Austria Group were audited. By letter 

dated 14 January 2015, Telekom Austria Group was informed that of the total amount of TEUR 400,000 of the impairment of goodwill in 

Bulgaria, which was recognised in the second quarter of 2014, TEUR 59,400 should already have been recognised in 2013, the recognised 

amount of goodwill itself at 30 June 2014 was not challenged (see Note (17)). The audit finding of OePR having an impact on value in use relates 

to the planning period (the period of five years stipulated in IAS 36.35 was exceeded), to allow for effects of future improving or enhance the 

asset’s performance (IAS 36.44 (b)) and to the use of estimates regarding the expected reduction in country risk premiums (convergence) when 

setting the discount rate (IAS 36.54). 

Furthermore, a part of the loss of the forward-starting-interest rate-swap contracts (pre-hedges) amounting to TEUR 5,768 should have been 

recognised in interest expense in July 2013, at the time of the issuance of the bond representing the hedged item. Thus interest expense 

relating to the release of the hedging reserve between July and December 2013 was reduced by TEUR 288 (see Note (7)).  

The effects on the items concerned and the related deferred taxes are presented in the following table.  

31 December 2013 as previoulsy reported adjustment adjusted

in TEUR     

     Goodwill 1,581,906 –59,400 1,522,506

     Deferred tax liabilities –105,264 5,940 –99,324

     Retained earnings 132,638 57,570 190,208

     Hedging reserve 45,717 –4,110 41,607

      

     Impairment and reversal of impairment 0 –59,400 –59,400

     Interest expense –200,853 –5,480 –206,333

Income taxes –80,421 7,310 –73,111

NET RESULT 109,700 –57,570 52,130

      

     Attributable to:     

          Owners of the parent 86,547 –57,570 28,977

      

Basic and fully diluted earnings per share 0.20   0.07  
 

The retrospective adjustment does not have any impact on the information provided in the statement of financial position at the beginning of 

the previous period (1 January 2013). 

The Consolidated Financial Statements contain a change in accounting estimate relating to accounts receivable – trade (see Note (9)). 

Principles of consolidation 

On 31 December 2014 and 2013, the Consolidated Financial Statements of Telekom Austria Group include 25 subsidiaries in Austria and 29 

respectively 31 subsidiaries abroad which Telekom Austria Group controls. Control is defined as the rights to variable returns and the ability to 

affect those returns through power over an investee. 

According to IFRS 3, business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method at the acquisition date, which is the date when the 

acquirer obtains control over the acquiree. Goodwill is measured as the difference between the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration 

transferred as of the acquisition date, the amount of any non-controlling interest, and in a business combination achieved in stages, the fair 

value of the acquirer’s previously-held equity interest in the acquiree less the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 

assumed. Non-controlling interest may be measured at fair value (full-goodwill method). Goodwill is not adjusted for subsequent changes in the 

estimated purchase price. If the fair value of the assets acquired exceeds the consideration transferred, the resulting gain is recognised in profit 

or loss. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred. In case of an acquisition achieved in stages, the previously held interest is restated at fair 

value and any resulting difference is recognised in profit or loss. All transactions with non-controlling interests holders are directly recognised 

in stockholder’s equity. In the course of purchase price allocations, fair values of assets and liabilities acquired are determined based on state of 

the art discounted cash-flow methods. The input factors used are categorised as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy defined by IFRS 13.  
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Investments in companies in which Telekom Austria Group has significant influence, but no control of the investee, are accounted for using 

the equity method. The Consolidated Financial Statements include two investments (2013: one) accounted for using the equity method. Under 

the equity method, only Telekom Austria Group’s investments in as well as receivables due from and liabilities due to these equity investees 

are included in the consolidated statements of financial position. Telekom Austria Group’s share of the investee’s earnings is included in the 

consolidated statements of profit or loss. In the consolidated statements of cash flows only dividends, loans or cash received from or paid to 

the investee are included.  

All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

The subsidiaries included in the Consolidated Financial Statements are listed in Note (38). 

Foreign currency translation 

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Telekom Austria Group are expressed in thousand Euros (“TEUR”).  

Financial statements of subsidiaries where the functional currency is a currency other than the Euro are translated using the functional 

currency principle. For these entities, assets and liabilities are translated using the year-end exchange rates, while revenues and expenses 

are translated using the average exchange rates prevailing during the year except for subsidiaries located in a hyperinflationary economy for 

which the year-end exchange rates are applied. Until the disposal of the respective operation, the foreign currency translation adjustment 

classified in stockholders’ equity, is recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI). 

Transaction gains and losses that arise from exchange rate fluctuations between the recognition of the transaction and payment date or 

translation at year-end are included in the financial result. 

The following table provides the exchange rates for the currencies in which Telekom Austria Group conducts its transactions:  

  Exchange rates at 31 December Average exchange rates for the period ended 31 December
  2014 2013 2014 2013

Bulgarian Lev (BGN) 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558

Croatian Kuna (HRK) 7.6580 7.6265 7.6348 7.5787

Czech Koruna (CZK) 27.7350 27.4270 27.5361 25.9734

Hungarian Forint (HUF) 315.5400 297.0400 308.7371 296.9530

Serbian Dinar (CSD) 120.9583 114.6421 117.2601 113.0943

Swiss Franc (CHF) 1.2024 1.2276 1.2146 1.2308

Rumanian Leu (RON) 4.4828 4.4710 4.4445 4.419

Turkish Lira (TRY) 2.8320 2.9605 2.9073 2.5311

Macedonian Denar (MKD) 61.4814 61.5113 61.6224 61.5826

Belarusian Rouble (BYR)* 14,380.0000 13,080.0000 14,380.0000 13,080.0000

US Dollar (USD) 1.2141 1.3791 1.3284 1.3278

Great Britain Pound (GBP) 0.7789 0.8337 0.7930 0.8491

Bosnian convertible mark (BAM) 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558

Polish Zloty (PLN) 4.2732 4.1543 4.1859 4.1968  
*Year-end rates are used for the translation of revenues and expenses as IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” is applied. 
 

Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies 

Financial statements of subsidiaries located in hyperinflationary economies are restated before translation to the reporting currency of the 

group and before consolidation in order to reflect the same value of money for all items. Items recognised in the statements of financial 

position which are not measured at the applicable year-end measuring unit are restated based on the general price index. All non-monetary 

items measured at cost or amortised cost are restated for the changes in the general price index from the date of transaction to the reporting 

date. Monetary items are not restated. All items of stockholders’ equity are restated for the changes in the general price index since their 

addition until the end of the reporting period. All items of comprehensive income are restated for the change in a general price index from the 

date of initial recognition to the reporting date. Gains and losses resulting from the net position of monetary items are reported in the 

consolidated statements of profit or loss in financial result in exchange differences.  
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The financial statements of the subsidiaries in Belarus are generally based on historic cost. Since 2011, this basis has to be restated due to 

changes in the value of money of its functional currency. The financial statements of the subsidiaries in Belarus are therefore reported at the 

applicable measuring unit at the reporting date. The consumer price indexes published by the Belarusian “National Statistical Committee” 

were applied. The following table provides the inflation rates used in the calculation:  

Years Inflation in %

2008 13.4

2009 9.8

2010 10.1

2011 108.7

2012 21.8

2013 16.5

2014 16.2  
 

Monthly inflation in % 2014 2013

January 1.6 3.0

February 2.0 1.2

March 1.3 1.1

April 1.6 0.5

May 2.2 0.7

June 1.2 0.3

July 0.9 1.0

August 0.8 0.1

September 1.2 1.7

October 1.2 1.9

November 0.6 1.6

December 0.6 2.3  
 

Assets and liabilities as well as the revenues and expenses of these foreign subsidiaries are translated using the year-end exchange rates for the 

purpose of consolidation. 

Until 31 December 2014, hyperinflation accounting according to IAS 29 is applied to Belarus. Due to the volatile market development since 

1 January 2015, Telekom Austria Group will assess on the basis of the further development of inflation in 2015 if hyperinflation accounting has 

to be reapplied in 2015. In case hyperinflation accounting is discontinued, all amounts expressed in the measuring unit at 31 December 2014 

are treated as the basis for the carrying amounts in 2015. 

Format of the consolidated statements of profit or loss 

Telekom Austria Group defines EBITDA as the net result excluding financial result, income taxes and depreciation and amortisation. EBITDA 

comparable and EBITDA incl. effects from restructuring and impairment tests are used to better evaluate trends in Telekom Austria Group’s 

underlying operations. EBITDA comparable comprises EBITDA adjusted for effects from the restructuring programme described in Note (22) 

and from impairment testing, if any. The restructuring programme includes social plans for employees whose employment will be terminated 

in a socially responsible way, and expenses for the future compensation of civil servants, who will no longer provide services for Telekom 

Austria Group but who cannot be laid off due to their status as civil servants. Furthermore, expenses for the transfer of civil servants to the 

Austrian government are adjusted for the purpose of determining EBITDA comparable. 
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Revenue recognition 

Operating revenues include all revenue resulting from the ordinary operations of Telekom Austria Group. Operating revenues are stated net  

of value-added tax and other taxes, collected from the customer on behalf of tax authorities. 

Telekom Austria Group generates revenues from fixed-line services and mobile communication services to individuals, commercial and  

non-commercial organisations and other national and foreign carriers. 

Fixed-line services include access fees, domestic and long distance services including internet, fixed-to-mobile calls, international traffic,  

voice value-added services, interconnection, call centre services and public payphone services. 

Mobile communications services comprise digital mobile communications services including value-added services, text and multimedia 

messaging, m-commerce and information services. Certain arrangements that Telekom Austria Group enters into provide for the delivery of 

multiple deliverables by Telekom Austria Group. For the mobile communication services, these multiple element arrangements typically 

include the sale of a handset, the activation fee, the yearly SIM card fee and the phone service contract. For fixed-line services, these 

arrangements typically include internet and fixed-line and optional TV and mobile communication services. In general, Telekom Austria 

Group determines that such arrangements are divided into separate “units of accounting” based on a determination of a separable value to the 

customer for each deliverable on a standalone basis. The total arrangement consideration is allocated to the units of accounting based on the 

relative fair value and after taking into consideration any uncertainty of future revenues.  

Telekom Austria Group recognises long distance and local service revenue based on minutes of use processed or based on contracted fixed  

fee schedules at the time the services are rendered. Revenues due from other national and foreign carriers for incoming calls from outside 

Telekom Austria Group’s network are recognised in the period the call occurs.  

Access fees, monthly base fees, maintenance fees, service fees and lines leased to business customers are billed in advance resulting in 

deferred revenues. These fees are recognised over the period the service is provided. Cash discounts and rebates are accounted for as 

reductions in revenues when granted.  

Revenues from the sale of merchandise and revenues generated from other services are recognised upon delivery and acceptance by the 

customers or when the services are provided in accordance with contract terms. 

Setting up customer lines is a separate service, offered by Telekom Austria Group independently from other services. Revenue on such 

installation work is recognised when the setup is completed.  

Telekom Austria Group has entered into a limited number of agreements with other telecommunication operators outside of Austria whereby 

Telekom Austria Group has granted contractually agreed access to existing capacity within its physical network in return for similar access to 

the physical network of the counterparty. Telekom Austria Group does not recognise revenue or liabilities to the counterparty under such 

agreements apart from the trade revenue arising from subscriber transactions under normal tariff plans as the services transacted under such 

agreements are equivalent. The benefits and costs of such swap agreements are reflected in Telekom Austria Group’s results of operations in 

the periods in which they are realised through reduced interconnection revenues and expenses, respectively.  

Telekom Austria Group recognises mobile and roaming service revenue based upon minutes of traffic processed or contracted fee schedules 

when the services are rendered. Revenues due from foreign carriers for international roaming calls are included in revenues in the period in 

which the call occurs.  

Certain prepaid services are billed in advance resulting in deferred revenues. These fees are deferred and recognised over the period the service 

is provided. Cash discounts and rebates are accounted for as a reduction in revenues when granted. Customer acquisition costs are recognised 

pro-rata over the contract period as marketing expenses when a service contract exists. In the case of customer loyalty programmes, under 

which the customers can redeem mobile handsets or accessories against bonus points (award credits) granted to them as part of the sales 

transactions, revenue is deferred at the time of the granting of the award credits until the goods are redeemed or the awards expire. 

Activation revenues and related expenses are generally recognised over the minimum contract term. Activation fees do not have a standalone 

value to customers and are therefore allocated as part of the arrangement consideration according to the relative fair value method to the units 

of accounting. 
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Research and development costs 

In accordance with IAS 38, research costs, defined as costs of original and planned research performed to gain new scientific or technical 

knowledge and understanding, are expensed as incurred. Development costs are defined as costs incurred to achieve technical and commercial 

feasibility.  

If development costs cannot be separated from research costs or do not meet the relevant recognition criteria, the development costs as well as 

research costs are expensed as incurred according to IAS 38. In 2014 and 2013, research and development expenses of TEUR 17,136 and 

TEUR 18,301, respectively, are recognised based on their origination as employee expenses, depreciation and amortisation as well as other 

operating expenses in the consolidated statements of profit or loss.  

Interest, royalties and dividends 

Interest is recognised using the effective interest method in accordance with IAS 39. Royalties are recognised on an accrual basis in accordance 

with the substance of the relevant agreement; dividends are recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established. 

Earnings per share 

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income or loss by the weighted average number of common shares 

outstanding for the year. The Management Board determined to settle all shares granted in the course of the long-term incentive program in 

cash. Thus, no related dilutive effect has been considered in 2014 and 2013 for current share-based compensation plans. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Telekom Austria Group considers cash in banks and highly liquid investments with remaining maturities of up to three months from the date 

of acquisition to be cash and cash equivalents. Money market deposits with remaining maturities of more than three months from the date of 

acquisition are classified as short-term investments along with marketable securities. The financial resource fund in the consolidated 

statements of cash flows is equal to unrestricted cash and cash equivalents reported in the consolidated statements of financial position.  

Marketable securities and other long-term investments 

In accordance with IAS 39, Telekom Austria Group has classified all marketable securities and certain long-term investments as available-for-

sale, and carries these securities at fair value. When the fair value cannot be determined, the investment is recorded at cost. Unrealised gains 

and losses resulting from the change in the fair value of available-for-sale investments are recorded in other comprehensive income (OCI), net 

of income tax. 

Telekom Austria Group’s policy for determining if an impairment of a security exists is based on a two-step approach taking into consideration 

the significance of the difference between the acquisition cost and the fair value of the security as well as the period of time for which such a 

difference exists. Telekom Austria Group determines, on an individual security basis, whether the change in fair value is temporary and 

insignificant. If the change is neither temporary nor insignificant, Telekom Austria Group recognises an impairment loss in other financial 

result. Furthermore, Telekom Austria Group evaluates whether there is any indication for a complete loss of a debtor (credit risk).  

If the reasons for the impairment no longer exist, the impairment charge is fully or partly reversed. Impairment losses recognised in profit or 

loss for investments in equity instruments classified as available-for-sale shall not be reversed through profit or loss. In case the fair value of 

a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and such increase is a result of an event that occurred after recognition of the 

impairment loss, the impairment loss shall be reversed in profit or loss.  

Investments in unquoted equity instruments are not carried at fair value because their fair value cannot be reliably determined. They are 

carried at cost less impairment losses, if applicable. The amount of an impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying 

amount of the financial asset and the present value of the estimated future cash flow discounted at the current market rate of return for a 

similar financial asset. The subsequent reversal of such impairment losses in the future is not allowed. 
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Receivables 

Accounts receivable – trade and other financial receivables are classified as loans and receivables and are measured at amortised cost or the 

lower recoverable amount. 

An impairment of loans, accounts receivable – trade and other receivables is recorded (specific allowance) if there is objective evidence that 

Telekom Austria Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms. Serious financial difficulties of the debtor, 

the probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered 

indicators that the receivable is impaired. 

Additionally, for groups of similar financial assets, Telekom Austria Group records a general allowance, which is determined based on 

historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets. 

The carrying amount of financial assets is reduced through the use of allowance accounts, and the impairment charge is recognised in profit 

or loss in other operating expenses. When a receivable is considered to be irrecoverable, the amount is written off against the receivable. 

Inventories 

Inventories consist of merchandise sold in retail shops or by retailers and material and spare parts used for the construction and maintenance 

of networks, mainly for Telekom Austria Group’s own use. Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value, with cost being 

determined on the basis of weighted average cost. Net realisable value of merchandise is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 

business less the estimated selling expense. Telekom Austria Group assumes that replacement costs are the best measure of the net realisable 

value of spare parts and material used for construction and maintenance. 

Assets held for sale 

In accordance with IFRS 5, assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. They are no 

longer depreciated and are classified separately in the statements of financial position as assets held for sale. The net gains or losses on the 

sale of assets held for sale are recorded together with gains and losses from the retirement of property, plant and equipment either in other 

operating expenses or other operating income.  

Goodwill and other intangible assets 

Goodwill, other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and other intangible assets, which are not yet available for use, are not amortised, 

but are tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 at least once a year, in the fourth quarter, irrespective of whether there is any 

indication of impairment, by comparing their carrying amounts with their recoverable amounts. If an event or circumstance indicates that an 

asset may be impaired, impairment tests are also carried out.  

Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over their respective useful lives to their estimated residual values and tested for 

impairment if an event or circumstance indicates that the assets may be impaired. 

In each reporting period, Telekom Austria Group is required to re-evaluate its decision that an intangible asset has an indefinite useful life. If 

an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is subsequently determined to have a finite useful life, the intangible asset is written down to 

its recoverable amount if lower than its carrying amount and amortised prospectively over its remaining useful life. 

For the purpose of impairment testing assets are summarised in cash-generating units, which are the smallest identifiable group of assets that 

generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. Goodwill acquired in a business 

combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units that are expected 

to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units 

or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to which goodwill is allocated shall: (a) represent the lowest level within the entity at which 

goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes; and (b) not be larger than an operating segment. Cash-generating units to which 

goodwill has been allocated shall be tested for impairment annually by comparing the carrying amount of the unit, including the goodwill, 

with the recoverable amount of the unit. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to 

sell and its value in use.  
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Telekom Austria Group performs these impairment tests by calculating the value in use based on capital-market oriented valuation method-

ology. The weighted average cost of capital (WACC) applied corresponds to the weighted average interest on equity and debt. Value in use is 

determined by estimating the future cash flows of the cash-generating unit based on the business plans, which are prepared for periods of four 

years. Significant assumptions to determine the value in use comprise the development of revenues, cost drivers, capital expenditure, growth 

rate and discount rate.  

Assumptions used in business plans are based on actuals, industry forecasts and external economic parameters such as development of gross 

domestic product (GDP), inflation rates, currency rates, population and other. 

Costs and capital expenditure are based on past experience and extended to include internal expectations. 

The growth rates in the business plans reflect the weighted average growth rates based on macroeconomic forecasts and are specific for 

different markets. 

The discount rate applied for discounting of future cash flows is determined for each cash-generating unit separately taking into account 

specific risks associated with the cash-generating unit. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment by the investors. 

The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing borrowings of Telekom Austria Group. Beta factors and capital structure are derived from the 

peer group based on publicly available market data. 

If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit exceeds its carrying amount, the cash-generating unit and the goodwill allocated to that 

cash-generating unit shall be regarded as not impaired. Rather, Telekom Austria Group examines if impairment losses recognised in the past 

(with the exception of goodwill) have to be reversed. If the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the 

entity shall recognise an impairment loss in the statements of profit or loss. The impairment loss shall first be allocated to the carrying 

amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit, and then to the other assets of the cash-generating unit pro rata on the basis of 

the carrying amount of each asset in the cash-generating unit, provided that the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount of the 

cash-generating unit. These reductions in the carrying amounts represent impairment losses on individual assets. 

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are stated at cost and are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, 

as shown below: 

  Years

Mobile communications and fixed net licenses* 3– 30

Patents and proprietary rights 2– 30

Subscriber base 2– 14

Software 2– 12

Other 2– 50 
* See also terms in Note (18). 

Other intangible assets amortised over more than 20 years relate to indefeasible rights of use of cable fibre or wave length over a fixed period 

of time. The indefeasible rights are amortised over the term of the contract. 

Brand names are classified as intangible assets with indefinite useful life based on an analysis of product life cycles, contractual and legal 

control of the asset and other pertinent factors. If Management intends to discontinue the use of a brand name in the foreseeable future, its 

carrying amount is amortised over the remaining estimated useful life. 
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Internally developed software 

Certain direct and indirect development costs associated with internally developed software, including direct costs of materials and services, 

and payroll costs, are capitalised once the project has reached the application development stage. The costs are amortised using the straight-

line method over a period not exceeding four years, beginning when the asset is substantially ready for use. Costs incurred during the 

preliminary project stage, maintenance and training costs and research and development costs are expensed as incurred. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, which includes certain costs that are capitalised during the installation and expansion of  

the telecommunications network including material, payroll, direct overhead and interest costs as well as the present value of estimated 

decommissioning and restoration obligations. Value-added tax (“VAT”), which is charged by suppliers and refunded by the tax authorities, is 

not included in cost. Plant and equipment under finance leases are stated at the lower of present value of minimum lease payments or fair 

value. 

 

Depreciation on plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method and the estimated useful lives of property, plant and 

equipment. Plant and equipment under finance lease and leasehold improvements are amortised using the straight-line method over the  

lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is shorter. 

The useful lives are:  

  Years

Transmission equipment 3– 10

Cables and wires 4– 20

Communications equipment 4– 20

Furniture, fixtures and other 2– 10

Buildings and leasehold improvements 3– 50 
 

Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred, while replacements and improvements are capitalised. The cost and accumulated 

depreciation of assets sold or retired are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in other operating expenses 

or other operating income. 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the 

cost of the asset. 

Government grants 

Investment grants are deducted from the cost of the asset. Performance-related grants are recorded as other operating income in the 

consolidated statements of profit or loss. 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

In the event that facts and circumstances indicate that Telekom Austria Group’s property, plant and equipment or intangible assets with finite 

useful lives may be impaired, an evaluation of recoverability is performed, regardless of whether they are to be held and used or to be disposed 

of. In accordance with IAS 36, an impairment loss is recognised when an asset’s carrying amount exceeds the higher of its fair value less costs 

to sell or its value in use. Fair value is the amount obtainable from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction. Value in use is based on 

the discounted cash flows expected to arise from the continued use of the asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. Impairment 

charges are recorded separately in the consolidated statements of profit or loss. 

If there is any indication that the impairment recognised in prior periods no longer exists, Telekom Austria Group considers the need to 

reverse all or a portion of the impairment charge. 
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Financial liabilities 

All financial liabilities are classified as other liabilities in accordance with IAS 39, and are recognised initially in the amount corresponding to 

the financial inflow. Differences between the amount received and the amount to be repaid are recognised over the term of the liability using 

the effective interest rate method in the financial result (amortised cost). 

Other liabilities 

Other liabilities are carried at amortised cost. 

Provisions 

A provision is recorded when an obligation to a third party exists, the payment is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated.  

Long-term provisions relating to personnel and social costs, restructuring provisions and asset retirement obligation are recorded at their  

net present value. Provisions for restructuring contain onerous contracts in accordance with IAS 37 as well as provisions for social plans in 

accordance with IAS 19. 

Leases 

Lease agreements in which Telekom Austria Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership as a lessee are classified  

as finance leases; otherwise, they are classified as operating leases. Plant and equipment acquired by way of finance leasing is stated at an 

amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease, less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

If substantially all risks and rewards are attributable to Telekom Austria Group as a lessor, the leased asset is recognised by Telekom Austria 

Group. Measurement of the leased asset is then based on the accounting policies applicable to that asset in accordance with IAS 16. The lease 

payments are recognised over the term of the lease contract in the consolidated statements of profit or loss as earned. If Telekom Austria 

Group as a lessor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to legal ownership to the lessee, the lease agreements are 

classified as finance leases. Lease receivables are recorded at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. 

Employee benefit obligations 

Telekom Austria Group provides retirement benefits under defined contribution and defined benefit plans. 

In the case of defined contribution plans, Telekom Austria Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension or 

severance insurance plans on a mandatory or contractual basis. Once the contributions have been paid, Telekom Austria Group has no further 

payment obligations. The regular contributions are recognised in employee expenses in the respective year. 

All other employee benefit obligations are unfunded defined benefit plans for which Telekom Austria Group records provisions which are 

calculated using the projected unit credit method in accordance with IAS 19. The future benefit obligations are measured using actuarial 

methods on the basis of an appropriate assessment of the discount rate, rate of employee turnover, rate of compensation increase and rate of 

increase in pensions.  

For severance and pensions, Telekom Austria Group recognises actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income, whereas actuarial 

gains and losses for service awards are immediately recognised in profit or loss. The re-measurement of defined benefit plans relates to 

actuarial gains and losses only as Telekom Austria Group holds no plan assets. Interest expense related to employee benefit obligations is 

reported in the financial result, while service cost is reported in employee expenses. 

According to IAS 19.133, Telekom Austria Group chooses to distinguish between current and non-current liabilities arising from employee 

benefit obligations. 

Changes in existing decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities 

In accordance with IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”, the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment includes the initial estimate 

of the cost of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located. The resulting liability is measured in accordance 

with IAS 37. The effects of changes in the measurement of existing decommission, restoration and similar liabilities is accounted for in 

accordance with the provisions of IFRIC 1. The provisions require that an increase in the liability that reflects the passage of time shall be 

recognised in profit or loss. Changes in the measurement of these liabilities resulting from changes in the estimated timing or amount of the 

outflow of resources or changes in the discount rate shall be added or deducted from the cost of the assets in the current period. The amount 

deducted from the asset shall not exceed its carrying amount. A possible exceeding amount is reported in the consolidated statements of profit 

or loss. If the adjustment results in an addition to the asset, it shall be considered whether there is an indication that the new carrying amount 

of the asset may not be fully recoverable. If there is such an indication, the asset shall be tested for impairment and any impairment losses 

shall be recorded. 
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Income taxes 

Income taxes are calculated for each taxable entity based on the expected actual income tax rate applicable. In accordance with IAS 12 “Income 

Taxes”, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities  

in the Consolidated Financial Statements and their tax bases, for current-year tax losses and tax losses carried forward as well as certain 

impairment losses on investments for which recognition for tax purposes is deferred over a specified period. For the purpose of calculating 

deferred tax assets and liabilities, Telekom Austria Group uses the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 

date. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognised in the period the tax rate is effectively enacted.  

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient future taxable income will be available. The distribution 

of dividends by Telekom Austria AG has no effect on the tax rate.  

Investment tax credits are recognised as a reduction in income taxes in the period in which those credits are granted. Income tax receivables 

or payables cover obligations for current and prior periods. 

Share-based payments 

In accordance with IFRS 2, share-based payments are measured at fair value at the grant date. The expense is recognised over the vesting 

period. Depending on the settlement of share-based payment transactions either in equity instruments or cash, Telekom Austria Group 

records an increase in equity or a liability. Due to the Management Board’s decision to settle bonus shares granted in the course of the long-

term incentive program in cash, the share-based payments granted are recorded as a liability. Until their settlement in cash, the liabilities are 

re-measured at their fair value at each reporting date as well as at the settlement date. Changes in the fair value are recorded in profit or loss. 

Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another 

entity. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when Telekom Austria Group becomes a party to a financial instrument. Telekom 

Austria Group uses the settlement date for recording regular purchases and sales of financial assets. Derivative financial instruments are 

recognised at the trade date and derecognised when settled. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised at the fair value of 

the consideration given or received. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement, except for financial instruments, which are 

recognised at their fair value through profit or loss. 

For financial liabilities carried at amortised cost, gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the financial liability is derecognised. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the statements of financial position only when the entity 

has a contractual right to offset the recognised amounts and intends to settle on a net basis.  

Financial assets include, in particular, cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable – trade and other receivables, receivables due from 

related parties and available-for-sale investments. 

Financial liabilities include, in particular, accounts payable – trade, issued bonds, bank debt, other financial liabilities and payables due to 

related parties. 

Telekom Austria Group classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities in accordance with IAS 39. Management determines the 

classification of its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition. 
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Fair value of financial instruments 

According to IFRS 13, the fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability. The hierarchy categorises the 

inputs used in valuation techniques into three levels. Level 1 contains financial assets and liabilities based on quoted prices in active markets 

for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 contains financial assets and liabilities based on inputs other than quoted market prices included 

within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 contains financial assets and liabilities based on 

inputs that are unobservable. When determining the fair value, the risk of non-fulfilment is taken into account as well.  

Concentration of risks  

A portion of Telekom Austria Group’s revenue is derived from services provided to other companies in the telecommunications industry, 

mainly to alternative telecommunications and cellular companies as well as to providers of internet online services. As a result, Telekom 

Austria Group has a certain concentration of credit risk in its customer base. To limit such risk, Telekom Austria Group performs credit 

evaluations of its key accounts on an ongoing basis.  

At the balance sheet dates, Telekom Austria Group does not have any significant concentration of business transacted with a particular 

supplier or creditor or customers. Furthermore, Telekom Austria Group does not have any concentration of risk with respect to contractors, 

other services, franchises or other rights which could, if suddenly eliminated, severely impact operations. Telekom Austria Group invests its 

cash with various institutions with appropriate credit standings. 

Through its expansion into the Central Eastern European (CEE) region, Telekom Austria Group operates in markets that have been 

experiencing political and economic change. This has affected, and may continue to affect, the activities of enterprises operating in this 

environment. Consequently, operations in the CEE region involve uncertainties, including transfer, currency and tax uncertainties, which 

typically do not exist in other markets. The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements reflect Management’s assessment of the impact 

of the CEE business environment on the operations and the financial position of Telekom Austria Group. The actual development of the future 

business environment may differ from Management’s assessment. 

Use of estimates 

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires Management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities reported at the end of any given period, and revenues and expenses for that reported period. Actual results 

may differ from these estimates. 

Management has made judgments in the process of applying Telekom Austria Group’s accounting policies. Additionally, at the reporting date, 

Management has made the following key assumptions concerning the future and has identified other key sources of estimation uncertainty 

which bear a significant risk of necessitating a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 

year. For all sensitivity analyses, the remaining parameters of the original calculation remain unchanged, thus no possible correlation effects 

are taken into account. 

a) Employee benefit plans: The measurement of the various pension and other post-employment benefit plans as well as service awards is 

based on a method that uses various parameters, such as the expected discount rate, rate of compensation increase, rate of employee 

turnover and pension and salary increase. Changes in these parameters could result in higher or lower expenses (see Note (27)). 

b) Impairments: The impairment test for goodwill, other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (PPE) is generally based upon 

discounted estimated future net cash flows from the continuing use and ultimate disposal of the assets. Changes in the discount rates 

used, in the development of revenues, in cost drivers as well as in asset additions could lead to impairments or, to the extent permitted, to 

reversals of impairments (see Note (17)). For more information on the carrying amounts of goodwill, other intangible assets and property, 

plant and equipment, see Notes (17), (18) and (19). 
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c) The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets subject to depreciation and amortisation represent the 

estimated periods during which the assets will be in use. With respect to changes in depreciation and amortisation resulting from 

changes in the useful lives, see Note (19). 

d) Share-based compensation: Obligations under the long-term incentive program are measured based on the fair value, which depends on 

expected target achievement and the expected share price at vesting date. Compensation expense and liabilities could materially differ from 

the estimated amount as of the reporting date if the underlying parameters were to change (see Note (31)). 

e) Deferred taxes: In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, Management considers whether it is probable that all the deferred tax 

assets will be realised. The ultimate realisation of deferred tax assets depends upon the generation of future taxable income during the 

periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. If Telekom Austria Group does not generate sufficient taxable income, 

deferred tax assets cannot be realised and therefore will not be recognised (see Note (30)). 

f) Restructuring (includes provisions for onerous contracts according to IAS 37 as well as provisions for social plans according to IAS 19): The 

provision is based on various parameters such as discount rate, salary increase, employee turnover and the probability of the acceptance of 

termination offers. Changes in these parameters could result in higher or lower expenses (see Note (22)). 

(2) Business Combinations 
In June 2014, Telekom Austria Group signed an agreement for the merger of its subsidiary mobilkom liechtenstein into Telecom Liechtenstein 

AG (“Telecom Liechtenstein”) to form a convergent market leader in Liechtenstein. Closing of this non-cash transaction was carried out on 

27 August 2014 and resulted in Telekom Austria Group holding a stake of 24.9% and the Principality of Liechtenstein 75.1% in Telecom 

Liechtenstein. As a result of Telekom Austria Group’s significant influence, Telecom Liechtenstein is accounted for under the equity method 

and reported in Corporate & Other (see Note (15)). Telecom Liechtenstein offers bundled products consisting of fixed line, mobile 

communications, internet and TV services. The fair value corresponds to the entity value determined and mutually agreed upon by both 

parties to the contract in the course of the valuation. The fair value of Telekom Austria Group’s stake in the Telecom Liechtenstein is 

TEUR 34,330 and the transaction resulted in a gain of TEUR 26,785 which was recognised in other operating income in the consolidated 

statements of profit or loss (see Note (5)).  

Due to the merger, Telekom Austria Group lost control of mobilkom Liechtenstein. The following table shows the assets and liabilities 

disposed of. 

Dispose of mobilkom liechtenstein  
in TEUR  

Property, plant and equipment 1,612

Intangible assets 1,345

Trade and other receivables 3,167

Cash and cash equivalents 4,458

Liabilities – 2,976  
 

cons ol i DAt e D F i nA nc i A l s tAt e M e n t s

56 t elekom Aus t RiA GRoup  AnnuAl FinAnciAl Rep oR t 2 014



 

  ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2014  TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP 57  

    

  CO N S O LI DAT E D  F I NAN C I AL  STAT E M E N TS

 

On 30 July 2014, Telekom Austria Group acquired 100% of blizoo DOOEL, Macedonia (“blizoo”). The fair values of the assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed at the acquisition date were determined based on the allocation of the consideration transferred and are shown in the 

following table:  

Acquisition of blizoo  
in TEUR 

Fair values on 
acquisition date

Property, plant and equipment 12,223

Intangible assets 3,008

Other assets and receivables 1,021

Cash and cash equivalents 321

Short-term borrowings – 7,454

Accounts payable – trade and other liabilities – 8,236

Net assets acquired 883

Goodwill 12,952

Total purchase consideration 13,835

Cash paid for receivable acquired 11,165

Cash and cash equivalents acquired – 321

Net cash outflow 24,679  
 

Blizoo is the leading cable operator in the Republic of Macedonia, offering TV services, broadband and fixed voice. The acquisition represents a 

significant step in fulfilling Telekom Austria Group´s convergence strategy and enables Vip operator and blizoo to offer bundled fixed and 

mobile services in Macedonia. The factors contributing to the recognised goodwill are expected future earnings from the positive development 

of the market share (including increase in customer benefit by usage of Vip operator’s network) and expected synergies in cost. The cash paid 

for a receivable acquired relates to a receivable of the seller, which was additionally acquired. 

Acquisition-related costs recognised in other operating expenses in profit or loss amount to TEUR 551. Since the acquisition date blizoo has 

contributed revenues in the amount of TEUR 4,377 and a net loss of TEUR 255. Since the effect of the acquired entity on the Consolidated 

Financial Statements of Telekom Austria Group is not considered significant, no pro-forma information is presented. 

On 15 September 2014, Telekom Austria Group acquired 100% of Dastin d.o.o., Bjelovar (“Dastin”) in Croatia. The fair values of the assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date were determined based on the allocation of the consideration transferred and are 

shown in the following table:  

Acquisition of Dastin 
 in TEUR 

Fair values on 
acquisition date

Intangible assets 457

Other assets and receivables 40

Cash and cash equivalents 4

Deferred tax liabilities – 91

Accounts payable – trade and other liabilities – 47

Net assets acquired 363

Goodwill 135

Consideration transferred 498
Cash and cash equivalents acquired – 4

Net cash outflow 494  
 

Acquisition-related costs recognised in other operating expenses in profit or loss amount to TEUR 16. In December 2014, Dastin was merged 

into Vipnet, which did not have any effect on the Consolidated Financial Statements of Telekom Austria Group. 

In June 2014, the remaining deferred consideration for the acquisition of SOBS Base Stations GmbH (“SOBS”) in the amount of TEUR 1,904 was 

paid. SOBS was the company into which the base stations of Orange Austria had been demerged and which was merged into A1 Telekom 

Austria AG in 2013. As of 31 December 2013, this outstanding consideration was recorded in other current liabilities (see Note (23)). 
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(3) Operating Segments 
Reporting on operating segments (see table “Consolidated Operating Segments”) has been prepared in accordance with IFRS 8. The accounting 

policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note (1). 

Telekom Austria Group has aligned its management structure and the resulting segment reporting due to the demand for convergent products. 

As a result, operating segments are based on geographical markets. Telekom Austria Group reports separately on its five operating segments: 

Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia, Belarus and Additional Markets. The “Extended Board”, which regularly convenes in Extended Board Meetings, is 

Telekom Austria Group’s chief operating decision maker. It consists of the Management Board (Group CEO, Group CFO and Group CTO) as well 

as the Group Officers of Telekom Austria AG who represent human resources and marketing. The Extended Board focuses on EBITDA 

comparable as well as EBITDA including effects from restructuring and impairment tests.  

The segment Austria comprises convergent products for voice telephony, internet access, data and IT solutions, value-added services, 

wholesale services, television broadcasting (A1 TV), mobile business and payment solutions in Austria. 

The segment Bulgaria comprises voice telephony (mobile and fixed-line telephone service), access to emergency services, directory services, 

internet access, data and IT solutions, value-added services, wholesale services, the sale of end-user terminal equipment, IP television and 

other IP based services and payment solutions in Bulgaria. 

The segment Croatia provides mobile and fixed-line telephony, cable and satellite television, value-added services as well as mobile and fixed-

line internet access in Croatia. 

The segment Belarus comprises mobile communication services in Belarus. Since 2011, hyperinflation accounting in accordance with IAS 29 

has been applied to the segment Belarus, which results in a restatement of non-monetary assets, liabilities and all items of the statements of 

comprehensive income for the change in a general price index and the translation of these items applying the year-end exchange rate.  

The segment Additional Markets comprises the mobile communication companies in Slovenia and the Republic of Serbia. In the Republic of 

Macedonia mobile and fixed-line communication services are offered.  

Segment revenues, segment expenses and segment results include transfers between operating segments. Such transfers are accounted for at 

transfer prices corresponding to competitive market prices charged to unaffiliated customers for similar products. These transfers are 

eliminated in consolidation. 

The segments are reported on a consolidated basis. Segment assets and segment liabilities do not include deferred tax assets or liabilities, 

income tax receivables or income tax payables.  

The column Corporate & Other comprises mainly holding companies as well as the group financing company and it is reported in addition to 

the column eliminations for improved transparency. Other financial income reported in the column Corporate & Other relates to dividend 

income from fully consolidated subsidiaries which is eliminated in consolidation, thus having no impact on the Consolidated Financial 

Statements. 

The elimination column contains intersegment consolidation entries and the reconciliation of segment assets and liabilities to consolidated 

total assets and liabilities. Capital expenditures, as well as depreciation and amortisation, relate to property, plant and equipment and other 

intangible assets. 

In 2014 and 2013, other non-cash items mainly consist of restructuring expenses, pension and severance expense, interest expense on 

restructuring provisions and asset retirement obligations, bad debt expenses and the net monetary gain in the segment Belarus resulting from 

the application of hyperinflation accounting as well as accrued interest in Corporate & Other. Additionally in 2014, this item contains the gain 

on the merger of mobilkom Liechtenstein in Corporate & Other (see Notes (2) and (5)) as well as non-cash changes in provisions (see Note (22)) 

and the one-time effect relating to the deferral of revenues (see Note (9)) in the segment Austria. In 2013, this item contains the gain on bargain 

purchases in the segment Croatia as well as the loss from the sale of the stake in Airwin Entertainment GmbH in the segment Austria. 
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None of the segments records revenues from transactions with a single external customer amounting to at least 10% or more of Telekom 

Austria Group’s revenues.  

For information on restructuring in the segment Austria, see Note (22).  

The item other financial income includes other financial result as well as foreign exchange differences.  

(4) Revenues 
in TEUR 2014 2013

Services 3,673,851 3,852,555

Equipment 344,113 331,394

Operating revenues 4,017,964 4,183,949  
 

For information on the change in accounting estimate of revenues due to the implementation of a new billing system interface, see Note (9).  

The following table sets out revenues from external customers for each product line: 

in TEUR 2014 2013

Monthly fee and traffic 2,939,940 3,021,376

Data and ICT Solutions 222,507 225,462

Wholesale (incl. Roaming) 168,567 167,744

Interconnection 315,253 408,823

Equipment 344,113 331,394

Other revenues 27,584 29,150

Total revenues 4,017,964 4,183,949  
  
(5) Other Operating Income 
in TEUR 2014 2013

Rental revenue 14,847 16,240

Own work capitalised 40,061 38,356

Other 64,127 32,483

Other operating income 119,035 87,079  
 

Own work capitalised represents the work performed for own purposes consisting mainly of employee costs and direct overheads capitalised 

primarily as part of property, plant and equipment. For the capitalisation of internally developed software, see Note (18).  

In 2014 and 2013, other operating income includes research and educational tax credits amounting to TEUR 1,896 and TEUR 1,993, respectively. 

In 2014, the gain on the merger of mobilkom liechtenstein amounting to TEUR 26,785 is included in other operating income, whereas in 2013, 

the gain on bargain purchases amounting to TEUR 1,276 from acquisitions in the segment Croatia is included in other operating income (see 

Note (2)). In 2014 and 2013, TEUR 3,250 and TEUR 822 were recorded relating to claims for compensation for damages and unjustified 

enrichment against former board members and managers.  
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(6) Other Operating Expenses 
in TEUR 2014 2013

Interconnection 314,890 401,428

Repairs and maintenance 165,936 169,011

Services received 177,818 182,608

Concession fees 45,844 36,955

Advertising and marketing 144,725 158,558

Other support services 149,405 149,009

Rental and lease expenses 166,287 160,812

Commissions 72,731 76,887

Bad debt expenses 48,645 43,989

Other consulting 10,468 12,220

Legal consulting 5,548 5,007

Travel expenses 15,761 16,216

Other taxes 13,357 15,146

Energy 56,419 58,258

Transportation 26,916 27,575

Training expenses 7,789 7,887

Net loss from retirement of fixed assets 1,041 8,538

Other 53,570 60,392

Other operating expenses 1,477,149 1,590,496  
 

In 2013, bad debt expenses of other receivables (see Notes (14) and (20)) of TEUR 6,004 were included in line item other, since 2014 they are 

reported in line item bad debt expenses. In 2013, concession fees of TEUR 36,955 were included in line item services received and in other, 

since 2014 they are reported in a separate line item. The 2013 comparison period was adjusted accordingly. 

Impairment losses and reversal of impairment losses for trade and other receivables classified as loans and receivables are recognised in bad 

debt expenses. 

Gains and losses from the retirement of fixed assets are offset. The resulting net gains are reported as other operating income, the resulting net 

losses are reported as other operating expense.  

At the Annual General Meeting on 28 May 2014, Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH, Vienna (“Deloitte”) was appointed as group auditor 

for Telekom Austria Group. Expenses related to the group auditor amount to:  

in TEUR 2014 2013

Audit fees 698 634

Other reviews 1,965 0

Fees Deloitte 2,663 634  
  

Other reviews mainly relate to expenses for the capital increase (see Note (29)). 

(7) Financial Result 
in TEUR 2014 2013

Interest income on loans and receivables 12,371 11,900

Interest income on bank deposits 1,980 3,788

Interest income on available-for-sale investments 210 292

Net gain on hedging transactions 0 143

Interest income 14,562 16,123  
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Telekom Austria Group had entered into interest rate swap agreements to offset fair value changes attributable to interest rate variability of the 

bonds issued under the EMTN Programme in 2003 and redeemed in 2013. Changes in the fair value of hedging instruments (interest rate 

swaps) designated as a fair value hedge in accordance with IAS 39 and of the hedged items were netted for each swap contract and were 

recognised as interest income or interest expense depending on the net amount: 

in TEUR 2014 2013

Result on interest rate swaps – fair value hedge 0 – 6,479

Result from fair value measurement of EMTN bonds 0 6,622

Interest income  0 143  
 

in TEUR 2014 2013

Interest expense on financial liabilities 163,410 164,490

Interest expense on restructuring provision 19,081 21,441

Interest expense on employee benefit obligations 5,845 5,817

Interest expense on asset retirement obligations 6,209 7,839

Net loss on hedging transactions 0 6,746

Interest expense 194,545 206,333 
Provisions for restructuring contain onerous contracts in accordance with IAS 37 as well as provisions for social plans in accordance with IAS 19. 
The 2013 comparison period was adjusted according to IAS 8 (see Note (1)). 
 

In 2013, the net loss on hedging transactions related to the settlement of the pre-hedges (see Note (33)). 

Foreign exchange differences 

in TEUR 2014 2013

Foreign exchange gains 8,424 5,703

Foreign exchange losses –9,503 –11,043

Net monetary gain –841 1,062

Foreign exchange differences –1,921 –4,278  
 

Other financial result 

in TEUR 2014 2013

Dividends received 53 80

Gain on sale of investments measured at cost 67 0

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale securities    

transferred from other comprehensive income 42 5

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale securities    

transferred from other comprehensive income –56 –222

Result from financial assets 105 –137  
 

The amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) and subsequently recognised in profit or loss are disclosed in the 

consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Telekom Austria Group recognises gains and losses relating to financial instruments in 

the financial result.  

(8) Short-term Investments 
in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Marketable securities short-term – available-for-sale 1,050 1,739

Other short-term investments 13,383 8,143

Short-term investments 14,433 9,882  
 

Available-for-sale securities are classified as short-term, based on Management’s intention to sell these marketable securities within the next 

twelve months.  

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, other short-term investments relate to fixed deposits in Belarus.  

cons ol i DAt e D F i nA nc i A l s tAt e M e n t s

61AnnuAl FinAnciAl Rep oR t 2 014  t elekom Aus t RiA GRoup



 

 

CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I NAN C I AL  STAT E M E N TS   

 

 62 TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP  ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2014  

    

(9) Accounts Receivable – Trade 
in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Accounts receivable – trade, gross 773,032 864,772

Allowances –172,963 –180,929

Accounts receivable – trade, net 600,068 683,843  
 

At 31 December 2014 and 2013, accounts receivable – trade have a maturity of less than twelve months and are non-interest bearing.  

In the second quarter of 2014, a new billing system interface was implemented, which enables a largely automatic calculation of unbilled 

revenues in order to calculate deferred revenues. Additionally by applying a separate “Revenue Assurance Software” an automatic control of 

these deferred revenues is being performed. Due to the development of the system, the component of estimation could be reduced and the 

data quality was improved. The new interface accesses directly the billing data, which no longer have to be transferred from multiple different 

systems and aggregated in several automated and manual interfaces anymore. This change in accounting estimate resulted in a decrease in 

operating revenues and a decrease in accounts receivable – trade of TEUR 47,505 in the segment Austria. According to IAS 8 it does not have 

any effect on following periods. 

The following is a roll-forward of the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable – trade: 

in TEUR 2014 2013

At 1 January 180,929 203,451

Foreign currency adjustment –734 –858

Change in reporting entities 1,060 814

Reversed –6,194 –5,287

Charged to expenses 48,718 43,272

Amounts written-off –50,816 –58,470

Reclassification 0 –1,992

At 31 December 172,963 180,929

Thereof    

Specific allowance 6,638 11,156

General allowance 166,325 169,774  
 

The ageing of accounts receivable – trade is as follows: 

in TEUR, at 31 December  
Gross 
2014

Allowance
2014

Gross  
2013 

Allowance
2013

Not yet due 523,516 6,949 600,603 8,509

Past due 0– 90 days 75,178 13,493 70,106 12,158

Past due 91– 180 days 19,537 12,797 25,839 11,773

Past due 181– 360 days 25,026 19,910 36,289 23,756

More than one year 129,775 119,815 131,935 124,733

Total 773,032 172,963 864,772 180,929   
 

Telekom Austria Group has grouped accounts receivable – trade according to their exposure to different risks. Corresponding to the risk 

involved and based on historic experience, Telekom Austria Group determines a certain percentage of accounts receivable – trade of each 

category as doubtful.  

There is no allowance for the following accounts receivable – trade not due. 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2014 2013

Not past due without valuation allowance 209,399 239,119  
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As these accounts receivable – trade mainly relate to deferred marketing expenses related to customer loyalty programmes, roaming credits, 

deferrals related to multiple deliverables and access fees invoiced in advance, there is no risk of non-fulfilment. 

Bad debt expenses mainly relate to accounts receivable – trade due from business and private customers. Accounts receivable – trade due from 

national and international carriers are only considered doubtful when they are past due for more than 90 days. 

Telekom Austria Group has neither collateral nor insurance for its accounts receivable – trade because the credit risk is sufficiently diversified 

due to the large number of customers. 

As of 31 December 2013, accounts receivable contained receivables amounting to TEUR 384,103 sold under civil law to a special purpose entity 

under the Asset Backed Securitisation (ABS) Programme which was terminated in August 2014 (see Note (33)). In accordance with IFRS 10 

(“Consolidated financial statements” – Relevant activities and direction of relevant activities), the special purpose entity (“SPE”) was 

consolidated, which resulted in the recognition of the accounts receivable in Telekom Austria Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements 

despite their sale. 

(10) Related Party Transactions  
The significant shareholders América Móvil and ÖIAG are considered related parties due to their stake in Telekom Austria AG allowing them to 

control and to exercise significant influence, respectively. Through América Móvil, Telekom Austria Group is also related to its subsidiaries. 

Through ÖIAG, Telekom Austria Group is related to the Republic of Austria and its subsidiaries, which are mainly ÖBB Group, ASFINAG Group 

and Post Group as well as Rundfunk und Telekom Regulierungs-GmbH (“RTR”), all of which qualify as related parties. Telekom Austria Group 

has determined the kind and amount of the transactions concluded with these related parties. None of the individual transactions associated 

with government agencies or government-owned entities are considered significant to Telekom Austria Group except for the acquisition of 

licenses at the Austrian spectrum auction in 2013 (see Note (18)). In 2014 and 2013, services received from the related parties mentioned 

above mainly relate to postage fees, transportation, commissions, roaming and fees to RTR and amount to 4.7% and 3.8%, respectively, of the 

material expense and other operating expenses recognised in the segment Austria. In the years reported, revenues generated with these 

related parties were 3.2% of the total revenues in the segment Austria.  

In the course of the capital increase in 2014, Amércia Móvil signed 132.2 million and ÖIAG 63.0 million new shares (see Note (29)). 

Telekom Austria Group is obligated to provide voice telephone services for disadvantaged individuals at reduced tariffs for which it is entitled 

to appropriate compensation from the government on a contractual basis. The contract with the government concluded in July 2011 specifies 

the reimbursement for customers having a valid official notice issued before 1 July 2011 of Euro 13.81 per customer per month. The reimburse-

ment for customers having a valid official notice issued after 1 July 2011 amounts to Euro 10.00 per month. The total reimbursement recorded 

as revenue in the service period was TEUR 16,402 and TEUR 20,382 in 2014 and 2013, respectively.  

Regarding the transfer of civil servants to the government and the related expenses, provisions and liabilities, see Note (22).  

The revenues from and expenses charged to related parties relate associated companies and are set forth in the following table:  

in TEUR 2014 2013

Revenues 244 60

Other operating income 505 13

Expenses 24,805 28,436  
 

In 2014 and 2013, the expenses relate mainly to advertising and marketing services provided by media.at-Group. As of 31 December 2014 and 

2013, accounts payable due to related parties relate primarily to media.at-Group. At 31 December 2014, accounts receivable from related parties 

relate to Telecom Liechtenstein and to subsidiaries of América Móvil (see Note 15)). 
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From 28 June 2001 to 29 May 2013, a partner in a law firm which provides legal services to Telekom Austria Group was a member of the 

Supervisory Board. Up to the resignation in 2013, Telekom Austria Group was charged TEUR 159 for legal services provided by this law firm.  

All transactions with related parties are carried out at arm’s length. 

The following table shows the compensation of key management personnel as well as the expenses for pensions and severance for other 

employees. Key management personnel is defined as the members of the management boards and the managing directors of all significant 

operating companies of Telekom Austria Group as well as the members of the Management Board of Telekom Austria AG. 

in TEUR 2014 2013

Short-term employee benefits 11,501 11,807

Pensions 871 561

Other long-term benefits 218 124

Termination benefits 2,245 579

Share-based payments 446 –75

Compensation of key management 15,280 12,997
     

Expenses for pensions and severance for other employees 22,038 25,053    
 

Expenses for pensions and severance for other employees consist of voluntary and legal severance expenses, contributions to pension plans 

and other pension payments.  

(11) Inventories 
in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Spare parts, cables and supplies 48,429 51,399

Merchandise 91,696 75,818

Prepayments 0 56

Inventories 140,124 127,273  
 

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the carrying amount of merchandise measured at fair value less cost to sell, amounted to TEUR 22,449 and 

TEUR 31,423, respectively. In 2014 and 2013, Telekom Austria Group recognised impairment charges related to inventories amounting to 

TEUR 13,583 and TEUR 23,432, respectively, as well as reversals of impairment charges amounting to TEUR 898 and TEUR 362, respectively. 

(12) Prepaid Expenses 
in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Advances to employees 16,906 16,639

Rent 30,855 6,513

Prepaid marketing expenses 39,845 46,475

Other 37,813 32,057

Prepaid expenses 125,418 101,684  
 

Prepaid marketing expenses mainly consist of subsidies for mobile handsets, which are expensed over the minimum contractual term.  

(13) Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
in TEUR, at 31 December 2014 2013

Land and buildings 413 962

Non-current assets held for sale 413 962  
 

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, non-current assets held for sale relate to land and buildings in the segment Austria. In 2014 and 2013, a gain 

of TEUR 2,846 and TEUR 1,821, respectively, was recognised from the sale of assets held for sale and is reported in the net result from 

retirement of fixed assets (see Note (6)).  
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(14) Other Current Assets 
in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Instalment sales 70,775 22,667

Finance lease receivables 6,805 19,215

Other financial assets 7,155 6,485

Financial assets 84,734 48,366

Other non-financial assets 47,430 33,594
Other current assets, gross 132,164 81,960
Less allowance for financial assets –9,061 –5,788

Less allowance for non-financial assets –2,966 –2,177

Other current assets 120,137 73,995  
 

Instalment sales receivables relate to the instalment sales of mobile handsets and tablets and equal the present value of the revenue. As of  

31 December 2014, the instalment sales receivables relate to all segments. As of 31 December 2013, instalment sales were only offered in the 

segment Belarus and to a lesser extent by Si.mobil in Slovenia.  

For information on finance lease receivables, see Note (26).  

Other current non-financial assets mainly consist of deferrals related to customer loyalty programmes, value-added tax receivables, claims 

against the Republic of Austria (see Note (10)), advance payments, indemnification payments due from insurance companies and receivables 

due from employees. Additionally in 2014, other current assets contain a receivable amounting to TEUR 16,187 related to investment grants for 

broadband expansion, which are deducted from acquisition cost (see Note (19)). 

The following table sets forth the ageing of finance lease receivables, instalment sales receivables and other current financial assets: 

  Gross Allowance Gross Allowance
in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2014 2013 2013

Not yet due 76,099 3,840 44,157 3,037

Past due 0– 90 days 1,435 213 525 0

Past due 91– 180 days 2,655 1,137 366 230

Past due 181– 360 days 2,505 1,835 1,439 938

More than one year 2,040 2,036 1,880 1,583

Total 84,734 9,061 48,366 5,788   
 

The following is a roll-forward of the allowance for doubtful finance lease receivables, instalment sales receivables and other current financial 

assets:  

in TEUR 2014 2013

At 1 January 5,788 670
Foreign currency adjustment –367 –2

Change in reporting entities –171 0

Reversed –10 0

Charged to expenses 4,189 3,472

Amounts written-off –367 –170

Reclassification 0 1,819

At 31 December 9,061 5,788  
 

The reclassification of the allowance in 2013 relates to the opening balance of the allowance for instalment sales receivables, which was 

reported in accounts receivable – trade until 31 December 2012 (see Note (9)). 
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(15) Investments in Associates 
Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 as well as their allocation to the segments 

are set forth in Note (38).  

The following is a roll-forward of the investments in associates: 

in TEUR 2014 2013

At 1 January 4,979 3,661

Dividends received –1,724 –279

Recognised income 668 1,716

Changes in reporting entities 34,330 –119

At 31 December 38,253 4,979  
 

The investment in media.at-Group is included in the investments in associates with the proportionate total consolidated equity of the 

media.at-Group.  

The change in reporting entities in 2014 relates to the merger of the subsidiary mobilkom liechtenstein into Telecom Liechtenstein (see Note 

(2)). In April 2013, Telekom Austria Group sold its 25.029% interest in Marx Media Vienna GmbH in the segment Austria resulting in a loss of 

TEUR 19, which is reported in the result from investments in affiliates.  

The following table provides a summary of aggregated financial information of the associated companies representing the total amounts and 

not Telekom Austria Group’s proportionate share:  

Statements of profit or loss (in TEUR) 2014 2013

Revenues 153,415 126,640

Operating income 7,592 4,845

Net income 7,264 3,678  
The financial information of media.at-Group is based on its reporting period 1 July to 30 June.  
The financial information of Telecom Liechtenstein AG relates to the reporting period 1 January to 31 December 2014. 
The financial information for Marx Media Vienna GmbH is no longer included in 2013. 

in TEUR 2014 2013

Total current assets 59,215 35,403

Total non-current assets 38,313 946

Total liabilities 41,109 32,110

Total stockholders' equity 56,419 4,238  
Financial information of media.at-Group is included based on 30 June reporting. As liabilities are substantially short-term, no split between short-term and long-term is 
provided. 
 

The following table provides the difference between the investment in the associate and the proportionate equity associated companies as 

well as their allocation to the segments. 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2014 2013

Proportional equity 13,468 1,818

Goodwills 14,043 3,161

Purchase price allocation 10,742 0

Investments in associates 38,253 4,979

Segment Austria 3,826 4,979

Corporate & Other 34,427 0  
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(16) Long-term Investments 
in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Other investments carried at cost 554 558

Other long-term investments 600 0

Marketable securities – available-for-sale, long-term 6,246 4,690

Long-term investments 7,400 5,247  
 

Other investments carried at cost include investments in unquoted equity instruments (investments). These relate mainly to CEESEG AG. As 

this stake can only be disposed of at the initial indexed purchase price and due to the absence of an active market, this equity instrument is 

carried at acquisition cost.  

As of 31 December 2014, other long-term investments comprise a fixed deposit.  

Marketable securities available-for-sale serve partially as coverage for the provision for pensions. Based on Management’s intention not to sell 

these marketable securities within the next twelve months, they are classified as long-term financial assets. 

(17) Goodwill 
The following table illustrates the changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill by segment: 

in TEUR Austria Bulgaria
 

Croatia Additional Markets Total

At 1 January 2013 416,101 642,691 94,450 136,260 1,289,501

Acquisitions 292,110 0 1,139 0 293,249

Impairment 0 –59,400 0 0 –59,400

Translation adjustment 0 0 –844 0 –844

At 31 December 2013 708,211 583,291 94,744 136,260 1,522,506

Acquisitions 0 0 135 12,952 13,088

Impairment 0 –340,600 0 –5,100 –345,700

Translation adjustment 0 0 –406 –7 –413

At 31 December 2014 708,211 242,691 94,473 144,106 1,189,481   
The 2013 comparison period was adjusted according to IAS 8 (see Note (1)). 
 

For details on the changes in reporting entities (acquisitions), see Note (2). 

Accumulated impairment charges of goodwill amount to: 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2014 2013

Segment Austria 1,071 1,071

Segment Belarus 568,985 568,985

Segment Bulgaria 340,600 59,400

Segment Additional Markets 5,100 0

Accumulated impairment 915,756 629,456  
The 2013 comparison period was adjusted according to IAS 8 (see Note (1)). 
 

Due to the audit finding of OePR regarding impairment testing at 31 December 2013 (see Note (1)) the valuation method was significantly 

adapted for impairment testing at 31 December 2014. The planning period used for calculating the value in use is four years. The discount rate 

is based on peer group beta factors and peer group leverage factors and no convergence is estimated regarding country risk premiums, instead 

current market assessments are taken into account. Due to these changes, a standard discount rate is now used for all planning periods. 

In 2014 and 2013, an impairment of goodwill of Mobiltel amounting to TEUR 340,600 and TEUR 59,400, respectively, was recognised in 

impairment and reversal of impairment in profit or loss as the carrying amount (including goodwill) of the cash-generating unit Bulgaria 

exceeded its respective value in use. For the correction of prior period amounts see “Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” in Note (1).  
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Changed medium-term macroeconomic expectations and the weak operative performance of Mobiltel in 2014 led to a change in the 

assessment of the development of the Bulgarian subsidiary Mobiltel. Thus management’s previous expectation of a medium-term recovery of 

the region is no longer sustainable. Due to a change in the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) of the Bulgarian segment as well as changed 

expectations of the development of the Bulgarian subsidiary Mobiltel an impairment test had to be carried out in June 2014. This resulted in a 

reduction of the value in use of the cash-generating unit Bulgaria and led to a corresponding impairment.  

As of June 2014, WACC used to measure discounted cash flows increased by over 20% versus the last impairment test in the fourth quarter of 

2013. This is the result of a rise in Telekom Austria Group's beta factor (measure of correlation between the performance of a security and the 

market) and an increase in the estimated Country Risk Premium for Bulgaria. On 13 June 2014, the rating agency Standard & Poor's cut its 

sovereign credit rating for Bulgaria from BBB to BBB–, and once more on 12 December 2014 from BBB– to BB+ due to risks related to growth, 

deflation and budget development. 

Due to the decrease in the risk-free interest rate and the inflation spread, the WACC (before taxes) used for the calculation of the value in use 

for the segment Bulgaria decreased from 12.6% – 9.1% in June 2014 to 10.9% in December 2014, the time of the last impairment test. This 

significant decrease in only six months arising from external factors is the main driver of the increase of the value in use by approximately 

TEUR 84,700 and shows the current volatility of WACC parameters.  

Due to the change in weighted average cost of capital (WACC), an impairment of goodwill amounting to TEUR 5,100 relating to the cash-

generating unit Vip operator in Macedonia was recognised in profit or loss, in line item impairment and reversal of impairment in the 

segment Additional Markets in the fourth quarter of 2014. 

The Croatian market is significantly influenced by regulatory impacts and macroeconomic problems that were reflected in expectations for 

the result of the cash-generating unit Croatia. A possible adverse development of these external factors would potentially cause Vipnet’s 

carrying amount to exceed its value in use. At 31 December 2014, Vipnet’s value in use exceeded its carrying amount by only approximately 

TEUR 2,000. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 

business combination. 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

A1 Telekom Austria – Segment Austria 708,211 708,211

     

Mobiltel – Segment Bulgaria 242,691 583,291

     

Vipnet – Segment Croatia 94,473 94,744

     

Si.mobil 136,260 136,260

Vip operator 7,846 0

Total Additional Markets 144,106 136,260

     

Total Goodwill 1,189,481 1,522,506  
The 2013 comparison period was adjusted according to IAS 8 (see Note (1)). 
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The following parameters were used to calculate the value in use:  

  Growth rates perpetual annuity Pre-tax interest rates*
  2014 2013 2014 2013

Segment Austria 0.5% 0.0% 7.5% 8.3%

Segment Bulgaria 1.5% 0.0% 10.9% 8.5% – 10.7%

Segment Croatia 1.0% 0.0% 10.3% 9.3% – 12.2%

Segment Belarus 1.5% 0.0% 33.1% 21.4% – 37.0%

Segment Additional Markets 0.5% – 1.5% 0.0% 10.5% – 15.6% 5.7% – 13.7%   
* Based on a risk-free interest rate, adjusted for market, country and industry-specific risks. As a result of changes due to OePR‘s audit findings, a standard discount rate is 
now used for all planning periods. 

The value in use is set forth in the following table: 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2014 2013

Segment Austria 3,978,016 4,339,900

Segment Bulgaria 775,860 1,171,841

Segment Croatia 180,843 748,300

Segment Belarus 671,640 652,219

Segment Additional Markets 785,184 1,227,601  
 

The value in use was compared with the carrying amount of the cash-generating units (including goodwill). Impairment charges are 

recognised if the carrying amount of the cash-generating units exceeds the value in use.  

Sensitivity analysis 
The use of the following pre-tax interest rates would lead to the carrying amount equalling the value in use at 31 December 2014 and 2013:  

Pre-tax interest rates* 2014 2013

Segment Austria 10.8% 12.9%

Segment Bulgaria 11.6% 9.3% – 10.2%

Segment Croatia 10.4% 21.1% – 23.3% 

Segment Belarus 45.2% 30.9% – 42.5%

Segment Additional Markets 12.2% – 25.1% 14.3% – 22.2%  
* Based on a risk-free interest rate, adjusted for market, country and industry-specific risks. 
In the segment Austria, the sensitivity analysis was only carried out for A1 Telekom Austria. 

With respect to the substantial markets, the following table sets forth the changes in revenues, cost drivers and capital expenditure which 

would lead to the carrying amounts equalling the value in use at 31 December 2014 and 2013: 

2014 Revenues Cost Capital expenditures

Segment Austria – 4.8% 6.8% 25.4%

Segment Bulgaria – 1.3% 1.9% 8.3%

Segment Croatia 0.0% 0.1% 0.4%

Segment Belarus – 7.5% 12.8% 57.8%

2013     

Segment Austria – 5.9% 8.3% 36.8%

Segment Bulgaria – 2.5% 4.3% 16.7%

Segment Croatia – 10.8% 15.5% 89.0%

Segment Belarus – 6.1% 9.5% 44.7%  
In the segment Austria, the sensitivity analysis was only carried out for A1 Telekom Austria. 
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(18) Other Intangible Assets 
The “Table of Other Intangible Assets” provides the components and a reconciliation of the changes in other intangible assets. 

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the line item software comprises internally developed software with a carrying amount of TEUR 24,575 and 

TEUR 32,910, acquisition cost of TEUR 136,803 and TEUR 144,683 and the related accumulated amortisation of TEUR 112,228 and TEUR 111,773, 

respectively. Additions in 2014 and 2013 amounted to TEUR 1,890 and TEUR 5,488, respectively.  

In 2014 and 2013, transfers include reclassifications of advances/construction in progress to tangible and intangible assets.  

In 2014 and 2013, interest capitalised totalled TEUR 8,799 and TEUR 84, respectively. Calculation of capitalised borrowing cost was based on an 

interest rate of 3.125% and 4.3% for the years 2014 and 2013, respectively. Borrowing cost capitalised in 2014 relate to licenses acquired in 

Austria in 2013.  

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, purchase commitments for intangible assets amounted to TEUR 15,163 and TEUR 16,708, respectively. 

Licenses are recorded at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis. The following table sets forth the terms and total cost incurred for each of 

the major license agreements:  

  GSM licenses UMTS licenses LTE licenses

License cost 1,312,248 303,661 567,423

End of the term 2015– 2034 2015– 2027 2015– 2033  
 

Telekom Austria Group holds mobile telecommunication licenses provided by regulatory authorities in Austria, Croatia, Slovenia, Serbia, 

Bulgaria, Belarus and Macedonia.  

On 3 April 2014, the Bulgarian subsidiary Mobiltel prolonged its existing license portfolio of 2 x 11.2 MHz in the 900-MHz spectrum band and 2 

x 10 MHz in the 1800-MHz spectrum band for a total amount of TEUR 30,596. The allocated spectrum remains the same. The spectrum has a 

maturity of 10 years, until 8 June 2024. The terms of the prolongation were set by the Communications Regulation Commission (CRC).  

On 28 April 2014, Si.mobil acquired 2 x 90 MHz of FDD spectrum and 1 x 45 MHz of TDD spectrum at the combinatorial clock auction in 

Slovenia, equivalent to approximately 48% of total auctioned spectrum, for a total consideration of TEUR 63,874. The new 800-MHz spectrum 

and the 2600-MHz spectrum licenses are valid from mid-2014 until mid-2029. The 2100-MHz TDD spectrum license, also valid from mid-2014, 

was granted until September 2021. The 900-MHz and 1800-MHz spectrum license will be valid from January 2016 until January 2031. Si.mobil 

has to cover 95% of the Slovenian population with LTE technology within three years to comply with regulatory coverage obligations as well as 

the objectives of the European digital agenda concerning the coverage of so-called ‘whitespots’.  

On 21 October 2013, A1 Telekom Austria acquired four blocks of the 800 MHz spectrum, three blocks of the 900 MHz spectrum and seven 

blocks of the 1800 MHz spectrum at the Austrian spectrum auction. By official notice of 19 November 2013, the total consideration was set at 

TEUR 1,029,896 and was reported in advances/construction in progress at 31 December 2013. 

The use of the 800 MHz spectrum band started on 1 January 2014 and will expire on 31 December 2029. The license was transferred from the 

item advances/construction in progress to licenses. The 800 MHz spectrum provides an unparalleled position to roll out a leading LTE network 

across Austria. This fully supports Telekom Austria Group’s high value strategy and network quality leadership and allows Telekom Austria 

Group to protect its fixed-line as well as its mobile customer base, in particular in rural areas. 

The blocks in the 900 MHz and the 1800 MHz band were granted until 31 December 2034 for all operators. The blocks in the 900 MHz band 

serve to protect the existing GSM customer base, while the blocks in the 1800 MHz band provide further network capacity on a long-term basis 

to be able to offer modern multimedia services in highest quality. The start of the licensing period depends on the requirements stipulated by 

the official notice, on the current allocation of frequencies and on the other hand on the technical implementation of the intended use, which 

is subject to evaluation on an annual basis. According to the official notice, the use of the 900 MHz band starts on 1 January 2016 and the use of 

the 1800 MHz band will start between 1 January 2016 and 1 January 2020. 
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In October 2013, Vipnet acquired a 2x5 MHz block for a total amount of TEUR 23,110. The license is valid until 18 October 2024. Vipnet has to 

ensure a coverage of 50% of the territory of Croatia within a period of five years which starts once the national regulatory agency has ratified 

the spectrum as usable. 

On 10 July 2013, Vip operator acquired a 10 MHz paired frequency block (in total 20 MHz) of the 800 MHz spectrum and a 15 MHz paired block 

(in total 30 MHz) in the 1800 MHz spectrum for a total amount of TEUR 10,300 in Macedonia. The frequency blocks have a term of 20 years. Vip 

operator has to ensure a coverage of 70% of the population of the Republic of Macedonia within a period of six years beginning with the date 

the blocks were awarded. The acquisition of the frequency blocks of the 800 MHz spectrum will enable Vip operator to provide LTE services. 

In 2013, Si.mobil prolonged frequencies in the 900 MHz spectrum for a consideration of TEUR 3,519 and acquired 2x10 MHz frequency blocks 

in the 1800 MHz spectrum for a total consideration of TEUR 886. The licenses are valid until 2016. 

In 2013, the useful lives of certain items of software in the segment Austria were reduced, which led to an increase in amortisation of 

TEUR 721.  

The following table presents expected amortisation expense related to intangible assets with a finite useful life for each of the following 

periods:  

 2015 291,730

 2016 238,400

 2017 182,671

 2018 145,801

 2019 121,880

Thereafter 1,054,957 
 

The following table presents the changes of the carrying values of brand names by segment:  

in TEUR 
 

Austria Bulgaria Croatia
 

Belarus Additional Markets Total

At 1 January 2013 145,897 245,706 28,996 97,422 4,305 522,327
Acquisitions 22,950 0 0 0 0 22,950

Amortisation –3,333 –1,394 –1,026 0 0 –5,753

Translation adjustment 0 0 –256 0 –19 –275

Hyperinflation adjustment 0 0 0 967 0 967

At 31 December 2013 165,514 244,312 27,714 98,389 4,286 540,215

Acquisitions 0 0 0 0 772 772

Disposals 0 0 0 0 –1,158 –1,158

Amortisation –6,667 –608 –1,019 0 –107 –8,401

Translation adjustment 0 –0 –111 0 20 –91

Hyperinflation adjustment 0 0 0 5,603 0 5,603

At 31 December 2014 158,847 243,704 26,584 103,992 3,813 536,941    
 

Regarding the acquisitions and disposals of brand names see Note (2). 
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Brand names classified as intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment in the fourth quarter of each year in 

accordance with IAS 36, as described in Note (1). If an event or circumstance indicates that an asset may be impaired, impairment tests are 

carried out. Due to the fact that brand names do not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets, the value in 

use can be determined only for the asset’s cash-generating unit. The second step according to IAS 36.107 is to determine whether an 

impairment loss should be recognised based on the total cash-generating unit. 

As Telekom Austria Group does not intend to continue using the brand name “blizoo” acquired in the segment Additional Markets in 2014 (see 

Note (2)), it is amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of three years. The brand name “ONE” acquired in the segment Austria in 2013 

was amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 1.5 years. Furthermore, the brand names acquired in the segments Bulgaria and Croatia 

in 2011 will only be used for a specific period of time and are thus amortised on a straight-line basis. The useful life in Croatia is five years. In 

2012, the useful life in Bulgaria was reduced from six to 3.4 years. 

Brand names were allocated to the following cash-generating units: 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

A1 Telekom Austria 144,910 144,910

Cable Runner 491 491

Paybox Bank 496 496

YESSS! 12,950 12,950

ONE 0 6,667

Total Austria 158,847 165,514
     

Mobiltel 243,704 243,704

Megalan 0 249

Spectrum Net 0 194

Orbitel 0 165

Total Bulgaria 243,704 244,312
     

Vipnet 24,976 25,079

B.net 1,608 2,635

Total Croatia 26,584 27,714

     
velcom 103,992 98,389

Total Belarus 103,992 98,389

     

mobilkom liechtenstein 0 1,138

Si.mobil 3,148 3,148

blizoo 665 0

Total Additional Markets 3,813 4,286
     

Total Brand Names 536,941 540,215
Thereof with indefinite useful live 534,668 530,306  
 

(19) Property, Plant and Equipment  
The “Table of Property, Plant and Equipment” provides the components and a reconciliation of the changes in property, plant and equipment.  

In 2014 and 2013, borrowing cost capitalised totalled TEUR 1,595 and TEUR 1,617, respectively. Calculation of capitalised borrowing cost was 

based on an interest rate of 4.3% in the years 2014 and 2013. 

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the carrying amount of land amounted to TEUR 54,750 and TEUR 55,141, respectively. 

In 2014, Telekom Austria Group reduced the estimated useful lives of certain technical equipment in the segments Austria and Additional 

Markets and in 2013, in Austria and Bulgaria due to the rapid technological progress. The changes resulted in an increase in depreciation of 

TEUR 2,515 and TEUR 2,540 in 2014 and 2013, respectively.  

Government grants totalling TEUR 20,827 and TEUR 432 were deducted from acquisition cost in 2014 and 2013, respectively. 
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The transfers from advances/construction in progress relate to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. Furthermore, assets held 

for sale were reclassified.  

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, purchase commitments for property, plant and equipment amount to TEUR 74,303 and TEUR 55,522, 

respectively. 

Sensitivity analysis 
The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and of intangible assets represent the periods in which the assets are estimated to 

be used by Telekom Austria Group. A change in the useful lives by one year would lead to the following changes in depreciation and 

amortisation.  

in TEUR 2014 2013

Decrease due to extension by one year 160,293 193,097

Increase due to reduction by one year 210,524 257,577  
 

(20) Other Non-current Assets 
in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Finance lease receivables 2,741 9,763

Instalment sales 33,026 6,546

Other financial assets 2,642 3,055

Financial assets 38,409 19,365

Other non-financial assets 9,882 7,137
Other non-current assets, gross 48,291 26,502
Less allowance for financial assets –1,431 –1,258

Other non-current assets 46,859 25,243  
 

For information on finance lease receivables and instalment sales receivables, see Notes (26) and (14). Other non-financial assets mainly 

include prepayments for maintenance agreements, license fees and rent. 

The following table sets forth the ageing and the development of the allowance of long-term finance lease receivables, long-term instalment 

sales receivables and other non-current financial assets: 

  Gross Allowance Gross Allowance
in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2014 2013 2013

Not yet due 38,224 1,247 18,783 677

Past due 0– 90 days 185 185 0 0

More than one year 0 0 581 581

Total 38,409 1,431 19,365 1,258   
 

in TEUR 2014 2013

At 1 January 1,258 195

Foreign currency adjustment –33 0

Reversed –47 0

Charged to expenses 649 890

Amounts written-off –397 0

Reclassification 0 173

At 31 December 1,431 1,258  
 

The reclassification in 2013 relates to the opening balance of the allowance of long-term instalment sales receivables, which were reported in 

the allowance of accounts receivable – trade until 2012 (see Note (9)).  
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(21) Short-term Borrowings 
in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Current portion of long-term debt 247,326 136,551

Accrued interest 93,459 93,720

Short-term debt 28 14

Short-term borrowings 340,813 230,284  
 

For further information regarding the current portion of long-term debt, see Note (25). Accrued interest includes interest on bonds and bank 

debt (see Note (25)). Further funding sources are listed in Note (33). 

(22) Provisions and Accrued Liabilities 

in TEUR 

 
 

Restructuring Employees
Customer

allowances

Asset
retirement
obligation

 
 

Legal Other Total

At 31 December 2013 802,036 89,173 42,063 186,362 17,689 45,401 1,182,724

Additions 68,756 82,373 23,107 2,938 3,843 22,440 203,456

Changes in estimate 61,698 0 0 –4,167 0 0 57,531

Used –93,498 –44,273 –28,196 –767 –787 –15,535 –183,056

Released –65,515 –7,614 –8,440 –774 –481 –2,446 –85,269

Accretion expense 19,081 0 0 6,209 0 0 25,291

Reclassifications* –1,928 7,770 0 0 0 0 5,842

Translation adjustment 0 –97 0 –1,303 –6 –91 –1,498

Changes in reporting entities 0 –89 0 –111 0 –6 –206

At 31 December 2014 790,631 127,241 28,533 188,388 20,258 49,763 1,204,815
           

Thereof long-term          

31 December 2014 679,130 0 0 188,388 0 0 867,518
31 December 2013 694,993 0 0 186,362 0 0 881,355    
* Reclassification to current liabilities and short-term portion of employee benefit obligations.  

In establishing provisions, Management assesses different scenarios of reasonably estimated outcomes to determine the amount that Telekom 

Austria Group is expected to pay upon the resolution of a contingency. Telekom Austria Group records provisions based on the best estimate of 

the expenditure required to settle the present obligation.  

Telekom Austria Group expects that approximately 55% of the provisions and accrued liabilities, with the exception of the asset retirement 

obligation and the provision for restructuring, will be utilised during the following financial year. Even if Telekom Austria Group does not 

expect an outflow of funds in the following financial year, provisions and accrued liabilities are reported as short-term if the timing of such 

outflows cannot be controlled by Telekom Austria Group.  

Restructuring  

In 2008, a comprehensive restructuring programme was initiated in the segment Austria. The provision for restructuring includes future 

compensation of employees, who will no longer provide services for Telekom Austria Group but who cannot be laid off due to their status as 

civil servants. These employment contracts are onerous contracts under IAS 37, as the unavoidable cost related to the contractual obligation 

exceeds the future economic benefit. The restructuring programme also includes social plans for employees whose employments will be 

terminated in a socially responsible way. In 2009, 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014, new social plans were initiated which provide for early 

retirement, special severance packages and golden handshake options. Due to their nature as termination benefits, these social plans are 

accounted for according to IAS 19. At 31 December 2014 and 2013, the corresponding liability amounts to TEUR 761,862 and TEUR 775,474 and 

includes 1,810 and 1,725 employees, respectively.  

The expense recognised related to the increase in the provision is reported in the line item restructuring expenses, while the accretion 

expense is reported in the financial result. A part of the provision was released since a number of employees returned to regular operations, 

were transferred to the government or opted for schemes such as golden handshakes, special severance packages and early retirement to an 

extent not foreseeable at the time of the measurement of the provision in 2013. The changes in estimate are due to adjustments of the discount 

rate and the rate of compensation as well as an adjustment of the employee turnover rate from 27% in 2013 to 23% in 2014. The employee 

turnover rate takes into consideration employees leaving in the future as well as temporary re-employment within Telekom Austria Group 

and is only applicable to the provision for employees permanently leaving the service process and not to provisions for social plans. 
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Furthermore, restructuring includes agreements from 2010 to 2012 concluded with the Austrian government relating to the voluntary transfer 

of civil servants with tenure, whose positions are eliminated due to technological progress, to employment with the government. Civil 

servants of the segment Austria can voluntarily transfer to administrative employment with the government. After a period of six to twelve 

months of public service and subject to a positive performance evaluation, the civil servants have the option to apply for a permanent transfer, 

in which case the right to return to Telekom Austria Group is forfeited. Telekom Austria Group bears the salary expense for these civil servants 

up to 30 June 2016 at the latest. The civil servants are compensated for any shortfall in salary or pension payments. 

In 2013, a new general agreement for the transfer of personnel, replacing previous agreements, was concluded with the Austrian government. 

Employees transferring voluntarily to the government can apply for a permanent transfer after a probation period of six months. During this 

probation period, Telekom Austria Group bears the salary expense. In case of a permanent transfer, Telekom Austria Group has to compensate 

the government for any excess expense arising due to differing professional classifications of work places. Furthermore, compensation 

payments have to be effected to civil servants up to the age of 62. 

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the provision for the transfer of civil servants to the government amounts to TEUR 28,769 and TEUR 26,562 

and comprises 242 and 330 employees, respectively. In addition, Telekom Austria Group recognised a liability for employees transferred to the 

government amounting to TEUR 3,833 and TEUR 7,933 (see Note (23)).  

In 2014 and 2013, the estimated rate of compensation equals the rate used for the calculation of employee benefit obligations (see Note (27)). 

The following table sets forth the interest rates applied. 

  2014 2013

Employees permanently leaving the service process 2.0% 3.5%

Social plans 1.3% 2.0%

Civil servants transferred to the government 1.3% 2.0%  
 

EBITDA was adjusted for restructuring expenses which comprise expenses of the restructuring programme in 2014 and 2013 amounting to 

TEUR 70,713 and TEUR 39,560 respectively, and for TEUR 18,852 and TEUR 5,625 resulting from the transfer of civil servants to the government. 

Sensitivity analysis 
A change of one percentage point in the discount rate respectively in the rate of compensation would lead to the following changes in 

provisions (negative values indicate a reduction in provisions): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2014 
1 percentage point 

increase 
1 percentage point 

decrease

Change in discount rate – 44,148 48,771

Change in rate of compensation 42,008 – 38,899

in TEUR, at 31 December 2013    

Change in discount rate – 39,229 43,187

Change in rate of compensation 37,433 – 34,753  
 

Employees 

The provisions for employees contain unused vacation days, bonuses and the short-term portion of employee benefit obligations for 

severance, service awards and pensions (see also Note (27)).  

In its judgement of 11 November 2014, the European Court of Justice (ECJ) decided that the Austrian law determining the reference date for 

salary increments for Austrian civil servants (this date determines the length of service and thus the date for being advanced into the next 

salary level) is not in conformity with European Union law. Thus Telekom Austria Group recognised a provision for employees in its financial 

statements 2014 relating to the anticipated supplementary payment of salaries for its civil servants. TEUR 30,137 (2013: TEUR 5,129) were 

recorded in employee expenses and TEUR 14,996 in restructuring expense. 
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Customer rebates 

The provision for customer rebates contains rebates earned by customers but not paid as of the reporting date. 

Asset retirement obligation 

Telekom Austria Group records asset retirement obligations for the retirement and decommissioning of wooden masts impregnated with tar 

or salt, base stations, land and buildings including rented premises. 

The asset retirement obligation for masts impregnated with tar or salt is based on estimated settlement dates and expected cash flows. 

Telekom Austria Group operates base stations on land, rooftops and on other premises under various types of rental contracts. In estimating 

the fair value of the retirement obligation for its base stations, Telekom Austria Group has made a range of assumptions such as retirement 

dates, timing and percentage of early cancellations, development of technology and the cost of removing network equipment and remediating 

the sites.  

Additionally, Telekom Austria Group records asset retirement obligations for buildings concerning obligations for the disposal of hazardous 

substances and warfare material as well as the decontamination of land when decommissioning a building. Telekom Austria Group records 

asset retirement obligations for buildings and rented premises under operating leases in accordance with the obligation to refurbish the sites 

at the expiration of the lease contracts. 

Based on a new external expert opinion, the obligation related to the contamination of property upon retirement of a building was adjusted in 

2014. 

In addition, in 2014, the discount rate applied to the calculation of asset retirement obligations was reduced from 3.0% to 2.0%. The discount 

rate used for the calculation is based on the risk-free interest rate of Austrian government bonds with a maturity of 25 years. The inflation rate 

was reduced from 2.5% to 2.0% to reflect current market conditions in the individual countries. The change of these parameters resulted in a 

decrease of the asset retirement obligation and a corresponding decrease in related tangible assets amounting to TEUR 1,198. TEUR 2,969 were 

recognised in other operating income, as the facilities concerned are already fully depreciated. In the segment Belarus, the inflation rate of 

15% and the discount rate of 21% remain unchanged compared to the previous year. In the segment Belarus, higher cost due to inflation led to 

an increase of the asset retirement obligation and a corresponding increase of assets. 

Sensitivity analysis 
A change of one percentage point in the discount rate or in the inflation rate would lead to the following changes in provisions at 31 December 

(negative values indicate a reduction in provisions): 

2014 
1 percentage point 

increase 
1 percentage point 

decrease

Change in discount rate –16,045 25,408

Change in inflation rate 25,773 –17,269

2013    

Change in discount rate –18,771 21,929

Change in inflation rate 22,620 –19,578  
 

Legal 

Provisions mainly relate to expenses incurred in respect of legal advice and litigation. 

Other provisions 

Other provisions mainly relate to audit and consulting fees, commissions, taxes (excluding income taxes), pension contributions, energy and 

penalties.  
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(23) Accounts Payable – Trade and Other Current Liabilities 
At 31 December 2014 and 2013, accounts payable – trade amounting to TEUR 278 and TEUR 779, respectively, have a maturity of more than 

twelve months. These accounts payable relate mainly to financial retentions.  

Other current liabilities consist of the following items: 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Fiscal authorities 63,413 61,544

Social security 9,571 9,475

Employees 17,985 18,877

Long-term incentive program 508 709

Employees – transferred to government 3,833 7,933

Prepayments from customers 7,897 7,784

Government 144 213

Other non-financial liabilities 4,158 4,394

Other current non-financial liabilities 107,509 110,928

Other current financial liabilities 25,194 26,170

Other current liabilities 132,703 137,098  
 

Liabilities due to tax authorities mainly include value-added taxes and payroll taxes.  

Liabilities regarding social security relate to statutory contributions to the social security system. 

Liabilities due to employees mainly relate to salaries payable (including overtime and travel allowances) and one-time termination benefits.  

The liabilities regarding employees – transferred to government include compensation for reductions in salaries, lump sum payments for any 

shortfall in pension payments as well as one-time additional payments payable to the civil servants of Telekom Austria Group (see Note (22)). 

For information on the long-term incentive program, see Note (31). 

In 2014 and 2013, other current financial liabilities include substantially cash deposits received and liabilities arising from customer deposits.  

 

(24) Deferred Income 
in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Unearned income 126,997 119,340

Customer loyalty programmes 36,880 39,794

Deferred income, current portion 163,877 159,134  
 

Unearned income mainly relates to prepaid access fees, monthly base fees, leased lines to commercial customers, prepaid mobile fees and 

rental income from site sharing. These fees are recognised over the period the service is provided.  

According to IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Programmes”, the award credits granted are recognised as deferred income until redeemed or 

forfeited.  
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(25) Long-term Debt 
The terms and conditions of long-term debt and its current portion are summarised in the following table:  

                                                           At 31 December 2014                                                        At 31 December 2013 

Currency Maturity Nominal interest rate Face value
Carrying 
amount Nominal interest rate Face value

Carrying 
amount

Bonds           

TEUR 2017 fixed 4.250% 500,000 498,671 fixed 4.250% 500,000 498,030

TEUR 2016 fixed 6.375% 750,000 748,772 fixed 6.375% 750,000 747,635

TEUR 2022 fixed 4.000% 750,000 741,610 fixed 4.000% 750,000 740,455

TEUR 2023 fixed 3.500% 300,000 297,839 fixed 3.500% 300,000 297,585

TEUR 2021 fixed 3.125% 750,000 742,787 fixed 3.125% 750,000 741,746

Total Bonds   3,050,000 3,029,679    3,050,000 3,025,452
Bank debt           

TEUR 2014– 2019 fixed 4.88% 26,632 26,632 fixed 4.88% 31,958 31,958

TEUR 2015– 2019 fixed 4.32% 126,000 126,000 fixed 4.32% 168,000 168,000

TEUR 2014     0  0 variable 0.76% 75,000 75,000

TEUR 2015 fixed 3.51% 200,000 200,000 fixed 3.51% 200,000 200,000

TEUR 2016 fixed 5.41% 50,000 50,000 fixed 5.41% 50,000 50,000

TEUR 2014– 2017     0 0 fixed 4.22% 23,843 23,843

TEUR 2018 fixed 3.44% 200,000 200,000 fixed 3.44% 200,000 200,000

TEUR 2014– 2020     0 0 variable 1.05% 100,000 100,000

Total bank debt   602,632 602,632    848,801 848,801
Financial debt   3,652,632 3,632,311    3,898,801 3,874,253
Current portion of long-term debt   –247,326 –247,326    –136,551 – 136,551

Long-term debt   3,405,305 3,384,984    3,762,250 3,737,702      
 

Bonds 

In 2003, Telekom Austria Group initiated a Euro Medium Term Note (“EMTN”) Programme. In January 2005, a Eurobond with a face value of 

TEUR 500,000, a maturity of twelve years and a coupon of 4.25% was issued. The discount of TEUR 7,693 is amortised over the related terms. 

The EMTN Programme ended on 31 December 2008, and was not extended.  

On 29 January 2009, Telekom Austria Group issued a Eurobond with a face value of TEUR 750,000, a maturity of seven years and a coupon of 

6.375%. The discount and the issue costs of TEUR 7,965 are amortised over the related term. 

In March 2012, Telekom Austria Group initiated a Euro Medium Term Note (“EMTN”) Programme with a maximum volume of TEUR 2,500,000. 

On 2 April 2012, Telekom Austria Group issued a bond under the EMTN Programme with a face value of TEUR 750,000, a maturity of ten years 

and a coupon of 4.0%. The discount and the issue costs of TEUR 11,575 are amortised over the related term. 

On 4 July 2013, Telekom Austria Group issued a bond under the EMTN Programme with a face value of TEUR 300,000, a maturity of ten years 

and a coupon of 3.5%. Discount and issue costs of TEUR 2,574 are amortised over the related term.  

On 3 December 2013, Telekom Austria Group issued a bond under the EMTN Programme with a face value of TEUR 750,000, a maturity of eight 

years and a coupon of 3.125%. Discount and issue costs of TEUR 8,336 are amortised over the related term.  
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Bank debt 

On 27 June 2014, the shareholders’ agreement between ÖIAG, América Móvil and Carso Telecom became effective (see Note (29)). For debt 

outstanding as of 31 December 2014, an agreement was reached with the creditors that no premature repayment due to the “change of control” 

clause will be demanded.  

In 2014, bank debt amounting to TEUR 119,777 was redeemed prematurely.  

(26) Leases 
Lessee 

Telekom Austria Group leases equipment used in its operations. The leases are classified as operating leases. The operating lease contracts will 

expire on various dates through 2028 and mainly comprise leases of property and vehicles.  

Future minimum lease payments for non-cancellable operating lease contracts as of 31 December 2014 are: 

 in TEUR 
Operating

leases

 2015 53,095

 2016 31,485

 2017 15,535

 2018 11,409

 2019 7,403

After 2019 16,605

Total minimum lease payments 135,532  
 

Lessor 

Telekom Austria Group receives minimum lease payments for non-cancellable operating lease contracts that mainly relate to private 

automatic branch exchange equipment (PABX) and set-top boxes, which are reported in communications network and other equipment in 

property, plant and equipment.  

These payments are recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the terms of the contracts. As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the cost of 

this equipment amounted to TEUR 40,230 and TEUR 41,204, and the carrying amount to TEUR 13,176 and TEUR 11,470, respectively. The future 

minimum lease payments as of 31 December 2014 are as follows:  

 in TEUR Operating leases

 2015 8,147

 2016 5,044

 2017 3,854

 2018 2,855

 2019 1,033

After 2019 5,588

Total minimum lease payments 26,521  
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Telekom Austria Group leases indefeasible rights of use in dark fibre under finance lease contracts, which have a term until 2033. In Bulgaria, 

mobile handsets were leased to customers under finance lease contracts until 31 December 2013. Starting 1 January 2014, the mobile handsets 

are sold on an instalment plan (see Notes (14) and (20)). As of 31 December 2014, the future minimum lease payments for these transactions 

amount to: 

 in TEUR Finance lease

 2015 7,050

 2016 321

 2017 311

 2018 302

 2019 292

After 2019 2,922

Total minimum lease payments 11,198

Less amount representing interest –1,652

Present value of finance lease receivables 9,545

Less current portion –6,805

Non-current finance lease receivables 2,741  
 

The allowance for doubtful finance lease receivables (see Notes (14) and (20)) is as follows: 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Allowance finance lease receivables, long-term 0 333

Allowance finance lease receivables, short-term 323 939

Allowance at the end of the year 323 1,272  
 

(27) Employee Benefit Obligations  
in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Service awards 71,893 64,373

Severance 121,588 92,934

Pensions 6,812 6,138

Other 622 887

Long-term employee benefit obligations 200,916 164,332  
 

Actuarial assumptions 

The actuarial assumptions used to measure the obligations for service awards, severance payments and pensions are as follows:  

  2014 2013

Discount rate 2.0% 3.5%

Rate of compensation increase – civil servants 5.5% 5.5%

Rate of compensation increase – other employees 3.1% 3.1%

Rate of compensation increase – civil servants released from work 4.5% 5.0%

Rate of increase of pensions 1.6% 1.6%

Employee turnover rate* 0.0%– 2.01% 0.0%– 2.14%  
* Depending on years of service. 

As last year, the determination of the discount rate is based on the Mercer Yield Curve Approach taking into account the respective maturities.  
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Life expectancy in Austria is based on “AVÖ 2008-P – Rechnungsgrundlagen für die Pensionsversicherung – Pagler & Pagler“. The obligation 

relating to the international subsidiaries was measured by the same actuarial basis due to their insignificant amount. 

Service awards 

Civil servants and certain employees (together “employees”) are eligible to receive service awards. Under these plans, eligible employees 

receive a cash bonus of two months’ salary after 25 years of service and four months’ salary after 40 years of service. Employees with at least 

35 years of service when retiring (at the age of 65) or who are retiring based on a specific legal regulation are eligible to receive four monthly 

salaries. The compensation is accrued as earned over the period of service, taking into account the employee turnover rate.  

The following table provides the components and a reconciliation of the changes in the provisions for service awards: 

in TEUR 2014 2013

At 1 January 70,652 71,825

Service cost 2,328 2,731

Interest cost 2,379 2,444

Actuarial gain/loss based on experience adjustment 635 –1,159

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in demographic assumptions –5 93

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in financial assumptions 7,444 0

Recognised in profit or loss 12,780 4,109

Benefits paid –5,940 –5,280

Foreign currency adjustments –1 –2

Other –5,941 –5,282

Obligation at 31 December 77,491 70,652
Less short-term portion –5,598 –6,280

Non-current obligation 71,893 64,373  
 

Of the defined benefit obligations for service awards, less than 1% relate to foreign subsidiaries as of 31 December 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the weighted average duration of the obligation for service awards amounted to 7.3 and 7.1 years, respectively. 

Severance 

Employees starting to work for Telekom Austria Group in Austria on or after 1 January 2003 are covered by a defined contribution plan. 

Telekom Austria Group paid TEUR 1,917 and TEUR 1,776 (1.53% of the salary) into this defined contribution plan (BAWAG Allianz 

Mitarbeitervorsorgekasse AG) in 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

Severance benefit obligations for employees hired before 1 January 2003 are covered by defined benefit plans. Upon termination by Telekom 

Austria Group or retirement, eligible employees receive severance payments equal to a multiple of their monthly compensation which 

comprises fixed compensation plus variable elements such as overtime or bonuses. Maximum severance is equal to a multiple of twelve times 

the eligible monthly compensation. Up to three months of benefits are paid upon termination, with any benefit in excess of that amount being 

paid in monthly instalments over a period not exceeding ten months. In case of death, the heirs of eligible employees receive 50% of the 

severance benefits.  
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The following table provides a detailed reconciliation of the changes in severance benefit obligations: 

in TEUR 2014 2013

At 1 January 94,170 90,740

Service cost 4,864 5,230

Interest cost 3,240 3,138

Included in Profit or Loss 8,104 8,368

Actuarial gain/loss based on experience adjustment 129 –533

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in demographic assumptions –1,807 –1,263

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in financial assumptions 26,688 415

Recognised in other comprehensive income 25,011 –1,381

Benefits paid –4,175 –3,561

Change in reporting entities 0 7

Foreign currency adjustments –18 –3

Other –4,193 –3,557
Obligation at 31 December 123,091 94,170

Less short-term portion –1,503 –1,236

Non-current obligation 121,588 92,934  
 

Approximately 3% of the defined benefit obligations for severance relate to foreign subsidiaries as of 31 December 2014 and 2013.  

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the weighted average duration of the severance benefit obligations was 16.7 and 16.3 years, respectively. 

Pensions 

Defined contribution pension plans  
In Austria, pension benefits generally are provided by the social security system for employees and by the government for civil servants. 

Telekom Austria Group is required to assist in funding the Austrian government’s pension and health care obligations to Telekom Austria 

Group’s current and former civil servants and their surviving dependents. In 2014 and 2013, the rate of contribution for active civil servants 

amounted to a maximum of 28.3% depending on the age of the civil servant. 15.75% are borne by Telekom Austria Group and the remaining 

portion is contributed by the civil servants. Contributions to the government, net of the share contributed by civil servants, amounted to 

TEUR 42,281 and TEUR 43,221 in 2014 and 2013, respectively.  

Additionally, Telekom Austria Group sponsors a defined contribution plan for employees of some of its Austrian subsidiaries. Telekom Austria 

Group’s contributions to this plan are based on a percentage of the compensation not exceeding 5%. The annual expenses for this plan 

amounted to TEUR 13,283 and TEUR 12,911 in 2014 and 2013, respectively.  

Defined benefit pension plans 
Telekom Austria Group provides defined benefits for certain former employees in Austria. All such employees are retired and were employed 

prior to 1 January 1975. This unfunded plan provides benefits based on a percentage of salary and years employed, not exceeding 80% of the 

salary before retirement, and taking into consideration the pension provided by the social security system. 

Other 

Other employee benefit obligations relate substantially to a retention loyalty programme for key players in Bulgaria. 
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The following table provides a detailed reconciliation of the changes in pension benefit obligations: 

in TEUR 2014 2013

At 1 January 6,836 7,296

Interest cost 227 242

Recognised in profit or loss 227 242

Actuarial gain/loss based on experience adjustment 205 15

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in financial assumptions 909 0

Recognised in other comprehensive income 1,114 15
Benefits paid –683 –717

Obligation at 31 December 7,494 6,836

Less short-term portion –681 –697

Non-current obligation 6,812 6,138  
 

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the weighted average duration of the pension benefit obligations was 9.6 and 8.1 years, respectively. 

Sensitivity analysis 

The following table summarises the short- and long-term provisions recorded: 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2014 2013

Service awards 77,491 70,652

Severance 123,091 94,170

Pensions 7,494 6,836  
 

A change in the discount rate of half a percentage point would lead to the following changes in provisions (negative values indicate a 

reduction in provisions): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2014 
0.5 percentage points 

decrease 
0.5 percentage points 

increase

Service awards 2,878 – 2,727

Severance 10,888 – 9,817

Pensions 357 – 328

in TEUR, at 31 December 2013    

Service awards 2,677 – 2,404

Severance 8,125 – 7,321

Pensions 294 – 272  
 

A change in the rate of compensation of one percentage point would lead to the following changes in provisions (negative values indicate a 

reduction in provisions): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2014 
1 percentage point 

decrease 
1 percentage point 

increase

Service awards – 5,174 5,635

Severance – 18,647 22,448

Pensions – 638 742

in TEUR, at 31 December 2013    

Service awards – 4,681 5,255

Severance – 14,109 16,998

Pensions – 509 586  
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A change in the employee turnover rate of half a percentage point would lead to the following changes in provisions (negative values indicate a 

reduction in provisions): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2014 
0.5 percentage points 

decrease 
0.5 percentage points 

increase

Service awards 74 – 2,846

Severance 3,547 – 5,704

in TEUR, at 31 December 2013    

Service awards 149 – 2,542

Severance 944 – 3,857  
No employee turnover rate is applied to the calculation of the provision for pensions as all eligible employees are already retired. 

(28) Other Non-current Liabilities and Deferred Income 
in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Other non-current financial liabilities 969               942 
     

Long-term incentive program 1,317 1,083

Other liabilities 0 0

Deferred income, other 14,309          14,416 

Other non-current non-financial liabilities 15,626          15,499 

     
Other non-current liabilities and deferred income 16,595          16,441   
 

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, other non-current financial liabilities consist mainly of cash deposits received.  

Regarding the long-term incentive program see Note (31). Other deferred income mainly relates to rental revenue. 

(29) Stockholders’ Equity  
Capital management 

The capital structure of Telekom Austria Group consists of financial liabilities and equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent 

company, comprising common stock, treasury shares, additional paid-in capital, hybrid capital, retained earnings, available-for-sale reserve, 

hedging reserve and translation reserve.  

Telekom Austria Group actively manages its capital structure to ensure going concern of all its subsidiaries while maximising the return to 

shareholders through the optimisation of the equity and liability structures of its entities.  

Maintaining its investment grade rating of Baa2 (outlook stable) by Moody’s and BBB (outlook stable) by Standard & Poor’s is the number one 

priority of Telekom Austria Group’s finance strategy. This will allow Telekom Austria Group to obtain the financial flexibility required for 

strategically important projects. A transparent dividend policy ensures the balance between shareholder remuneration and the utilisation of 

cash to redeem outstanding debt.  

Safeguarding its strong capital base is key to Telekom Austria Group in order to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence as well as to 

provide sustainable support to the future operational development of the business.  

Share capital  

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the common stock of Telekom Austria AG amounts to TEUR 1,449,275 and TEUR 966,183, respectively, and is 

divided into 664.5 million and 443 million bearer shares with no par value. As of 31 December 2014, América Móvil directly and indirectly 

holds 59.70%, ÖIAG holds a stake of 28.42%, and the free floated shares including treasury shares amount to 11.88%. As of 31 December 2013, 

ÖIAG held a stake of 28.42%, América Móvil directly and indirectly held 23.67%, and the free floated shares including treasury shares 

amounted to 47.91%. 
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With resolution of the Extraordinary General Meeting of Telekom Austria AG on 14 August 2014 pursuant to section 169 of the Austrian Stock 

Corporation Act, the Management Board is authorised within five years of registration of the relevant amendment to the Articles of 

Association in the commercial register, with the consent by the Supervisory Board, to increase Telekom Austria AG’s share capital by a nominal 

maximum amount of up to TEUR 483,092 by issuing up to 221.5 million bearer shares against cash contribution. The net issue proceeds (the 

total proceeds from the issue less any external costs resulting from the issue which are to be borne by Telekom Austria AG) for Telekom 

Austria AG must not exceed TEUR 1,000,000. On 27 November 2014, the capital increase was completed to the full extent of 221.5 million 

shares at a price of Euro 4.57 per new share, which resulted in proceeds of the transaction of TEUR 1,012,778. The share capital was increased by 

TEUR 483,092 and the additional paid-in capital by TEUR 529,686. Transaction cost, accounted for as a deduction from additional paid-in 

capital, amount to TEUR 16,208, the respective tax benefit of TEUR 4,052 was recorded in additional paid-in capital as well. 

On 23 April 2014, ÖIAG entered into a shareholders' agreement, effective since 27 June 2014, with Carso Telecom B.V., Netherlands ("Carso 

Telecom") and América Móvil, by which the parties have contractually undertaken to jointly pursue a long-term policy with regard to the 

management of Telekom Austria Group, by exercising voting rights on a concerted basis ("Syndicate Agreement"). Furthermore, the Syndicate 

Agreement contains rules on the uniform exercise of voting rights in the corporate bodies of Telekom Austria, nomination rights for members 

of the Supervisory and Management Boards and share transfer restrictions. The Supervisory Board of Telekom Austria will consist of ten 

shareholder representatives, eight of which will be nominated by Carso Telecom and two will be nominated by ÖIAG. ÖIAG will have the right 

to nominate the chairman of the Supervisory Board. Carso Telecom will nominate the deputy chairman. The Management Board will consist of 

three members, two of which will be nominated by Carso Telecom while one Management Board member, namely the Chief Executive Officer 

(CEO) will be nominated by ÖIAG. In the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of 14 August 2014 the Articles of Association of Telekom Austria 

were amended: As long as the Republic of Austria directly or indirectly holds at least 25% plus one share in the registered share capital, 

resolutions on capital increases and on the issuance of instruments which contain a conversion right or a conversion obligation into shares of 

Telekom Austria Group as well as changes to this provision of the Articles of Association shall require a majority of at least three quarters of 

the share capital present at the vote. 

On 15 May 2014, Carso Telecom, which is controlled by América Móvil, published a voluntary public takeover offer for all shares of Telekom 

Austria AG ("Offer"). On 17 July 2014, at the end of the Offer period, América Móvil held in total 50.81% of the share capital of Telekom Austria 

Group, while ÖIAG continued to hold 28.42%. The Syndicate Agreement currently covers 351.0 million shares of Telekom Austria, which 

equates to a shareholding of 79.23%. During the three months’ additional acceptance (“sell-out”) period, which ended on 16 October, 

shareholders were able to tender their shares to Carso Telecom under the Offer conditions. During this extended period, Carso Telecom 

acquired another 38.4 million shares of Telekom Austria AG, which equates to a shareholding of approximately 8.68%.  

The numbers of authorised, issued and outstanding shares and shares in treasury are presented below: 

At 31 December 2014 2013

Shares authorised 664,500,000 443,000,000

Shares issued 664,500,000 443,000,000

Shares in treasury –415,159 –415,159

Shares outstanding 664,084,841 442,584,841  
The shares issued are fully paid. 

The following table provides the development of shares outstanding: 

  2014 2013

Outstanding as of 1 January 442,584,841 442,563,969

Capital increase 221,500,000 0

Transfer of treasury shares 0  20,872

Outstanding as of 31 December 664,084,841 442,584,841  
In 2013, treasury shares were transferred to a board member. 
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Dividend payment 

The following dividends were approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and paid by Telekom Austria AG: 

  2014 2013

Date of Annual General Meeting 28 May 2014 29 May 2013

Dividend per share in Euro 0.05 0.05

Total dividend paid in TEUR 22,129 22,128

Date of payment 6 June 2014 5 June 2013  
 

In 2014, the net loss of Telekom Austria AG according to Austrian GAAP amounts to TEUR 1,147,123, while in 2013, the net income of Telekom 

Austria AG according to Austrian GAAP amounted to TEUR 64,618. In 2014, an amount of TEUR 1,180,210 was released from reserves reported 

in retained earnings for the year ended 31 December 2014, and in 2013, an amount of TEUR 42,500 was allocated to reserves reported in 

retained earnings. These transfers resulted in unappropriated retained earnings of TEUR 33,205 and TEUR 22,247 as of 31 December 2014 and 

2013, respectively. The Management Board and Supervisory Board plan to propose to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to 

distribute a dividend of Euro 0.05 per share from unappropriated retained earnings. 

Treasury shares 

At the Annual General Meeting of Telekom Austria AG held on 29 May 2013, the Management Board was authorised to acquire treasury shares 

for a period of 18 months until November 2014 up to the maximum of 5% of the share capital at a minimum price of Euro 5 and at a maximum 

price of Euro 15 per share. Additionally, the Management Board was empowered to:  

(a) use these treasury shares to settle obligations under the share-based compensation plans described in Note (31) and/or to transfer them for 

or without a consideration to employees, managers and members of the Management Board/management of Telekom Austria AG and of its 

affiliated companies;  

(b) use them as consideration for acquisitions, or  

(c) sell treasury shares at any time via the stock exchange or by public offer for a period of five years from the day of the resolution in any 

manner permitted by law, also other than via the stock exchange, whereby the Management Board is entitled to exclude the general purchase 

opportunity. 

Shares held in treasury as of 31 December 2014 2013

Number of treasury shares 415,159 415,159

Average price per share in Euro           18.80            18.80 

Deduction in equity (in TEUR) 7,803 7,803  
 

Additional paid-in capital 

The additional paid-in capital results from the incorporation of Telekom Austria Group as well as subsequent reorganisation of the group. 

Furthermore, effects relating to the employee participation plan and the retirement of treasury shares are reported in additional paid-in capital. 

In 2014, the increase of TEUR 517,530 is due to the capital increase described above. 

Hybrid capital 

On 24 January 2013, Telekom Austria Group issued a hybrid bond with a volume of TEUR 600,000. The hybrid bond is a subordinated bond 

with indefinite maturity which is, based on its conditions, classified as stockholders’ equity according to IFRS. Accordingly, related discount 

and issue cost in the amount of TEUR 11,752 were recorded net of a tax benefit of TEUR 2,938 in stockholders’ equity. Therefore stockholders’ 

equity was increased by TEUR 591,186. The bond can be redeemed at par at the earliest after a period of five years. Additionally, Telekom 

Austria AG has an early termination right subject to certain conditions. The annual coupon amounts to 5.625% until the first reset date, 

1 February 2018. Subsequently there will be a reset date every five years. The coupon is established two days prior to the respective reset dates. 

Coupon payments of TEUR 33,750 effected in February 2014 is recognised as distribution of dividends in stockholders’ equity.  

In the local financial statements, coupon payments are recognised as interest expense in profit or loss according to Austrian GAAP. While the 

tax benefit resulting from the accrued interest is recognised in profit or loss according to local GAAP, it is recognised in stockholders’ equity as 

“distribution of dividend” in the Consolidated Financial Statements according to IAS 12. The net result attributable to hybrid capital holders is 

presented in the consolidated statements of profit or loss in the allocation of the net result and equals interest recognised in profit or loss 

according to local GAAP in 2014 and 2013 amounting to TEUR 33,750 and TEUR 30,971, respectively, net of the relating tax benefit of TEUR 8,438 

and TEUR 7,698, which is recognised in stockholders’ equity in 2014 and 2013. 
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Earnings per share 

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013 are calculated as follows: 

  2014 2013

Net result attributable to owners of the parent (in TEUR) –210,900 28,977

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 461,296,913 442,570,851

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in Euro) –0.46 0.07  
 

According to IAS 33.12, the after-tax dividend on the hybrid capital is deducted from the net result attributable to owners of the parent, since 

the hybrid capital represents equity but does not constitute net result attributable to owners of the parent. 

Due to Management’s decision to settle all share-based compensation plans in cash, no related dilutive effect occurred as of 31 December 2014 

and 2013.  

Reserve for available-for-sale marketable securities, hedging reserve and translation adjustment 

The development of the reserve for available-for-sale marketable securities and the hedging reserve as well as the translation adjustment are 

presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income and consolidated statements of changes in stockholders’ equity. The 

foreign currency translation adjustment mainly relates to the consolidation of velcom in Belarus and Vip mobile in Serbia. The translation 

adjustment as of 31 December 2014 and 2013 relating to the consolidation of Vip mobile amounts to TEUR 147,821 and TEUR 132,739, 

respectively. Due to the application of IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” to the subsidiaries in Belarus since 2011, 

the relating translation adjustment of TEUR 302,063 as of 1 January 2011 remains unchanged.  

(30) Income Taxes  
Income tax expense (benefit) attributable to income before income taxes consists of the following: 

in TEUR 2014 2013

Current income tax 43,107 50,604

Deferred income tax – 41,826 22,507

Income taxes 1,281 73,111  
 

The table below provides information about the allocation of total income tax in the Consolidated Financial Statements: 

in TEUR 2014 2013

Continuing operations 1,281 73,111

Other comprehensive income – 4,974 2,713

Tax benefit relating to hybrid capital* – 8,438 – 10,636

Tax benefit relating to capital increase* – 4,052 0

Total income taxes – 16,183 65,188  
* See Note (29). 
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The following table shows the major reconciling items between the reported income taxes and the amount of income taxes that would have 

resulted by applying the Austrian statutory income tax rate of 25% to pre-tax income: 

in TEUR 2014 2013

Income tax expense (benefit) at statutory rate – 46,029 31,310

Foreign tax rate differential 33,091 – 10,582

Tax-non-deductible expenses 9,876 6,192

Tax incentives and tax-exempted income – 10,428 – 4,803

Tax-free income (loss) from investments – 180 – 444

Change in tax rate 0 – 2

Tax expense previous years 6,854 6,322

Deferred tax assets not recognised  184,739 21,123

Impairments (reversals of impairments) of investments in subsidiaries and other intragroup transactions – 201,109 26,791

Impairment of goodwill 30,821 0

Result from changes in reporting entities – 6,870 – 1,141

Other 517 – 1,654

Income taxes 1,282 73,111

Effective income tax rate – 0.70% 58.38%  
 

In 2014 and 2013, non-deductible expenses mainly consist of withholding taxes on dividends and representation expenses as well as in 2014, 

non-deductible remuneration of managers in Austria. Tax incentives and tax-exempted income in 2014 relate mainly to investment incentives 

in Slovenia and to group taxation in Austria. In 2013, they relate mainly to a tax incentive in Belarus, which allows for the tax-neutral 

revaluation of carrying amounts of property plant and equipment for tax purposes in order to increase the future basis of depreciation. 

Furthermore, research, education and investment incentives as well as other government grants are included. 

In 2013, the effect of the change in tax rates resulted from the reduction in the corporate income tax rate in Slovakia. The aggregated corporate 

income tax rate was reduced from 23% to 22% at the beginning of 2014.  

The tax expense for prior periods recognised in 2014 and 2013 results mainly from the application of financial reporting in hyperinflationary 

economies in accordance with IAS 29 in Belarus.  

In 2014, the impairment of goodwill mainly relates to the effect of the impairment in the segment Bulgaria amounting to TEUR 34,060 as well 

as the relating deferred tax gain of TEUR 3,749 from the release of a deferred tax liability on goodwill which was tax deductible in Bulgaria until 

2006. In 2013, the tax effect of the impairment amounted to TEUR 5,940, which was offset by the release of the related deferred tax liability. 

The corporate tax rate in Bulgaria amounts to 10%, the difference to the Austrian statutory tax rate of 25% is reported in the foreign tax rate 

differential. 

The result from changes in reporting entities in 2014 relates to the gain resulting from the merger of mobilkom liechtenstein (see Note (2)). In 

2013, the result from changes in reporting entities comprises the gain resulting from a bargain purchase and the loss from the sale of a 

subsidiary. 

Impairments (reversals of impairments) of investments relate to write-downs and reversals of write-downs of investments in affiliated 

companies in Austria, which are recognised over a period of seven years for tax purposes and for which deferred tax is calculated (according to 

the respective guidance in “Effects of tax write-downs according to section 12/3/2 of the Austrian Corporate Tax Act on the accounting of 

income taxes according to IAS 12 in consolidated or single IFRS financial statements” issued by the Austrian Financial Reporting and Auditing 

Committee).  
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities are set out below: 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2014 2013

Deferred tax assets    

Deferred deduction for impairments of investments in subsidiaries 149,355 75,801

Loss carry-forwards 8,517 47,567

Accounts receivable – trade 6,463 8,962

Deferred income and other liabilities 715 665

Other current assets and prepaid expenses 849 1,378

Provisions, long-term 66,721 57,887

Employee benefit obligations 28,179 19,808

Property, plant and equipment 1,463 1,708

Other 9,765 8,931

Deferred tax assets 272,026 222,707
     

Deferred tax liabilities    

Goodwill 0 – 3,749

Property, plant and equipment – 30,375 – 25,969

Other intangible assets – 154,741 – 160,871

Provisions   – 3,915 – 3,838

Write down of treasury shares for tax purposes – 1,380 – 1,380

Other – 1,525 – 3,218

Deferred tax liabilities – 191,935 – 199,024  
 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2014 2013

Deferred tax assets 170,895 123,006

Deferred tax liabilities – 90,804 – 99,324

Deferred taxes, net 80,091 23,683  
 

In Austria, Telekom Austria Group established a tax group according to section 9 of the Austria Corporate Tax Act, with Telekom Austria AG as 

the head of the tax group. Deferred tax assets and liabilities for the members of the tax group (currently all significant Austrian subsidiaries) 

are reported on a net basis since the tax group is a taxable entity. 

Impairments for tax purposes according to section 9/7 of the Austrian Corporate Tax Act are treated as temporary differences related to 

investments in subsidiaries. According to IAS 12.39, no deferred tax liabilities are recorded in that case. Impairments of investments in 

subsidiaries relate to impairments for which the recognition of expense is deferred over seven years according to Austrian tax law. 

The following deferred tax assets were not recognised as the realisation in the near future is not probable according to tax planning.  

in TEUR, at 31 December 2014 2013

Net operating loss carry-forwards 576,323 393,163

Temporary differences related to impairments of investments in consolidated subsidiaries 341,371 113,960

Deferred tax assets not recognised 917,695 507,123    
 

In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, Management considers whether it is probable that all deferred tax assets will be realised. 

The realisation of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which these temporary 

differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled release of deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable income 

when making this assessment.  

  

cons ol i DAt e D F i nA nc i A l s tAt e M e n t s

89AnnuAl FinAnciAl Rep oR t 2 014  t elekom Aus t RiA GRoup



 

 

CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I NAN C I AL  STAT E M E N TS   

 

 90 TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP  ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2014  

    

Based on long-term positive operative results and projections for future taxable income over the periods in which deferred tax assets become 

deductible Management believes that in spite of taxable losses in the past it is probable that Telekom Austria Group will realise the benefits of 

the deferred tax assets recognised in the statements of financial position.   

At 31 December 2014, Telekom Austria Group had TEUR 2,714,418 of operating loss carry-forwards. The following loss carry-forwards mainly 

relating to Serbia will expire in the following years: 

Year in TEUR

2015 84,675

2016 2,765

2017 89,503

2018 105,098

2019 119,356

Total 401,397  
 

The remaining net operating loss carry-forwards mainly relate to companies located in Austria and can be carried forward indefinitely. In 

Austria, the annual usage is generally limited to 75% of the taxable income for a year.  

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, Telekom Austria Group did not recognise a deferred tax liability for temporary differences related to 

investments in associates in the amount of TEUR 28,003 and TEUR 1,578, respectively.  

Income tax receivables relate to fiscal years not yet assessed. As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, income tax receivable mainly relates to Austrian 

and Croatian subsidiaries. As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, income tax payable mainly relates to foreign subsidiaries.  

(31) Share-based Compensation  
Long Term Incentive (LTI) Program  

Telekom Austria Group introduced a Long Term Incentive Program (LTI) in 2010. Participants are required to invest an amount depending on 

the annual gross basic salaries and the management-level of the entitled employee in Telekom Austria shares and to hold these shares until 

the end of the holding period (at least three years). For each tranche, the number of shares granted is calculated based on the average Telekom 

Austria stock price for a defined period. The performance period for meeting the performance targets was determined to be three years. 

On 1 June 2011 the second tranche (LTI 2011) and on 1 August 2012 the third tranche (LTI 2012) were granted. Free cash flow, total shareholder 

return and EBITDA were defined as key performance indicators. The target values for these key indicators were determined by the Supervisory 

Board at the beginning of each tranche. At the vesting date (at the earliest three years after the grant date), bonus shares will be allocated to the 

participants and will be settled in cash. If the targets are fully met, bonus shares equal to the personal investment will be allocated to the 

participants. If the targets are exceeded, additional shares will be allocated up to a maximum of 175% of the shares on a pro rata basis. In case 

of a significant underperformance, no shares will be allocated. For LTI 2011, the actual performance and the bonus shares allocated are 

summarised in the subsequent table. 

On 1 September 2013, the fourth tranche (LTI 2013) and on 1 July 2014, the fifth tranche (LTI 2014) were granted. Net income, relative total 

shareholder return and EBITDA were defined as key performance indicators. The relative total shareholder return is determined based on a 

balanced peer group of nine European telecommunications providers. The target values for these key indicators were determined by the 

Supervisory Board. At the vesting date (at the earliest three years after the grant date), bonus shares will be allocated to the participants and 

will be settled in cash. If the targets are fully met, bonus shares equal to the double personal investment will be allocated to the participants. If 

the targets are exceeded, additional shares will be allocated up to a maximum of 175% of the shares on a pro rata basis. In case of a significant 

underperformance, no shares will be allocated. 
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The following table summarises the significant terms and conditions for each tranche not yet settled:  

  LTI 2014 LTI 2013 LTI 2012 LTI 2011

Start of the programme 1 January 2014 1 January 2013 1 January 2012 1 January 2011

Grant date  1 July 2014 1 September 2013 1 August 2012 1 June 2011

End of vesting period 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Vesting date 1 July 2017 1 September 2016 1 August 2015 1 June 2014

       

Personal investment (at grant date) 299,239 343,738 510,986 527,094

   Thereof Management Board**** 75,671 73,977 59,674 51,348

Personal investment (at reporting date)* 297,739 292,123 399,658 443,786

Expected performance** 49.70% 40.10% 17.70% 28.00%

Expected bonus shares*** 292,985 216,693 70,739 0

Maximum bonus shares*** 1,042,085 1,022,429 699,401 0

Fair value of programme (in TEUR) 1,562 1,181 405 0

Allocated bonus shares 0 0 0 124,260

Average stock price at end of vesting period (in EUR) 0 0 0                                 6.04 

Share-based compensation (in TEUR) 0 0 0 750   
* For LTI 2011 personal investment at the end of the vesting period. 
** For LTI 2011 actual performance at the end of the vesting period. 
*** Taking into account the allocation of bonus shares equal to the double personal investment for LTI 2014 and 2013. 
**** Including the personal investment of Hans Tschuden for all tranches. LTI 2014 including the personal investment of Siegfried Mayrhofer (see Note (35)). 

 

As of the reporting date, a liability measured at fair value for the portion of the expected future expense of the LTI program, which has already 

vested, is recognised. The fair value of the liability is measured based on the expected target achievement and the expected share price, as 

determined by applying a binomial calculation model generally used for share price analysis, taking into account expected dividends. The 

liability is recognised over the vesting period (see Notes (23) and (28)). The following personnel expense is recognised in profit or loss 

(negative values indicate income):  

in TEUR 2014 2013

LTI 2010 0 –549

LTI 2011 –20 –370

LTI 2012 149 –260

LTI 2013 7 801

LTI 2014 526 0

Expense 662 –378  
 

Sensitivity analysis 
A change of one Euro in the average stock price expected at the end of the vesting period would result in the following changes in fair values 

(negative values indicate a reduction): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 1 EUR increase 1 EUR decrease

Fair value of LTI 2013  217 – 217

Fair value of LTI 2014 293 – 293  
 

A change of five percentage points in the EBITDA applied would result in the following changes of fair values (negative values indicate a 

reduction):  

in TEUR, at 31 December 
5 percentage points 

increase 
5 percentage points 

decrease

Fair value of LTI 2013  309 – 188

Fair value of LTI 2014 374 – 701  
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(32) Cash Flow Statement 
The following is a summary of supplemental cash flow information: 

in TEUR 2014 2013

Cash paid for    

Interest 162,783 227,745

Income taxes 50,540 46,093

     

Cash received for    
Interest 12,326 8,178  
 

Cash flows relating to interest and income taxes are reported in the cash flow from operating activities. The dividends received in 2014 and 

2013 (see Note (7)) had already been settled in cash as of 31 December. In 2014 and 2013, dividends paid include dividends paid to the non-

controlling interests of Cable Runner Austria GmbH & Co. KG in the amount of TEUR 84 and TEUR 24, respectively (see Note (38)). 

In 2014, the item “Other”, which is part of the reconciliation of net result to gross cash flow, amounts to TEUR 39,649 and consists mainly of 

the non-cash gain on the merger of mobilkom liechtenstein amounting to TEUR 26,785 (see Note (2)), the decrease in revenues due to the 

change in estimate amounting to TEUR 47,505 (see Note (9)), interest expense on the reversal of the hedging reserve (see Note (33)) as well as 

non-cash changes in provisions (see Note (22)). In 2013, the item “Other” amounted to TEUR 14,090 and mainly consisted of interest resulting 

from the settlement of the pre-hedges and the relating reversal of the hedging reserve (see Note (33)).  

In 2014 and 2013, cash and cash equivalents acquired totalled TEUR 325 and TEUR 14,855, respectively, and cash and cash equivalents of 

TEUR 4,458 and TEUR 110, respectively, were disposed of due to the sale of subsidiaries (see Note (2)).  

(33) Financial Instruments 
Financial risk management 

Overview 
Telekom Austria Group is exposed to market risks, including liquidity risk, interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risk and credit risk 

associated with underlying financial assets, liabilities and anticipated transactions. Potential risks relating to interest rate and foreign 

exchange rate fluctuations can be limited by entering into derivative financial instruments. These policies are laid down in the Treasury 

Guidelines. Telekom Austria Group neither holds nor issues derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.  

This Note presents information about Telekom Austria Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, as well as the objectives, policies and 

the processes for limiting and measuring these risks.  

The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of the holding company has overall responsibility for the implementation and oversight of Telekom Austria 

Group’s risk management and is responsible for monitoring Telekom Austria Group’s risk management process.  

Telekom Austria Group’s risk management policies are established in order to identify and analyse the risks faced by Telekom Austria Group, to 

set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are regularly 

reviewed to reflect changes in market conditions and Telekom Austria Group’s activities. Telekom Austria Group aims to develop a disciplined 

and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that Telekom Austria Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Telekom Austria Group’s 

approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that Telekom Austria Group will always have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due, 

under both normal and stressed conditions. Furthermore, all measures required to assure sufficient liquidity for the needs according to the 

liquidity plan shall be taken. The liquidity risk expresses itself in the monthly and yearly cumulated difference between incoming and 

outgoing payments (dynamic liquidity risk) as well as in the structure of the statements of financial position (structural liquidity risk). 
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The analysis of the dynamic liquidity risk is conducted by means of liquidity planning. The given monthly liquidity requirement based on the 

forecasted liquidity planning is compared against the existing financing or available lines of credit and liquid financial assets. The difference 

between the two will result in either a liquidity gap, which will be financed, or excess liquidity, which, if necessary, will be invested. On the 

basis of the existing business plan, a rolling monthly liquidity plan is drawn up for Telekom Austria Group. In the liquidity plan, all known 

incoming and outgoing payments are processed and a worst-case scenario is calculated. 

An analysis of the structural liquidity risk takes place upon determining the net working capital and the redemption structure of the 

financing portfolio (risk of concentration of maturities). Individual investment financing is structured in such a way that a balanced 

redemption schedule can be adhered to in the aggregate portfolio and any concentration of maturities in a single year is avoided. 

Telekom Austria Group invests excess liquidity in instruments with counterparties and within limits approved by the CFO. All long-term 

instruments and derivatives, if used, are contracted with counterparties having an investment grade rating from Standard & Poor’s or an 

equivalent rating from another globally recognised rating agency. If no such external rating is available, an internal rating based on 

quantitative ratios is carried out. 

The exposure to liquidity risk, the set targets, the principles and processes to monitor the risk on an ongoing basis as well as the methods used 

to assess liquidity risk remained unchanged to prior years.  

Funding sources 
Telekom Austria Group pursues a central treasury approach in meeting the capital needs of its subsidiaries. Telekom Austria Group’s treasury 

department acts as an internal financial services provider, realising potential synergies in financing the operations of Telekom Austria Group’s 

subsidiaries. Its primary goal is to assure liquidity in a cost-effective manner by applying the pooling of cash flows and the clearing of Telekom 

Austria Group’s accounts to enable the management of short-term investments and borrowings at optimal interest rates with minimal 

administrative effort. 

Cash flow from operations is the basis for securing sufficient liquidity of Telekom Austria Group. Principal sources of external funding are 

bonds issued on Austrian and international debt capital markets as well as bank loans. For details of outstanding long-term debt and a 

description of the different classes of the debt as of the reporting date see Note (25). 

Other funding sources 
In order to diversify its short-term funding sources, Telekom Austria Group implemented a multi-currency short-term and medium-term 

treasury notes programme (multi-currency notes) with a maximum volume of TEUR 300,000 in 2007. The programme was concluded for an 

indefinite period. As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, no multi-currency notes were issued.  

In August 2014, Telekom Austria Group terminated the contract relating to the revolving period securitisation of trade receivables to a special 

purpose entity (“Asset Backed Securitisation (ABS) Programme”), which was entered into in 2012. As of 31 December 2013, no amount was 

drawn, thus no relating short-term debt was recorded. For further information on accounts receivable – trade sold in the course of this 

programme in 2013, see Note (9).  

In accordance with IFRS 10, Telekom Austria Group controlled the SPE because the activities of the SPE were conducted on behalf of Telekom 

Austria Group according to its specific business needs so that Telekom Austria Group obtained the benefits from the SPE’s operations. In 

substance, Telekom Austria Group retained the majority of the residual or ownership risks related to the SPE or its assets in order to obtain the 

benefits of its activities. Consequently, Telekom Austria Group included the SPE in the Consolidated Financial Statements until August 2014. 

In 2014 and 2013, liquidity fees amounting to TEUR 1,133 and TEUR 1,679, respectively, were recognised in interest expense.  

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, Telekom Austria Group had total credit lines (including ABS) of TEUR 1,000,000 and TEUR 1,060,000, 

respectively. These credit lines were not utilised. The credit line commitments have a term until November 2019.  
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Exposure to liquidity risk 
The following table sets forth the contractual (undiscounted) interest and redemption payments of financial liabilities. The variable interest 

payments related to the financial instruments were calculated based on interest rates effective as of 31 December 2014 and 2013. Foreign 

currencies were translated at the rates valid on the reporting date. 

  
Contractual 

cash flow 
6 months

or less
6 to 12

months
1 to 2 
years 

2 to 5 
years 

more than
5 years

At 31 December 2014          
Financial liabilities          

Bonds 3,707,938 99,063 33,938 883,000 713,063 1,978,875

Bank debt 660,255 12,940 257,803 66,985 322,528 0

Accounts payable – trade 523,977 521,492 2,102 171 155 56

Other financial liabilities 54,867 34,950 12,059 3,541 3,273 1,044

           

At 31 December 2013          

Financial liabilities          

Bonds  3,840,807 99,063 34,002 133,304 1,531,691 2,042,748

Bank debt  940,821 60,444 103,466 294,009 402,654 80,247

Accounts payable – trade 573,836 573,050 7 63 191 525

Other financial liabilities 69,198 49,704 9,242 5,612 3,443 1,198     
 

It is not expected that the cash flows of the financial liabilities included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at 

significantly different amounts.  

Market risks  

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect Telekom Austria Group’s 

income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 

exposures within acceptable parameters. All financial transactions are carried out within the Treasury Guideline. For derivative financial 

instruments, if used for risk management purposes, Telekom Austria Group generally applies hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39. 

The calculation of fair values (mark-to-market) is based on contractually agreed future cash flows related to such transactions. For the purpose 

of determining the fair value of the existing financial instruments, Telekom Austria Group considers the interest rate curve applicable to 

calculate discount factors of matching maturities. 

The exposure to market risk, its origin and the objectives, policies and processes for managing market risk (interest rate risk and exchange rate 

risk) and the methods used to measure credit risk remained unchanged to prior years.  

Interest rate risk 

Telekom Austria Group considers changing interest rates as its major market risk exposure. Telekom Austria Group’s risk management strategy 

strives to balance the related exposure to fair value and cash flow risks. 

Since the majority of Telekom Austria Group’s long-term debt has fixed interest rates, the cash flow exposure due to fluctuating interest rates is 

limited. However, the fair value of fixed rate debt increases when market rates are below the rates fixed on these loans. 

Exposure to interest rate risk 
The risk of changes in interest rates is considered low due to the short-term nature of financial assets.  

For details on the risks related to long-term financial liabilities, see Note (25). 

  

cons ol i DAt e D F i nA nc i A l s tAt e M e n t s

94 t elekom Aus t RiA GRoup  AnnuAl FinAnciAl Rep oR t 2 014



 

  ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2014  TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP 95  

    

  CO N S O LI DAT E D  F I NAN C I AL  STAT E M E N TS

 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for financial instruments  
One measure used to express the potential change in the value of a portfolio of financial liabilities in response to a change in interest rates 

is the modified duration. Modified duration (sensitivity measure) follows the concept that interest rates and the price of fixed-rate financial 

instruments move in opposite directions. The sensitivity is based on the assumption of a one percentage point parallel shift in market interest 

rates for all terms occurring at the reporting date. The methods and assumptions used remained unchanged to those used in prior years. The 

modified duration (sensitivity) is set forth in the following table (negative amounts represent decreases in financial liabilities): 

   Change in financial portfolio 
in TEUR, at 31 December Capital amounts Increase Decrease

2014     

Fixed rate financial liabilities           3,626,000    

Sensitivity at 4,913%  – 178,131 178,131

      

2013     
Fixed rate financial liabilities 3,723,801    

Sensitivity at 4,969%  – 185,036 185,036  
 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable-rate financial instruments  
A change of one percentage point in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) net income or loss by the amounts 

shown below. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. At 31 December 2014, all financial liabilities have fixed interest 

rates. The amounts presented refer to the variable portion of the total debt portfolio at 31 December 2013 (negative amounts represent positive 

effects on the consolidated statements of profit or loss): 

in TEUR, at 31 December Capital amounts
1 percentage point 

increase 
1 percentage point 

decrease

2013     
Variable rate financial liabilities 175,014    

EMTN bond with interest rate swap (variable leg)     

Sensitivity  1,750 – 1,750    
 

Information with respect to cash flow hedges 
Cash flow hedges were entered into by Telekom Austria Group to reduce its exposure to changes in the cash flows resulting from interest 

payments with respect to floating interest rate liabilities.  

The three forward-starting interest rate swap contracts (pre-hedges) with a face value of TEUR 100,000 each, which were concluded in 2011 to 

hedge the interest rate risk of future interest payments, were settled on 28 May 2013 as agreed upon. An amount of TEUR 65,142 was paid to the 

contractual partners and was recognised in the hedging reserve in stockholders’ equity.  

The relating hedging reserve will be released in profit or loss in accordance with the recognition of interest expense on the bond, which was 

issued on 4 July 2013, as the interest rate risk on that bond was hedged. Telekom Austria Group compared the expenses that will actually be 

recognised in profit or loss in the following ten years with the hedged fixed payments less the saving for early payment due to settlement. This 

resulted in a non-recoverable amount of TEUR 6,746 which was immediately recognised in interest expense according to IAS 39.97 (before 

deduction of the settlement cost of TEUR 978 that had already been recorded in interest expense, see Note (7)). Thus the hedging reserve at 4 

July 2013 amounted to TEUR 58,396. In 2014 and 2013, the release of the hedging reserve and, in 2013, the recognition of the non-recoverable 

amount resulted in interest expense amounting to TEUR 5,840 and TEUR 8,688 and a tax benefit amounting to TEUR 1,460 and TEUR 2,172, 

respectively. In 2013, the change in fair value of the hedging instrument until settlement resulted in a gain of TEUR 336 which was recognised in 

other comprehensive income (OCI). For the correction of prior period amounts see “Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” in Note (1). 
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Exchange rate risk 

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, of all accounts receivable – trade and accounts payable – trade, only the following are denominated in a 

currency other than the functional currency of the reporting entities (for foreign exchange rates, see Note (1)): 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2014  2013  
Denominated in EUR USD Other EUR USD Other

Accounts receivable – trade 15,597 2,246 18,673 24,428 1,081 20,311

Accounts payable – trade 57,880 6,057 13,003 41,199 8,310 9,988   
 

A change of 5% in the exchange rate of EUR to HRK would have increased (decreased) foreign exchange rate differences by TEUR 883 and 

TEUR 1,628 in 2014 and 2013, respectively. A change of 10% in the exchange rate of EUR to RSD would have increased (decreased) foreign 

exchange rate differences by TEUR 1,267 and TEUR 796 in 2014 and 2013, respectively. A sensitivity analysis for a change of the BYR was not 

performed due to the application of accounting in hyperinflationary economies. No sensitivity analysis was performed for other accounts 

receivable or for accounts payable – trade, denominated in foreign currencies, as there is no significant risk due to diversification.  

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and 

arises principally from accounts receivable – trade, investment activities and, if used, derivative financial instruments.  

The exposure to credit risk, its origin and the objectives, policies and processes for managing credit risk as well as the methods used to 

measure credit risk remained unchanged to prior years. 

Telekom Austria Group does not have significant exposure to any individual customer or counterparty, nor does it have any major 

concentration or credit risk related to any financial instrument other than noted under the section concentration of risk in “Significant 

Accounting Policies” (Note (1)). Due to internal guidelines and the setting of counterparty limits, Telekom Austria Group does not have 

significant exposure to credit risk in respect of financial instruments. 

Telekom Austria Group does not require collateral in respect of financial assets. In order to reduce the risk of non-performance by the other 

parties all swap agreements are concluded under the standards of the “ISDA-Master Agreement” or the German Standards “Framework for 

Financial Forward Agreements”. 

Accounts receivable – trade and other receivables 
Telekom Austria Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer or customer groups. 

The demographics of Telekom Austria Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers  

operate, have less of an influence on credit risk. 

The Credit Management Department has established a credit policy that requires each new customer to be analysed individually for  

creditworthiness. 

Credit risk or the risk of default in payment by contractual partners is continuously monitored via credit checks, credit limits and verification 

routines. Due to the large number of customers and the high level of diversification of the portfolios, the default of any single debtor would 

not entail grave consequences (low concentration risk) in respect of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Within Telekom Austria Group, 

operative credit risk management functions are performed at the operating company level. 

Telekom Austria Group does not require collateral in respect of accounts receivable – trade and other receivables.  

Financial investments 
Telekom Austria Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in fungible financial instruments and by placing deposits only with 

counterparties that have an appropriate external or internal rating based on quantitative and qualitative parameters. As Telekom Austria 

Group’s investments are generally of a short-term nature, it does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet their obligations. Therefore, the 

exposure to any significant credit risk is low. 

Exposure to credit risk 
The carrying amount of financial assets and accounts receivable – trade represents the maximum credit risk exposure. The maximum 

exposure to credit risk related to financial assets was: 

cons ol i DAt e D F i nA nc i A l s tAt e M e n t s

96 t elekom Aus t RiA GRoup  AnnuAl FinAnciAl Rep oR t 2 014



 

  ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2014  TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP 97  

    

  CO N S O LI DAT E D  F I NAN C I AL  STAT E M E N TS

 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Available-for-sale investments 21,279 14,571

Financial investments valued at cost 554 558

Loans and receivables 113,905 60,743

Cash and cash equivalents 1,018,065 201,334

Carrying amount of financial assets 1,153,803 277,206  
 

The following table sets forth the maximum exposure to credit risk for accounts receivable – trade, which equals the carrying amount, by 

geographic region: 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2014 2013

Domestic 689,556 755,873

Foreign 83,475 108,899

Allowances –172,963 –180,929

Accounts receivable – trade 600,068 683,843  
 

Accounts receivable – trade from Telekom Austria Group’s most significant customer amount to TEUR 3,155 and TEUR 2,979 as of 31 December 

2014 and 2013, respectively. Thus, no major concentration of credit risk exists. With respect to the aging of accounts receivable – trade and the 

allowance for doubtful accounts, see Note (9).  

Fair value of financial instruments 

The following table shows the carrying amounts and the fair values of the financial instruments per class of financial assets: 

 2014 2013
in TEUR, at 31 December  Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Financial assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 1,018,065 1,018,065 201,334 201,334
       

Accounts receivable – trade 600,068 600,068 683,843 683,843

Receivables due from related parties 1,255 1,255 58 58

Other current financial assets 75,672 75,672 42,578 42,578

Other non-current financial assets 36,978 36,978 18,106 18,106

Loans and receivables 713,973 713,973 744,585 744,585
       

Long-term investments 6,846 6,846 4,690 4,690

Short-term investments 14,433 14,433 9,882 9,882

Available-for-sale investments 21,279 21,279 14,571 14,571

       

Investments at cost 554 554 558 558  
 

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable – trade and other current financial assets have maturities lower than one year. As their carrying 

amounts reported approximate their fair values, no further information on the classification in the fair value hierarchy is provided.  

The fair values of other non-current financial assets with a maturity of more than one year correspond to the present values of the payments related 

to the assets, taking into account the current interest rates that reflect market and partner-based changes to terms, conditions and expectations and 

are thus classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
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The fair values of available-for-sale investments are based on market prices.  

Telekom Austria Group estimates the fair values of investments in equity instruments and investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries that do 

not have a quoted market price in an active market based on the audited financial statements, if available. For information on the stake in 

CEESEG AG, see Note (16). 

The following table shows the carrying amounts and the fair values of the financial instruments per class of financial liabilities: 

 2014 2013
in TEUR, at 31 December Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Financial liabilities      
Bonds 3,029,679 3,430,116 3,025,452 3,206,764

Other current financial liabilities 53,755 53,755 68,247 68,247

Non-current liabilities to financial institutions 602,632 655,521 848,801 911,356

Other non-current liabilities 969 969 942 942

Accounts payable – trade 522,344 522,344 573,836 573,836

Payables due to related parties 7,058 7,058 5,891 5,891

Accrued interest 93,459 93,459 93,720 93,720

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 4,309,895 4,763,222 4,616,890 4,860,757  
Non-current liabilities to financial institutions including their short-term portion. 

Accounts payable – trade and other payables have maturities below one year. As their carrying amounts approximate their fair values, no 

further information on the classification in the fair value hierarchy is provided.  

The fair values of the quoted bonds (EMTN bonds and Eurobonds) equal the face value multiplied by the price quotations at the reporting date 

and are thus classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. 

The fair values of liabilities to financial institutions, promissory notes and other financial liabilities are measured at the present values of the 

cash flows associated with the debt, based on the applicable yield curve and credit spread curve for specific currencies and are thus classified 

as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  

Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments 

The following table shows the fair value hierarchy (per class of financial instrument) of financial instruments measured at fair value that 

reflects the significance of the inputs in such fair value measurements: 

 in TEUR, at 31 December Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

2014      

Available-for-sale & other investments 7,296 13,983 0 21,279

Financial assets measured at fair value 7,296 13,983 0 21,279
       

2013      

Available-for-sale & other investments 6,429 8,143 0 14,571

Financial assets measured at fair value 6,429 8,143 0 14,571  
 

(34) Commitments and Contingent Assets and Liabilities 
A tax audit of the years 2003 to 2007 performed in an Austrian subsidiary resulted in a potential additional payment of TEUR 17,000 for prior 

periods. Based on the circumstances and the rules to be applied, Telekom Austria Group estimates an actual payment to be improbable.  
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In 2011, Si.mobil filed a lawsuit against Telekom Slovenije for alleged violation of competition laws. On 29 December 2014, an agreement was 

signed which was subject to conditions precedent and provided for payment by Telekom Slovenije to Si.mobil of up to TEUR 30,000 as well as 

continued business cooperation.  

On 12 June 2014, Mobiltel received the tax assessment act for the audit covering the years 2006 and 2007. The material findings relate to the 

accounting of brand name and customer base. Tax authorities did not recognise tax amortisation on these assets and thus imposed a potential 

additional claim of TEUR 19,500 including penalty interest. Mobiltel appealed to the highest tax authority. On 1 December 2014, Mobiltel 

received the final decision confirming the potential additional claim. Mobiltel initiated a court procedure in Bulgaria. The outcome and the 

timing of any further decision on the case are highly unpredictable. Moreover, a subsequent tax audit covering the years 2008 to 2012 is 

currently ongoing, the results of which are hard to estimate before the previous case is finally closed.	In case of an unfavourable outcome of 

the court proceedings, Mobiltel might face a further potential additional claim for the years 2008 to 2012 of up to TEUR 74,000 including 

penalty interest.	Mobiltel expects the court decision to be in favour of Mobiltel due to the fact that Mobiltel followed the approach confirmed 

by the Minister of Finance and two consecutive tax audits in the past. Mobiltel assesses an additional claim including interest to be 

improbable. Mobiltel has already issued a bank guarantee covering up to TEUR 22,800 to secure the possible tax claim. 

In the normal course of business, Telekom Austria Group is subject to proceedings, lawsuits and other claims, including proceedings under 

laws and regulations related to interconnection. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties, and the outcomes are not predictable with 

certainty. Consequently, Management is unable to ascertain the ultimate aggregate amount of the monetary liability or the impact on the 

financial position of Telekom Austria Group with respect to these matters at 31 December 2014. These matters could materially affect the 

operating results or cash flows of any quarter when resolved in future periods. However, Management believes that after final settlement, any 

monetary liability or financial impact on Telekom Austria Group, beyond such provided for at year-end, would not be material to its 

Consolidated Financial Statements. 

(35) Remuneration paid to the Management and Supervisory Board 
As of 31 December 2014, the Management Board of Telekom Austria Group is composed of Hannes Ametsreiter as Chief Executive Officer (CEO), 

Siegfried Mayrhofer as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and Günther Ottendorfer as Chief Technology Officer (CTO). On 1 June 2014, Siegfried 

Mayrhofer succeeded Hans Tschuden as Chief Financial Officer. Günther Ottendorfer is a member of the Management Board since 1 September 

2013. 

The following table summarises the remuneration of members of the Management Board and Supervisory Board: 

in TEUR 2014 2013

Basic remuneration (fixed salary incl. remuneration in kind) 1,484 1,118

Variable remuneration  1,374 1,349

Share-based compensation (Long Term Incentive Program)* 87 111

Total 2,945 2,578

     

Compensation Supervisory Board 212 220  
*See Note (31). 
As the Management Board was extended by the Chief Technology Officer since 1 September 2013, figures can only be compared to a limited extent. 

On 31 May 2014, Hans Tschuden’s contract, due to expire on 31 March 2015, was terminated prematurely. In 2014, remuneration of the 

Management Board and Supervisory Board does not include termination expenses of TEUR 737 and the severance of TEUR 850 related to the 

resignation of Hans Tschuden. Furthermore, TEUR 213 were paid into a pension plan. 

(36) Employees 
The average number of employees during the years 2014 and 2013 was 16,155 and 16,347, respectively. As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, 

Telekom Austria Group employed 16,240 and 16,045 employees (full-time equivalents). 

(37) Subsequent Events 
In October 2014, Telekom Austria Group reached an agreement with Telekom Slovenije Group to merge its subsidiaries Vip operator and One, 

both operating in the Republic of Macedonia. Telekom Austria Group will hold 55% and have sole control over the newly created company 

whereas Telekom Slovenije Group will hold 45%. Furthermore, the agreement also includes call and put options for the exit of Telekom 

Slovenije Group within three years of the closing of the merger. The closing of the merger is subject to merger control clearance in the 

Republic of Macedonia, which is expected for the first quarter of 2015. One is the third largest mobile network operator in the Republic of 

Macedonia and achieved revenues of approximately TEUR 75,500 and EBITDA of approximately TEUR 14,400 in 2013.  
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Since 31 December 2014, the Belarusian Rouble lost approximately 20% of its value compared to the Euro. The effect of the devaluation on the 

inflation rate in Belarus remains to be seen (see Note (1)). 

On 21 January 2015, a condition of the agreement subject to conditions precedent between Telekom Slovenije and Si.mobil was fulfilled. 

Thereupon, Si.mobil withdrew its lawsuit and already received a first payment of TEUR 20,000 (see Note (34)). 

In its judgement of 11 November 2014, the European Court of Justice (ECJ) decided at the request of the Austrian Administrative Court that the 

Austrian law determining the reference date for salary increments for Austrian civil servants is not in conformity with European Union law 

(see Note (22)). To compensate the resulting burden on the federal budget the National Assembly passed a law on 21 January 2015, which has 

not yet entered into force as it still needs to be enacted by the Austrian Federal Assembly and published in the Austrian Federal Law Gazette. 

Telekom Austria Group will further examine the accounting of this fact based on the judgement by the Austrian Administrative Court as well as 

the assessment of the existing wording of the law regarding EU conformity. 

(38) Affiliated Companies 

Name and company domicile 
Share in capital as of 

31 December 2014 in %
Method of 

consolidation* 
Share in capital as of 

31 December 2013 in %
Method of 

consolidation*

Segment Austria      

A1 Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Telekom Austria Personalmanagement GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Telekom Austria Beteiligungen GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

CableRunner GmbH, Vienna 76.00 FC 76.00 FC

CableRunner Austria GmbH & Co. KG, Vienna 76.00 FC 76.00 FC

World-Direct eBusiness solutions Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

ÖFEG GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

paybox Bank AG, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

paybox Service GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

3G Mobile Telecommunications GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

mk Logistik GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

JetStream Hungary Kft., Budapest 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

JetStream Slovakia s.r.o., Bratislava 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

JetStream RO s.r.l., Bucharest 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

JetStream TR Telekomünikasyon Hizmetleri Ve Ticaret Limited Sirketi, Istanbul 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

JetStream Switzerland GmbH, Zurich 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

JetStream Poland Spolka Z Ograniczona Odpowiedzialnoscia, Warsaw 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

JetStream Germany GmbH, Frankfurt on the Main 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

JetStream Italy S.r.l., Milan 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

TA CZ sítě s.r.o., Prague 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

JetStream BH d.o.o. drustvo za telekomunikacije, Sarajevo 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

JetStream England Limited, London 100.00 FC – –

Homer Receivables Purchasing Company Limited, Dublin (Special Purpose Entity) – – – FC

media.at GmbH, Vienna 25.3228 EQ 25.3228 EQ

Segment Bulgaria         

Mobiltel EAD, Sofia 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Alabin 48 EOOD, Sofia LIQ – 100.00 FC

M repair and service EAD, Sofia 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

M Support Services EOOD, Sofia 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

M Game EOOD, Sofia LIQ – 100.00 FC

GPS Bulgaria AD, Sofia 90.00 FC 90.00 FC

Orbitel EAD, Sofia ME   100.00 FC

Segment Croatia      

Vipnet d.o.o., Zagreb 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Vipnet usluge d.o.o., Zagreb 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Segment Belarus      

Unitary enterprise velcom, Minsk 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Unitary enterprise TA-Engineering, Minsk 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Unitary enterprise TA-Installation, Minsk 100.00 FC 100.00 FC
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Name and company domicile 
Share in capital as of 

31 December 2014 in %
Method of 

consolidation* 
Share in capital as of 

31 December 2013 in %
Method of 

consolidation*

Segment Additional Markets      

Telekom Austria Group M2M GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

mobilkom liechtenstein AG, Vaduz ME – 100.00 FC

Si.mobil telekomunikacijske storitve d.d., Ljubljana 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

TA Mreža d.o.o., Ljubljana 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Vip mobile d.o.o., Belgrade 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Vip operator DOOEL, Skopje-Zentar 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Vip operator uslugi DOOEL, Skopje-Zentar 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Vip operator prodazba DOOEL, Skopje-Zentar 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

BLIZOO DOOEL, Skopje 100.00 FC – –

Corporate & Other         

Telekom Projektentwicklungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Telekom Finanzmanagement GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Mobilkom Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

mobilkom Bulgarien BeteiligungsverwaltungsgmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

mobilkom Bulgarien GeschäftsentwicklungsgmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

mobilkom CEE Geschäftsentwicklungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

mobilkom CEE Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

mobilkom Mazedonien Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

mobilkom Mazedonien Geschäftsentwicklungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

mobilkom Belarus Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

mobilkom Belarus Geschäftsentwicklungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Kroatien Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

A1 Kroatien Geschäftsentwicklungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

SB Telecom Ltd., Limassol 100.00 FC 100.00 FC

Telecom Liechtenstein AG, Vaduz                                 24.90 EQ – –  
* FC – full consolidation, EQ – equity method, LIQ – liquidated, ME – merged 

All affiliated companies have 31 December as their reporting date except for media.at-Group which has 30 June as its reporting date. 

(39) Release for Publication 
On 22 January 2015, the Management Board approved the Consolidated Financial Statements for submission to the Supervisory Board. The 

Supervisory Board will review the Consolidated Financial Statements and report its decision upon approval. 

 

Vienna, 22 January 2015 

 

 

 

 

 Hannes Ametsreiter Siegfried Mayrhofer Günther Ottendorfer 

 Chairman of the Management Board Chief Financial Officer Chief Technology Officer 
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We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
of telekom Austria AG, vienna, for the fiscal year from January 1, 2014 
to December 31, 2014. these consolidated financial statements com-
prise the consolidated statements of profit or loss the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income, the consolidated statements of 
financial position as of December 31, 2014, the consolidated statements 
of cash flows, the consolidated statements of changes in stockholders 
equity for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements.

MAnAGeMent’s Responsibility FoR the 
consoliDAteD FinAnciAl stAteMents AnD 
FoR the AccountinG systeM
the company’s management is responsible for the group accounting 
system and for the preparation and fair presentation of the consoli-
dated financial statements in accordance with international Financial 
Reporting standards (iFRss) as adopted by the eu, and the additional 
requirements under section 245a uGb. this responsibility includes: 
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to 
the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial state-
ments that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; mak-
ing accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AuDitoR’s Responsibility AnD DescRiption oF 
type AnD scope oF the stAtutoRy AuDit
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with laws and regulations applicable in Austria and Austrian 
standards on Auditing, as well as in accordance with international 
standards on Auditing (isAs) issued by the international Auditing and 
Assurance standards board (iAAsb) of the international Federation 
of Accountants (iFAc). those standards require that we comply with 
professional guidelines and that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial state-
ments. the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the Group’s preparation and fair presentation of the consol-
idated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a reasonable basis for our audit opinion.

opinion
our audit did not give rise to any objections. in our opinion, which is 
based on the results of our audit, the consolidated financial statements 
comply with legal requirements and give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2014 and of its finan-
cial performance and its cash flows for the fiscal year from January 1, 
2014 to December 31, 2014 in accordance with international Financial 
Reporting standards (iFRss) as adopted by the eu.

coMMents on the MAnAGeMent RepoRt 
FoR the GRoup
pursuant to statutory provisions, the management report for the Group 
is to be audited as to whether it is consistent with the consolidated 
financial statements and as to whether the other disclosures are not 
misleading with respect to the company’s position. the auditor’s report 
also has to contain a statement as to whether the management report 
for the Group is consistent with the consolidated financial statements 
and whether the disclosures pursuant to section 243a uGb are appropriate.

in our opinion, the management report for the Group is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements. the disclosures pursuant 
to section 243a uGb are appropriate.

vienna, January 23, 2015

Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs Gmbh

Mag. nikolaus schaffer Mag. Maximilian schreyvogl
certified public Accountant certified public Accountant
(Austria) (Austria)

RepoRt on the consoliDAteD 
FinAnciAl stAteMents

The report is a translation from the original auditor’s report in German, which 
is solely valid. The consolidated financial statements may only be published or 
duplicated together with our auditors’ report in the version audited by us. This 
auditors’ report only relates to the complete consolidated financial statements 
in German, including the consolidated management report. Section 281(2) of the 
Austrian Commercial Code (UGB) applies to versions differing from the version 
audited by us.

Au Di t oR’ s  R e p oRt ( t R A nsl At ion )
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Decl A R Ation 
oF the M A nAGeMent 
boA R D

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the consoli-
dated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the 
Group as required by the applicable accounting standards and 
that the Group management report gives a true and fair view 

of the development and performance of the business and the 
position of the Group, together with a description of the prin-
cipal risks and uncertainties the Group faces.

the Management board

Günther ottendorfer
chief technology officer
telekom Austria Group

hannes Ametsreiter
chief executive officer
telekom Austria Group

siegfried Mayrhofer
chief Financial officer
telekom Austria Group

Dec l A R At ion oF t h e M A nAGe M e n t b oA R D
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Annex i/1
telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, vienna

 31.12.14 31.12.13 
Assets euR teuR

A. Long-term assets
 Financial assets
  1. investments in affiliated companies 6,284,370,693.30 7,471,001
  2. other investments 543,341.86 543
 6,284,914,035.16 7,471,544
B. Current assets
 I. Receivables
  1. Accounts receivable — trade  684.49 7
  2. Receivables — affiliated companies 623,521,560.94 356,326
  3. Receivables — associated companies 88,072.03 
  4. other accounts receivable 21,594,057.20 20,678
 645,204,374.66 377,011
 II. Treasury shares 2,285,035.14 2,285
 III. Cash and cash equivalents 308.75 0
 647,489,718.55 379,296

C. Prepaid expenses 12,504,479.70 15,745
 6,944,908,233.41 7,866,585

stAteMent oF FinAnciAl position As oF 31 DeceMbeR 2014

F i nA nc i A l s tAt e M e n t s
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Annex i/2
telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, vienna

 31.12.14 31.12.13 
liabilities and stockholders̒ equity euR teuR

A. Stockholders̒ equity 
 I. Common stock 1,449,274,500.00 966,183
 II. Additional paid-in capital
  Appropriated 1,582,004,573.67 1,052,318
 III. Retained earnings
  1. Reserve for treasury shares 2,285,035.14 2,285
  2. other reserves (unrestricted reserves) 314,530,929.53 1,494,741
 316,815,964.67 1,497,026
 IV. Net income 33,205,009.64 22,247
  thereof carried forward: euR 117.797,00;
  previous year: teuR 129
 3,381,300,047.98 3,537,774

B. Provisions
 1. provisions for severance oblilgations 3,188,783.00 3,699
 2. tax provisions  238,745,671.15 333,271
 3. other provisions  6,056,177.05 4,418
 247,990,631.20 341,388

C. Liabilities 
 1. subordinated capital/hybrid bond 600,000,000.00 600,000
 2. liabilities to banks  30,791,098.50 30,791
 3. Accounts payable – trade 5,750,785.39 7,266
 4. liabilities due to affiliated companies  2,678,258,150.07 3,348,742
 5. other liabilities  817,520.27 624
  thereof to social security: euR 381.508,33; previous year: teuR 338
 3,315,617,554.23 3,987,423
 6,944,908,233.41 7,866,585
  
contingent liabilities  4,155,273,686.00 5,195,675

F i nA nc i A l s tAt e M e n t s
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 2014 2013
 euR euR euR euR

1. Revenues  26,893,886.92  23,824
2. other operating income 
 a) income from reversal of provisions 5,630.35  18
 b) other 237,845.48 243,475.83 244 262
3. personnel expenses 
 a) salaries –20,987,932.99  –17,097
 b) expenses for severance payments and payments to –1,120,229.85  –660 
  staff contribution plans
 c) pension expense –1,017,261.70  –688
 d) expenses for statutory social security and payroll –4,258,815.66  –3,445 
  related taxes and contributions
 e) other social benefits –69,135.41 –27,453,375.61 –95 –21,985
4. other operating expenses 
 a) other business taxes –10,269,405.75  –269
 b) other –29,137,462.89 –39,406,868.64 –27,345 –27,615
5. Subtotal from line 1 to 4 (operating result)  –39,722,881.50  –25,514
6. income from investments   159,652,500.00  405,170
 thereof from affiliated companies: euR 159.600.000,00; 
 previous year: teuR 405.100
7. income from the reversal of impairment losses  71,400,000.00  107,160 
 on long-term financial assets
8. expenses for long-term financial assets and treasury shares   –1,293,851,629.77  –344,070
 thereof: a) impairment losses: euR 1.265.240.000,00;  
 previous year: teuR 249.103
 b) expenses from affiliated companies: euR 1.293.851.629,77; 
  previous year: teuR 343.966
9. interest and similar expenses   –147,738,358.86  –148,932
 thereof related to affiliated companies:
 euR 112.232.065,84; previous year: teuR 116.254
10. Subtotal from line 6 to 9 (financial result)  –1,210,537,488.63  19,329
11. Earnings/Loss before income taxes   –1,250,260,370.13  –6,185
12. income taxes   103,137,582.77  70,803
13. Earnings/loss after income taxes   –1,147,122,787.36  64,618
14. transfer from other reserves to net income  1,180,210,000.00  0
15. transfer from net income to other reserves   0.00  –42,500
16. profit carried forward from prior year  117,797.00  129
17. Retained Profit  33,205,009.64  22,247

Annex ii
telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, vienna

stAteMent oF pRoFit oR loss FoR 2014
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notes to the FinAnciAl 
stAteMents FoR the yeAR 2014
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Notice of rounding: The accumulation of rounded amounts and percentages may cause calculation differences. 

Disclaimer: This is a translation of the original German-language Financial Statements 2014 (Separate Financial Statements according to Austrian 
Commercial Code — UGB) of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft. The original German Financial Statements are the legally binding version.

tAble oF contents
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1 AccountinG pRinciples

1.1 GeneRAl pRinciples
the financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the provisions of the Austrian commercial code (uGb), 
taking into account Austrian generally accepted accounting 
principles and in compliance with the general principle 
of providing a true and fair view of the net assets, financial 
position and result of operations of the company.

the financial statements were prepared by adhering to the 
principle of completeness.

the principles of individual measurement and going concern 
were complied with in measuring assets and liabilities.

the principle of prudence was observed in that only profits 
realised as of the reporting date were recognised. All identifi-
able risks and contingent losses were taken into account.

the statement of operations was prepared in accordance with 
the total cost format. the figures presented in the notes to the 
financial statements are shown in thousands of euros (teuR). 
the reporting date is 31 December.

1.2 lonG-teRM Assets
investments in affiliated companies and other investments 
are measured at acquisition cost. impairment losses are 
recognised if the fair value at the reporting date is lower 
than the carrying amount of the asset and is expected to be 
permanent in duration. impairment losses are reversed if 
the reason for the impairment no longer exists.

1.3 cuRRent Assets
Receivables are measured at their nominal value unless the 
lower net realizable value is recognised in the event of iden-
tifiable individual risks. specific valuation allowances are 
recognised to account for default risks. Receivables denom-
inated in foreign currencies are measured at the euro refer-
ence rate of the european central bank at the reporting date if 
it is lower than the accounting rate.

treasury shares, which are reported in current assets, are 
measured at acquisition cost or the lower fair value in accord-
ance with the strict lower of cost or market principle. in 2014, 
no impairment loss (previous year: teuR 98) was recognised.

1.4 pRovisions
provisions for severance obligations are recognised for the 
legal and contractual obligations to members of the Manage-
ment board and for employees, whose employment with 
telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft started before 1 January 
2003. the calculation is based on the principles of financial 
mathematics using the partial value method and applying 
an interest rate of 2.0% (previous year: 3.0%) and without 
consideration of employee turnover.

provisions for anniversary bonuses are similar to those for 
severance obligations and are measured in the same way as 
the provision for severance obligations.

other provisions are recognised in the estimated amount of 
the obligation and take identifiable risks into account as well 
as uncertain amounts regarding liabilities incurred. 

1.5 liAbilities
liabilities are recognised at settlement amount taking into 
account the prudence principle. liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are measured at the euro reference rate of 
the european central bank at the reporting date if it is higher 
than the accounting rate.

2 notes on stAteMent oF 
FinAnciAl position

2.1 lonG-teRM Assets
the development of the individual fixed asset items is shown 
in the schedule of long-term assets (Appendix 1).

the composition of investments in affiliated companies is 
shown in the schedule of investments (Appendix 4).

on 1 April 2009, telekom Austria AG, which holds 99% in 
telekom projektentwicklungs Gmbh, concluded a profit and 
loss exclusion contract with telekom Finanzmanagement 
Gmbh and telekom projektentwicklungs Gmbh, the sole 
shareholder of telekom Finanzmanagement Gmbh, with the 
consent of A1 telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft (A1 telekom 
Austria AG), which holds 1% in telekom projektentwicklungs 
Gmbh. this contract became effective on 1 January 2009 and 
can be terminated in writing by either contractual party at 
the end of each financial year with a notice period of three 
months.

2.2 ReceivAbles
the structure and maturities of receivables are shown in the 
receivables aging report (Appendix 2).

As in the previous year, other receivables do not include any 
material earnings for which payment will be received after 
the reporting date.

F i nA nc i A l s tAt e M e n t s

110 t elekom Aus t RiA GRoup  AnnuAl FinAnciAl Rep oR t 2 014



2.3 pRepAiD expenses
prepaid expenses mainly comprise discounts for intra- 
company loans resulting from bond issuances as part of 
the 2012 and 2013 eMtn programs, the placement of a 
hybrid bond in 2013 and a bond issued in 2009.

2.4 shARe cApitAl
With the resolution of the extraordinary General Meeting 
on 14 August 2014 and to sec 169 stock corporation Act, the 
Management board is authorised, within five years of the 
registration of the relevant amendment to the Articles of 
Association in the commercial register, with the consent 
by the supervisory board, to increase the telekom Austria 
Aktiengesellschaft’s share capital by a nominal maximum 
amount of euR 483,091,500 by issuing up to 221,500,000 
no-par shares for cash contribution, also in several tranches. 
on 7 november 2014, the Management board resolved on 
a capital increase with a subscription price of euR 4.57 per 
share. the share capital of the company was increased from 
teuR 966,183 by teuR 483,092 by issuance of 221,500,000 
shares. on 25 november 2014, the supervisory board 
approved the change of the total amount of voting rights 
and the increase of share capital, becoming effective with the 
registration in the companies register on 27 november 2014. 
Also on 25 november 2014, the supervisory board resolved 
the required change in the Articles of Association.

the share capital of telekom Austria AG therefore amounts to 
teuR 1,449,275 and is divided into 664,500,000 no-par shares. 
ÖiAG holds 28.42%, América Móvil holds 59.70%, either 
directly or indirectly, 11.81% of the shares are attributable to 
the free float and the remaining 0.06% are held as treasury 
shares. treasury shares amount to teuR 905 of the share cap-
ital, equal to 415,159 shares and were acquired in september 
2007.

pursuant to the resolution of the Annual General Meeting 
on 29 May 2013, the Management board is authorised to 
use treasury shares for the issue to employees, senior staff 
and members of the Management board/management of 
the company and its affiliated companies and/or to service 
stock options from performance share programs either in 
return for payment or gratuitously. the Management board 
was also authorised to use treasury shares as consideration 
for the acquisition of companies, business operations, busi-
ness units or shares in one or more companies, both in the 
home country and abroad. the Management board was also 
authorised to sell treasury shares in accordance with section 
65 (1b) of the Austrian stock corporation Act (AktG) via the 
stock exchange at any time or by public offer for a period of 
five years in any other legally admissible manner, including 
off-market, whereby the Management board may also decide 
to exclude the public from buying.

2.5 DiviDenDs
At the Annual General Meeting on 27 May 2015, the Manage-
ment board will propose to distribute a dividend of euR 0.05 
per eligible share. the remaining net income will be carried 
forward.

2.6 pRovisions
As of 31 December 2014, tax provisions primarily related to 
provisions for deferred taxes in the amount of teuR 238,746 
(previous year: teuR 333,193). n accordance with the expert 
opinion of the proffessional committee for commercai law 
and Audit of the Austrian chamber of proffessional Account-
ing (Fachsenat für handelsrecht und Revision) “Deferred 
taxes in separate Financial statements and in consolidated 
Financial statements” (kFs/Rl15), the company recognised 
a provision for deferred taxes on differences between the car-
rying amounts of investments and their tax bases resulting 
from a corporate restructuring. this provision is classified as 
non-current.

other provisions include provisions for:

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013 
 teuR teuR
long term incentive program (lti) 764 602
personnel  5,118 3,647
other 174 170
 6,056 4,418

2.7 liAbilities
on 24 January 2013, telekom Austria AG placed an interest- 
bearing, perpetual hybrid bond with a volume of over 
euR 600 million and a coupon of 5.625%. the bond was 
placed at a reoffer price of 98.943% and the first reset date 
was stipulated on 1 February 2018.

the maturities and structure of liabilities are presented in 
the schedule of liabilities (Appendix 3).

As in the previous year, other liabilities do not include any 
material expenses for which payment is made after the 
reporting date.
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2.8 continGent liAbilites

on 27 January 2005, tFG issued two euR 500 million 
eurobonds with fixed interest rate of 3.375% and 4.250% 
and terms of five and 12 years, respectively, under the eMtn 
program. the bonds were placed at reoffer prices of 99.598% 
and 98.829%. the former was repaid in January 2010 as set 
out in the contract.

on 29 January 2009, tFG issued a euR 750 million bond with 
fixed interest rate of 6.375% and a term of seven years. the 
bond was placed at a reoffer price of 99.238% and used to 
refinance existing liabilities.

both telekom Austria AG and A1 telekom Austria AG have 
issued irrevocable and unconditional guarantees in favour 
of the bondholder.

in March 2012, telekom Austria AG and telekom Finanz- 
management Gmbh initiated a new euro Medium term note 
(eMtn) program with a volume of teuR 2,500,000. All pay-
ments from bonds issued by telekom Finanzmanagement 
Gmbh under this program are irrevocably and uncondition-
ally guaranteed by telekom Austria AG.

on 2 April 2012, tFG issued a teuR 750,000 bond with a fixed 
interest rate of 4% and a term of ten years under the eMtn 
program. the bond was placed at a reoffer price of 98.984% 
and used to refinance existing liabilities.

on 4 July 2013, tFG issued a teuR 300,000 bond with a fixed 
interest rate of 3.5% and a term of ten years under the eMtn 
program. the bond was placed at a reoffer price of 99.503%. 
on 3 December 2013, tFG issued a teuR 750,000 bond with a 
fixed interest rate of 3.125% and a term of eight years under 
the eMtn program. the bond was placed at a reoffer price of 
99.367%.

Guarantees in the total amount of teuR 1,105,274 (prior year: 
2,145,675) were granted to telekom Austria Finanzmanage-
ment Gmbh.

With a guarantee dated 10 november 2008, the company 
warrants telekom Austria personalmanagement Gmbh that 
A1 telekom Austria AG will fulfil its obligations resulting 
from the profit and loss exclusion contract.

3 notes on the stAteMent oF pRoFit 
oR loss

3.1 Revenues
Revenues of teuR 26,894 (previous year: teuR 23,824) relate 
to services such as public relations and communications 
work, coordinating product development and the technical 
infrastructure, legal and tax advice and investment con-
trolling, services in conjunction with the Department of 
human Resource and civil service Regulations (beamten-
dienstrecht) together with salary and collective agreement 
negotiations that are predominantly charged to A1 telekom 
Austria AG, telekom Austria Group M2M Gmbh, telekom 
Finanzmanagement Gmbh, telekom Austria personal- 
management Gmbh, Mobiltel eAD, si.mobil d.d., vip mobile 
d.o.o., vip operator Dooel, vipnet d.o.o. and unitary enter-
prise velcom by telekom Austria AG on the basis of inter- 
company agreements.

3.2 otheR opeRAtinG incoMe
in 2014, other operating income mainly comprises income 
from previous periods due to credit notes from the Financial 
Market supervision (Finanzmarktaufsicht) in the amount of 
teuR 238 (previous year: teuR 244).

3.3 peRsonnel expenses

 31 December 2014 31 December 2013 
 teuR teuR
Guarantees as part  2,300,000 2,300,000 
of the emtn programs
Guarantee as part  750,000 750,000 
of the 2009 bond
Bank guarantees 1,105,274 2,145,675
 4,155,274 5,195,675

 2014 2013 
 teuR teuR
salaries 20,988 17,097
severance expense and payments to staff  1,120 660 
contribution plans
pension expenses 1,017 688
expenses for statutory social security 4,259 3,445 
and payroll related taxes and contributions  
other social benefits 69 95
 27,453 21,985
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 2014 2013 
 teuR teuR
members of the management Board 867 290
senior staff 62 204
other employees 1,208 854
 2,137 1,348

 2014 2013 
 teuR teuR
other Business taxes 10,269 269
other 29,138 27,345
 39,407 27,615

severance and pension expenses were as follows:

the average number of full-time employees was 162 (previous 
year: 146). the average number of full-time civil servants was 
ten (prior year: ten).

in 2014 the Management board comprised three members.

3.4 otheR opeRAtinG expenses

other operating expenses include expenses related to the 
services of A1 telekom Austria AG amounting to teuR 10,129 
(previous year: teuR 9,239).

in addition expenses in an amount of teuR 16,208 (previous 
year: teuR 0) in connection to the realised increase in share 
capital are included, whereat teuR 10,128 are related to taxes.

3.5 incoMe FRoM investMents
income from investments includes dividend income from 
A1 telekom Austria AG of teuR 159,000. in 2013, dividend 
income from Mobilkom beteiligungsgesellschaft mbh of 
teuR 22,300, from A1 kroatien Geschäftsentwicklungs 
Gmbh of teuR 179,400, from mobilkom bulgarien Geschäfts- 
entwicklungsgmbh of teuR 23,400 and from der mobilkom 
belarus Geschäftsentwicklungs Gmbh of teuR 180,000 were 
included.

Futhermore income from other investments includes 
dividend income from ceeseG Aktiengesellschaft amounting 
to teuR 53 (previous year: teuR 70).

3.6 incoMe FRoM the ReveRsAl oF iMpAiRMent 
losses on lonG-teRM FinAnciAl Assets
pursuant to section 208 (1) of the Austrian commercial code 
(uGb) in conjunction with section 6 no. 13 of the Austrian 
tax Act (estG) the reversal of previously recognised impair- 
ment losses of teuR 71,400 (previous year: teuR 107,160) 
was required to be recognised based on current company 
valuations. the reversal of the impairment loss in an amount 
of teuR 71,400 (previous year: teuR 101,830) related to 
mobilkom belarus Geschäftsentwicklungs Gmbh. Addition-
ally in 2013, a reversal of an impairment loss in an amount 
of teuR 5,330 related to mobilkom Mazedonien Geschäfts-
entwicklungs Gmbh was included.

3.7 expenses FoR lonG-teRM FinAnciAl Assets
expenses from affiliated companies result from expenses 
incurred under the profit and loss exclusion contract with 
telekom projektentwicklungs Gmbh in the amount of teuR 
28,612 (previous year: teuR 94,966) and from the impairment 
loss recognised on mobilkom bulgarien Geschäftsentwick-
lungsgmbh of teuR 212,540, on mobilkom Mazedonien 
Geschäftsentwicklungs Gmbh of teuR 41,700, on mobilkom 
cee Geschäftsentwicklungs Gmbh of teuR 103,200, on A1 
kroatien Geschäftsentwicklungs Gmbh of teuR 518,400 and 
on A1 telekom Austria AG of teuR 389,400 (previous year: A1 
telekom Austria AG teuR 249,000) due to current company 
valuations.

3.8 incoMe tAxes
the company is the head of a tax group as defined in section 
9 of the Austrian corporation tax Act (kstG) and has con-
cluded a group and tax allocation agreement with 3G Mobile 
telecommunications Gmbh, telekom Austria personal- 
management Gmbh, A1 telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, 
telekom projektentwicklungs Gmbh, telekom Finanzman-
agement Gmbh, ÖFeG Gmbh, World-Direct ebusiness solu-
tions Gesellschaft m.b.h., telekom Austria beteiligungen 
Gmbh, paybox bank AG, mk logistik Gmbh and paybox ser-
vice Gmbh as members of the tax group (as at 31 December 
2014). Due to the earnings position of the tax group, the 2005 
group and tax allocation contract was thoroughly revised 
with effect 1 January 2012, taking into account the regulatory 
framework for company law and is structured as follows:

tax group members who transfer taxable profit to the head 
of the group are required to pay 25% of the profit transferred 
to the extent it results in a tax expense at the group level. the 
tax expense charged on the profit of the tax group member is 
calculated by dividing the tax base at group level by the total 
amount of allocated taxable profit, therefore after consider-
ation of intragroup tax loss carry forwards, but without tak-
ing into account current losses transferred from members of 
the tax group. For taxable profits of tax group members that 
do not result in a tax expense at group level, group allocation 
amounts to 12%. tax group members transferring a tax loss to 
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the head of the group receive no compensation, but can carry 
forward this tax loss as an intra-group tax loss carry forward 
and offset the entire amount with future taxable profit within 
the group. therefore, tax allocation is not required for intra-
group loss carry forward. intragroup loss carry forwards not 
yet offset at the time the group member leaves the tax group 
are compensated to the extent required by company law upon 
termination of the agreement.

Due to the profit and loss exclusion contract concluded by the 
company with telekom projektentwicklungs Gmbh, telekom 
projektentwicklungs Gmbh and telekom Finanzmanagement 
Gmbh, no tax is allocated to/from these companies.

in 2014, the group allocation rate was 12%.

intragroup loss carry forward for which no provisions 
were recognised amounted to teuR 100,770 (previous year: 
teuR 47,965).

 2014 2013 
 teuR teuR
Allocation to group members* 8,690 8,504
Group allocation — previous periods* 0 49
Corporation Tax — Group* 8,690 8,553
provisions for deferred taxes* 94,447 62,250
Total tax benefits* 103,137 70,803

*  in above table, positive amounts (+) represent tax benefits and 
negative amounts (-) represent tax expenses

As in previous year, income tax expense does not relate to the 
result of the head of the tax group.

4 otheR inFoRMAtion

4.1 ReMuneRAtion oF the MAnAGeMent AnD 
supeRvisoRy boARD oF the coMpAny
in 2014, remuneration of the members of the Management 
board amounted to teuR 2,858 (previous year: teuR 2,467), 
and include remuneration charged from affiliated companies 
in an amount of teuR 268 (previous year: teuR 0). benefits 
paid under the long term incentive program are not included 
in the amount of remuneration of members of the Manage-
ment board. these benefits are included in section 4.2.

in 2014, remuneration of former members of the Manage-
ment board after resignation amounted to teuR 1,800 
(previous year: teuR 0). in the current financial year remu-
neration of members of the supervisory board amounted to 
teuR 212 (previous year: 220).

4.2 lonG teRM incentive (lti) pRoGRAM
on December 9, 2009, the supervisory board of telekom 
Austria AG approved the lti program, in particular the first 
tranche of 2010, and announced further tranches. the second 
tranche was approved on 21 February 2011. the third tranche 
was approved on 7 May 2012. A fourth tranche was approved 
on 6 May 2013. A fifth tranche was approved on 1 July 2014. 
participants are required to make a personal investment 
in telekom Austria shares in an amount depending on the 
annual gross basic salaries and the management level of the 
entitled employee and to hold these shares until the end of 
the holding period. For each tranche, the number of shares 
granted is calculated based on the average telekom Austria 
stock price for a defined period. this right is not transferrable.
 
the performance period for meeting the performance targets 
was determined to be three years. Free cash flow, total share-
holder return and ebitDA were defined as key performance 
indicators for the tranches of the years 2010, 2011 and 2012. 
net income, ebitDA and relative total shareholder return 
(determined on a basis of a weighted comparison group of 
nine european telecommunications providers) were defined 
as key performance indicators for the tranches of the years 
2013 and 2014. the target values for these key indicators are 
determined at the beginning of each tranche. if the targets are 
fully met, bonus shares equal to the personal investment will 
be allocated to the participants for the years 2010, 2011 and 
2012; for the trances of the years 2013 and 2014 the proportion 
of personal investment to bonus shares is 0,5; settlement 
will be in cash. if the targets are exceeded, additional shares 
will be allocated proportionally up to a maximum of 175% of 
the shares allocated based on meeting the targets. in case of 
significant underperformance, no shares are allocated.

the program lti 2011 was exercised in the financial year 2014. 
0.280 bonus shares per share of personal investment were 
allocated at a share price of 6.04. the settlement was in cash.
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lti 2011 personal investment in shares as exercised
Dr. Hannes Ametsreiter 25,674
mag. Johann tschuden 25,674
senior staff 17,466
other employees  53,722
Total Company  122,536

members of management and 321,250 
supervisory Boards and entitled employees of subsidiaries

on the reporting date, a liability is recognised for the share 
of the future anticipated expense of the lti program already 
earned, which was measured at fair value. the fair value is 
determined by using the expected achievement of the perfor-
mance criteria and the expected share price, which is based 
on the binomial tree process. expected dividends were also 
considered in measuring the fair value. the liability is recog-
nized over the service period.

personal investment in shares as of 31 December 2014 lti 2014 lti 2013 lti 2012
Members of Management Board   
Dr. Hannes Ametsreiter 25,674 25,674 25,674
Dipl.ing. Günther ottendorfer 21,861 20,872 0
mag. Johann tschuden 9,311 27,431 34,000
Dipl.ing. siegfried mayrhofer 8,100  
   
senior staff 17,675 28,400 38,066
other employees 50,584 29,005 49,994
Total Company 133,205 131,382 147,734
   
members of management and supervisory Boards 164,534 196,001 327,345 
and entitled employees of subsidiaries

lti 2012  2014 2013 2012
expected bonus shares 26,149 22,553 83,692
maximum bonus shares 258,535 232,846 235,734
Fair value in teuR 150 122 459

 lti 2014 lti 2013 lti 2012
program start 1 January 2014 1 January 2013 1 January 2012
Grant date 1 July 2014 1 september 2013 1 August 2012
end of vesting period 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Vesting date 1 July 2017 1 september 2016 1 August 2015

lti 2013 2014 2013
expected bonus shares 48,729 187,005
maximum bonus shares 459,835 480,205
Fair value in teuR 266 988

lti 2014 2014
expected bonus shares 131,078
maximum bonus shares 466,218
Fair value in teuR 699

expenses for the lti program in the amount of teuR 389 
(previous year: teuR 130) are recognised in the income 
statement.
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management Board 
chairman Dr. Hannes Ametsreiter
Deputy chairman mag. Johann tschuden until 31 may 2014
Dipl.ing. mayrhofer siegfried since 1 June 2014
Dipl.ing. Günther ottendorfer

supervisory Board 
ing. Rudolf kemler chairman of the supervisory Board
ph.D. carlos García moreno elizondo  Deputy chairman since 14 August 2014
silvia Bauer
mag. Dr. Alfred Brogyanyi until 14 August 2014
J. D. Alejandro cantú Jiménez since 14 August 2014
Dr. elisabetta castiglioni
Dr. Henrietta egerth-stadlhuber until 14 August 2014
univ. prof.Dr. michael enzinger until 14 August 2014
ing. Walter Hotz
m.sc.ph.D. carlos m. Jarque since 14 August 2014
ing. Gottfried kehrer (formerly Zehetleitner)
mag. Reinhard kraxner since 14 August 2014
mag. Günter leonhartsberger since 14 August 2014
Werner luksch
Ronny pecik
mag. stefan pinter since 14 August 2014
mmag. peter J. oswald until 14 August 2014
mag. Dr. Wolfgang Ruttenstorfer until 14 August 2014
mag. (FH) Alexander sollak
Di Harald stöber until 9 may 2014
oscar Von Hauske solís

Related party transactions were always effected at arm’s-
length.

in accordance with section 237 no. 14 uGb, the company 
exercises the right not to disclose information on expenses 
for the auditor.

the company is a large corporation in accordance with 
section 221 uGb.

chairman Dr. hannes Ametsreiter Dipl.ing. siegfried Mayrhofer Dipl. ing. Günther ottendorfer

4.3 otheR inFoRMAtion
telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft has a group relationship 
with América Móvil, s.A.b. de c.v., Mexico city, and its affili-
ated companies and is fully consolidated in its consolidated 
financial statements since 1 July 2014, which is the largest 
group of companies for which group financial statements are 
prepared. América Móvil Group is listed on the Mexican stock 
exchange, the nAsDAq new york and on the new york stock 
exchange. consolidated financial statements of América 
Móvil, s.A.b. de c.v. are filed with the sec (u.s. securities and 
exchange commission) in Washington, D.c.

the company is a parent company required to prepare con-
solidated financial statements in accordance with section 244 
Austrian commercial code (uGb). the consolidated financial 
statements are filed with the commercial register at the 
commercial court in vienna.

vienna, 22 January 2015
the Management board

5 MeMbeRs oF the MAnAGeMent boARD AnD supeRvisoRy boARD
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ATTAchemenT 1
telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, vienna

          Depreciation
       carrying carrying Additions for the
 purchase price   amount amount for the fiscal
 Balance at    Balance at Accumulated as of as of fiscal year year
 01.01.14 Additions Disposals transfers 31.12.14 depreciation 31.12.14 31.12.13 2014 2014
Finacial assets teuR teuR teuR teuR teuR teuR teuR teuR teuR teuR
1. Shares in capital of affiliated companies
telekom 4,157    4,157 2,766 1,391 1,391 
projektentwicklungs 
GmbH
mobilkom Bulgarien 988,682    988,682 212,540 776,142 988,682  212,540 
Geschäfts- 
entwicklungsgmbH
mobilkom mazedonien 124,540    124,540 84,770 39,770 81,470  41,700 
Geschäftsentwicklungs 
GmbH
mobilkom  364,222 4,210   368,432  368,432 364,222 
Beteiligungs- 
gesellschaft mbH
mobilkom cee  392,031    392,031 103,200 288,831 392,031  103,200 
Geschäfts- 
entwicklungs GmbH
mobilkom Belarus 974,700    974,700 192,270 782,430 711,030 71,400  
Geschäfts- 
entwicklungs GmbH
A1 kroatien 698,790    698,790 518,400 180,390 698,790  518,400 
Geschäfts- 
entwicklungs GmbH
A1 telekom Austria 4,593,607 3,000   4,596,607 749,621 3,846,986 4,233,386  389,400 
Aktiengesellschaft
 8,140,729 7,210 0 0 8,147,939 1,863,567 6,284,372 7,471,001 71,400 1,265,240
 
2. Other investments
ceeseG 543    543  543 543 
Aktiengesellschaft
 8,141,272 7,210 0 0 8,148,482 1,863,567 6,284,915 7,471,544 71,400 1,265,240

MoveMent scheDule oF investMents As oF FiscAl yeAR
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   Remaining maturity   
Amounts in teuR carrying value up to one year more than one year
1. Accounts receivable — trade 1 0 0

2. Receivables — affiliated companies
 – trade 6,188 6,188 0
 – Financing 505,673 505,673 0
 – others 111,660 111,660 0
 623,522 623,522 0
3. Receivables — associated companies
 – trade 88 88 0
 88 88 0
4. other receivables 21,594 21,594 0
Receivables 645,204 645,204 0

   Remaining maturity   
Amounts in teuR carrying value up to one year more than one year
1. Accounts receivable — trade 7 7 0

2. Receivables — affiliated companies
 – trade 3,988 3,988 0
 – others 352,338 352,338 0
 356,326 356,326 0
3. other receivables 20,678 20,678 0
Receivables 377,011 377,011 0

ATTAchmenT 2
telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, vienna

ReceivAbles AGinG RepoRt As oF 31 DeceMbeR 2014

ReceivAbles AGinG RepoRt As oF 31 DeceMbeR 2013
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    Remaining maturity      
   from one more than 
Amounts in teuR carrying value up to one year to five years five years 
1. subordinated capital/hybrid bond 600,000 0 600,000 0

2. liabilities to financial instituts 30,791 30,791 0 0

3. Accounts payable — trade 5,751 5,751 0 0

4. liabilities to affiliated companies
 – trade 1,467 1,467 0 0
 – Financing 2,648,179 598,179 1,000,000 1,050,000
 – others 28,612 28,612 0 0
 2,678,258 628,258 1,000,000 1,050,000

5. other liabilities 818 818 0 0
Liabilities 3,315,618 665,618 1,600,000 1,050,000

    Remaining maturity      
   from one more than
Amounts in teuR carrying value up to one year to five years five years
1. subordinated capital/hybrid bond 600,000 0 0 600,000

2. liabilities to financial instituts 30,791 30,791 0 0

3. Accounts payable — trade 7,266 7,266 0 0

4. liabilities to affiliated companies
 – trade 1,299 1,299 0 0
 – Financing 3,252,477 1,089,977 1,112,500 1,050,000
 – others 94,966 94,966 0 0
 3,348,742 1,186,242 1,112,500 1,050,000

5. other liabilities 624 624 0 0
Liabilities 3,987,423 1,224,923 1,112,500 1,650,000

ATTAchmenT 3
telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, vienna

liAbilities AGinG RepoRt As oF 31 DeceMbeR 2014

liAbilities AGinG RepoRt As oF 31 DeceMbeR 2013

F i nA nc i A l s tAt e M e n t s

119AnnuAl FinAnciAl Rep oR t 2 014  t elekom Aus t RiA GRoup



   shareholders̒ net income/ 
 investment currency equity  loss for the year 
Shares in capital of affiliated companies    
A1 telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, Wien 100.0% teuR 1,055,913 96,650
telekom projektentwicklungs GmbH, Wien 99.0% teuR 1,399 –28,612
A1 kroatien Geschäftsentwicklungs GmbH, Wien 100.0% teuR 180,373 –518,605
mobilkom Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Wien 100.0% teuR 295,078 30,879
mobilkom cee Geschäftsentwicklungs GmbH, Wien 100.0% teuR 288,895 –225,404
mobilkom Belarus Geschäftsentwicklungs GmbH, Wien 100.0% teuR 862,423 151,395
mobilkom mazedonien Geschäftsentwicklungs GmbH, Wien 100.0% teuR 39,763 –41,707
mobilkom Bulgarien GeschäftsentwicklungsgmbH, Wien 100.0% teuR 776,142 –212,664

ATTAchmenT 4
telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, vienna

scheDule oF shARes in AFFiliAteD coMpAnies As oF 31 DeceMbeR 2014
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Annex iV

M A nAGeMent R epoRt
of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft for the period 1 January to 31 December 2014

GeneR Al econoMic enviRonMent1)

in 2014 the global economic situation continued its recovery. 
but as dynamic economic growth stayed behind the expec- 
tations in the first half of 2014, the international Monetary 
Fund (iMF) reduced its forecast for the global economic 
growth to 3.3% in autumn, 0.3 percentage points less than in 
April 2014. iMF experts are currently anticipating a growth of 
3.8% in 2015 with an increased risk of slowing down.

While the economic growth in the usA remained stable in 
2014 at 2.2% compared to the previous year according to 
iMF estimates, china’s decreased slightly from 7.7% to 7.4% 
still displaying a robust trend. After a period of stagnation 
throughout the previous year (+/–0%) eu’s economy grew by 
1.3% according to a forecast published in early november.

based on the european commission estimates, economic 
growth in Austria improved from 0.2% in the previous year 
to 0.7% in 2014, and a further upturn of 1.2% is forecasted 
for 2015. in bulgaria a GDp growth of 1.2% is forecasted for 
2014 while the economy in belarus seems to display a stable 
growth by 0.9% as well as in the previous year. the GDp in 
the Republic of Macedonia showed a further increase by 3.3% 
as estimated by the eu. slovenia seems to be back to growth 
with an increase of 2.4% compared to a decrease of the eco-
nomic performance by 1.0% in the previous year. croatia 

looks likely to have again recorded a negative growth rate 
of 0.7%. likewise the Republic of serbia is expected to see a 
downturn in the economic performance by 1.0% due to the 
catastrophic flood in spring 2014.

While the us Federal Reserve (FeD) has held the federal funds 
rate steady at 0.00–0.25% since 2008 and terminated the 
bond buying program in 2014, the european central bank 
continued easing the monetary policy in the reporting year. 
the further intensifying of the low interest rate policy led 
to two additional decreases of the prime rate in June and 
september 2014 by 10 basis points, respectively, to a mere 
0.05% in spite of the debate on potential deflation in the 
eurozone. Further developments which shaped events on 
the international capital markets included the still ongoing 
civil war in syria and most notably the military conflict in 
the east ukraine as well as economic sanctions imposed 
on Russia whereas the budgetary crises in eu’s peripheral 
countries seem to have eased, at least for the time being.

inDustRy tRenDs AnD coMpetition 
the business performance of telekom Austria Aktiengesell- 
schaft and its subsidiaries (furthermore: telekom Austria 
Group) is influenced by a number of external factors. particu-
larly in the mature markets the market environment in both 
fixed-line and mobile communication markets again proved 
highly competitive in 2014. this leads to a still-ongoing pres-
sure on the pricing level although price adjustments were 
feasible in the course of the year. Furthermore, regulatory 
provisions continue to have a negative impact on revenues 
and earnings. this applies particularly to termination rates 
and roaming charges in mobile communications. Meanwhile, 
the uncertain political and economic situation in the cee 
region affected consumer behaviour in many countries. 
telekom Austria Group counters these factors through the 
systematic implementation of its convergence strategy, a 
clear focus on high-value customers, innovative products 
and services as well as a strict cost management.

1)  Sources: GDP for World, USA, China, Belarus: IMF http://www.imf.org/ 
external/pubs/ft/weo/2014/02/pdf/text.pdf, dated October 2014, pages 2, 
60; European Union, Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia, Slovenia, Republic of Macedonia 
and Republic of Serbia: http://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/publications/
european_economy/2014/pdf/ee7_en.pdf, dated 4 November 2014, pages 1, 
116, 122
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in Austria, telekom Austria Group offers a comprehensive 
and convergent product portfolio comprising both fixed-line 
and mobile communications solutions under its A1 brand. 
the latest market report issued by the regulatory authority, 
which tracked the most recent market data up to the second 
quarter of 2014, shows the high degree of maturity of the 
Austrian market and describes the following average trends 
across all telecommunication providers:

 the monthly average revenues generated per mobile 
customer increased slightly from euR 13.9 to euR 14. 3 
compared to the previous year and end customer revenues 
also showed a slight increase. the revenues in this segment 
decreased by 7% compared to 2013, including wholesale 
revenues — which include termination rates and roaming 
charges.2) While the number of voice minutes saw a 
decrease compared to the second quarter of 2013 (–5%) and 
the number of text messages again experienced a significant 
downturn (–26%), data volume rose once more significantly 
by 45%. the strongest stimulus for this trend still came 
from smartphone tariffs, which rose by 10% to more than 
3.42 million.

 in the Austrian fixed-line market the trend of fixed-to- 
mobile substitution continued in the year under review. 
the number of fixed access lines in households (and there-
fore the total number of fixed lines) was still on decline 
compared on a year-on-year basis while fixed lines for 
business customers slightly increased (+3%). the share of 
total voice minutes attributable fixed lines experienced a 
marginal decrease compared to the previous year. While 
14.5% of the total voice minutes were on fixed-lines in the 
second quarter of 2013, in the comparable period in 2014 
only 14.0% remained. the average revenue per fixed line 
was still decreasing: declining by 9% for private customers 
and 7% for business customers. the strong demand for 
broadband solutions continued in 2014 and resulted in 
an overall rise of 5% to almost 7.8 million broadband con-
nections. Fixed-line broadband grew by 5%, while mobile 
broadband (data tariffs and prepaid cards) decreased by 2%.

According to statistik Austria, the share of Austrian house-
holds with internet access of any kind remained stable at 81% 
between 2013 and 2014. the broadband accesses in private 
households stayed at a steady level of 79% (compared to 80% 
in the previous year), while business broadband accesses 
experienced a further increase from 93% to 96%.3) While 
above indicators collectively suggest increased use of tele-
communications solutions, telecom spending as a percentage 
of users’ average income is, however, generally declining 
at the same time. this is confirmed by the information and 
communications technology (ict) price basket, published 
regularly by the international telecommunication union 
(itu). it calculates spending on the basis of a defined basket 
of products comprising fixed-line telephony, mobile telephony 

and fixed broadband services as a percentage of average 
gross national income per capita. the index value for Austria 
declined from 1.1% in 2008 to 0.7% in 2012, the year of the 
most recent report.4)

in the reporting year, the high competitive intensity in 
bulgaria continued to have a huge influence both on pricing 
for mobile communications services as well as on convergent 
product packages. the internet penetration rate across all 
households increased from 53.7% in the previous year to 
56.7% in 2014, 24.8% of all users use mobile broadband.5)

the croatian ict market was still characterised by high 
competitive intensity and the strained general economic 
situation in the reporting year. this resulted in an overall 
decrease in the number of mobile customers, among which 
the number of prepaid customers grew. however, the number 
of broadband connections rose slightly. total mobile reve-
nues declined significantly in 2014 compared to 2013.6) Regu-
latory measures exerted an added dampening influence due 
to croatia being an eu member since July 2013. Additionally 
the croatian government imposed a substantial rise in 
frequency fees in July 2014 burdening considerably the profit-
ability of all operators. 

the ict market in belarus developed intensely, demonstrated 
in a steady increase in the internet penetration rate as well as 
in the number of mobile subscribers.7)

2)  https://www.rtr.at/de/komp/TKMonitor_4_2013/TM4_2014.pdf

3)  http://www.statistik.at/web_de/statistiken/informationsgesellschaft/index.
html

4)  http://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/Pages/publications/mis2014.aspx

5)  http://www.nsi.bg/en/content/6099/households-who-have-internet- 
access-home

6)  http://www.hakom.hr/UserDocsImages/2014/e_trziste/Croatian%20 
Quarterly%20electronic%20communications%20data,Q32014.pdf; 
http://www.hakom.hr/UserDocsImages/2014/e_trziste/KVA%20ENG 
%20Q3%202014_prepaid%20and%20postpaid%20subscribers_mobile.pdf

7)  http://belstat.gov.by/en/ofitsialnaya-statistika/otrasli-statistiki/transport-i-
svyaz/osnovnye-pokazateli-za-period-s-1995-po-2010-gody/main-indicators-
of-general-use-communications-development/

8)  http://www.stat.si/eng/novica_prikazi.aspx?id=6722; http://www.stat.si/eng/
novica_prikazi.aspx?ID=5959 

9)  http://webrzs.stat.gov.rs/WebSite/Public/ReportResultView.aspx?rptKey=indId
%3d270101IND01%2662%3d1%2c2%2c3%2c4%2c5%2635%3d6%262%3d%23All%231%2
6sAreaId%3d270101%26dType%3dName%26lType%3dEnglish; http://webrzs.stat.
gov.rs/WebSite/Public/ReportResultView.aspx?rptKey=indId%3d270102IND03%2
62%3d%23All%23%2635%3d6%2c7%2c00%2c8%26sAreaId%3d270102%26dType%3dNa
me%26lType%3dEnglish

10)  http://www.stat.gov.mk/PrikaziSoopstenie_en.aspx?rbrtxt=77
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in the Additional Markets segment of telekom Austria Group, 
slovenia has the most developed ict market. According to 
official statistics, there was a further increase in user behavior 
among mobile communications customers while fixed-line 
usage sank notably. Mobile voice minutes rose by 3.6% year-
on-year in the first nine months of 2014, the number of 
text messages sent grew by 12.4%, whereas fixed-line voice 
minutes experienced a decline of 10.6% year-on-year in the 
first three quarters. the number of mobile subscribers also 
increased with a higher plus in contract subscribers (+3.9%) 
than in prepaid subscribers (+0.9%).8)

in the Republic of serbia, the catch-up process in mobile 
broadband, starting from a far lower level than in the telekom 
Austria Group’s other markets, continued in 2014. this devel-
opment was supported by a general expansion of network 
infrastructures. Meanwhile 90.6% of all serbian households 
own a mobile phone compared to 82.0% in 2010.9)

the ict market in the Republic of Macedonia is only slowly 
approaching the standards of Western europe in terms of user 
behavior; both broadband penetration and average revenues 
are at significantly lower levels. According to the statistical 
office of the Republic of Macedonia 68.3% of all Macedonian 
households had internet access in the first quarter of 2014, 
thereof 99.1% had broadband internet. 55.2% of people with 
internet access used a mobile device to access the web.10)

FinAnciAl key peRFoRMAnce inDicAtoRs
total assets as of 31 December 2014, amounted to euR 6,944.9 
million compared to euR 7,866.6 million in the previous year, 
representing a decrease of 11.7%.

long-term assets decreased by 15.9%, from euR 7,471.5 million 
to euR 6.284,9 million. in long-term financial assets, current 
company valuations resulted in the reversal of impairment 
losses recognized in prior periods on investments in affiliated 
companies totaling euR 71.4 million (mobilkom belarus 
Geschäftsentwicklungs Gmbh) as well as an impairment loss 
(most notably A1 kroatien Geschäftsentwicklungs Gmbh, 
moblkom bulgarien Geschäftsentwicklungs Gmbh and A1 
telekom Austria AG) in the amount of euR 1,265.2 million. 
the increase in current assets from euR 379.3 million to 
euR 647.5 million as of 31 December 2014 resulted from 
higher cash pooling receivables partly offset by lower dividend 
receivables from affiliated companies. 

As of 31 December 2014, shareholders’ equity amounted to 
euR 3,381.3 million (31 December 2013: euR 3,537.8 million). 
in the reporting period a capital increase was completed. 
thus the number of shares of telekom Austria Group was 
raised by 221.5 million, from 443.0 million to 664.5 million. 
the net proceeds of the transaction amounted to euR 996.6 
million. telekom Austria intends to use the net proceeds of 
the capital increase to re-establish its target capital structure 

and maintain a credit rating of at least bbb (stable) by standard 
& poor’s. this will allow telekom Austria Group to pursue 
strategic investment with high priorities with the aim to 
strengthen the telekom Austria Group’s operational perfor-
mance. in particular, the capital increase will allow telekom 
Austria Group to implement an accelerated roll-out of its fibre 
infrastructure in combination with latest available technol-
ogies. telekom Austria Group thus safeguards the Group’s 
leadership in present markets and aims to meet increasing 
demand for high bandwidth services. Furthermore, telekom 
Austria Group will be able to continue its growth strategy and 
where applicable finance value-accretive M&A opportunities. 
thereby the following priorities are maintained: (i) in-market 
consolidation to strengthen existing operations; (ii) the 
continued pursuit of telekom Austria Group's convergence 
strategy to diversify in markets that are currently mobile-
only and to enhance existing convergent operations; and (iii) 
expansion via new operations.

the decrease in liabilities by euR 671.8 million to euR 3,315.6 
million is most notably due to lower short-term financial lia-
bilities with telekom Finanzmanagement Gmbh.

the services rendered by the management holding in 2014 
led to a an increase in revenues from euR 23.8 million in 2013 
to euR 26.9 million in 2014.

personnel expenses increased from euR 22.0 million in the 
previous year to euR 27.5 million in 2014. other operating 
expenses rose from euR 27.6 million to euR 39.4 million and 
were primarily driven by the capital transaction tax in the 
amount of euR 10.1 million related to the capital increase.

As a result of the developments described above, the 
operating loss amounted to euR –39.7 million in 2014 
compared to euR –25.5 million in 2013.

income from investments decreased from euR 405.2 million 
in 2013 to euR 159.7 million in 2014, above all due to dividends 
distributed within the Group in 2013.

income from reversal of impairment losses recognised in 
prior periods on long-term financial assets amounting to 
euR 71.4 million (2013: euR 107.2 million) mainly relate to 
the investment in mobilkom belarus Geschäftsentwicklungs 
Gmbh.

in 2014, expenses from long-term financial assets are pri-
marily due to the impairment loss recognised on A1 kroatien 
Geschäftsentwicklungs Gmbh (in the amount of euR 518.4 
million), on mobilkom bulgarien Geschäftsentwicklungs 
Gmbh (in the amount of euR 212.5 million) and on A1 telekom 
Austria AG (in the amount of euR 389.4 million), while in 
2013 it mostly related to the impairment loss recognised on 
A1 telekom Austria AG in the amount of euR 249.0 million.
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interest expense, predominantly attributable to affiliated 
companies, remained stable at euR 147.7 million compared 
to the previous year (euR 148.9 million). Due to the factors 
described above, the loss before income taxes amounted to 
euR –1,205.3 million following a loss of euR –6.2 million in 
2013.

income tax benefits for 2014 are euR 103.1 million (2013: 
euR 70.8 million), partly due to group tax allocations of euR 
8.7 million for the year 2014 and partly resulting from the 
reversal of provisions for deferred taxes of euR 94.4 million.

overall, these developments result in a net loss for the 2014 
financial year in the amount of euR –1,147.1 million (2013: net 
income of euR 64.6 million). to enable the intended distribu-
tion of dividends in 2014, euR 1,180.2 million were released 
from other reserves into net income. in the financial year 
2013 an amount of euR 42.5 million was transferred from net 
income to other reserves.

At the Annual General Meeting the Management board 
will propose a dividend of euR 0.05 per eligible share. the 
remaining net income will be carried forward to new account.

the following section briefly explains the main financial and 
operational ratios.

 in accordance with section 23 of the company Reorganisa-
tion Act (uRG), the equity ratio amounted to 48.7% as of 
31 December 2014 (31 December 2013: 45.0%). this ratio is 
calculated by dividing equity by total assets.

 the notional debt repayment period as set out in section 
24 uRG cannot be calculated as of 31 December 2014 due to 
the net cash outflow. As of 31 December 2013 the notional 
debt repayment period amounted to 29.8 years. the change 
is due to lower dividend income from affiliated companies 
in 2014 compared to 2013. the notional debt repayment 
rate indicates the number of years until all debts are repaid 
on the basis of earnings/loss before income taxes.

 the earnings before interest and income tax (ebit) corre-
sponds to the earnings/loss before income taxes adjusted 
by interest income and interest expense. the decrease of 
ebit from euR 142.7 million in 2013 to euR –1,102.5 million 
in this financial year is mainly due to impairment losses 
recognised on affiliated companies in the amount of 
euR 1,265.2 million.

 the return on equity (ratio of ebit to stockholders’ equity) 
decreased from 4.0% in 2013 to –32.6% in 2014. the return 
on assets (ratio of ebit to liabilities and stockholders’ 
equity) sank from 1.8% in 2013 to –15.9% in 2014.

 the net debts comprise interest-bearing liabilities less 
cash and cash equivalents. net debt as of 31 December 2014 
decreased to euR 2,776.7 million compared to euR 3.887.2 
million in the previous year. this is mainly the result of 
the repayment of financial liabilities that were due to 
telekom Austria Finanzmanagement Gmbh.

 the cash flow from operating activities increased from 
euR –60.9 million in 2013 to euR 126.5 million in 2014, 
which is mainly attributable to changes in the capital 
commitments in current assets. the reduction in current 
assets is most notably due to lower dividend receivables 
from affiliated companies.

 cash flow from investing activities amounts to euR –7.2 
million in 2014 compared to euR –347.4 million in the 
previous year. this change was primarily the result from 
the acquisition of the mobile provider yesss! in the 
amount of euR 339.5 million in January 2013.

 cash flow from financing activities decreased from 
euR 408.3 million in 2013 to euR 368.4 million in 2014. 
the cash flow from financing activities derived for the 
most part by the incoming payment from the capital 
increase less the repayment of financial liabilities that 
were due to telekom Austria Finanzmanagement Gmbh.

equity investMents11)

in addition to Austria, telekom Austria Group is successfully 
positioned in another six european countries as of 31 December 
2014. At the end of 2014, the Group provided mobile commu-
nication services to around 20.0 million customers (2013: 
20.1 million); fixed access lines amounted to more than 
2.7 million, representing an increase of 3.3% compared to 
the previous year.

11)  As of Q2 2013 the methodology for counting mobile subscribers was changed 
in Austria and in Q4 changed in Bulgaria. The previous quarters were adjusted 
retrospectively.
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in 2014, A1 telekom Austria AG experienced a decrease of its 
overall customer base for mobile communication by 5.1% 
to about 5.4 million customers. its mobile market share 
was 41.1% compared to 42.6% in the previous year. Mobile 
penetration was 155.1% (2013: 158.1%). Average revenues per 
mobile communication customer increased by 0.5% to euR 
16.2 (2013: euR 16.1). Fixed line accesses rose by 3,200 in 2014 
to about 2.3 million accesses. Average revenues per fixed 
access line amounted to euR 30.4 (2013: euR 31.3).

Mobiltel eAD increased the number of mobile customers by 
0.9% to 4.2 million. Mobiltel, bulgaria’s leading communica-
tion provider, saw its market share fall from 39.0% to 37.6% in 
the reporting period. the mobile penetration rate increased 
to 152.7% in bulgaria (2013: 144.8%).

At vipnet d.o.o., croatia’s second largest mobile communi-
cation provider, the number of mobile customers declined 
by 5.6% in 2014 to 1.7 million customers. At the end of 2014, 
vipnet held a market share of 36.0% (2013: 37.3%). the mobile 
penetration rate in croatia ant the end of the year was 112.6% 
(2013: 115.1%).

in 2014, unitary enterprise velcom, the second largest mobile 
communication provider in belarus, experienced a stable 
mobile customer base with 4.9 million customers compared 
to the previous year. As at the end of December 2014 velcom 
held a market share of 42.4% (2013: 42.5%). the mobile 
penetration rate in belarus was 123.3% (2013: 123.0%).

As of the end of 2014, si.mobil d.d., the second largest mobile 
communication provider in slovenia has gained 0.3% more 
customers, raising the total to 681,500. the market share sank 
to 29.2% (2013: 30.0%). At the end of 2014, the mobile penetra-
tion rate in slovenia was 111.8% compared to 108.5% in 2013.

vip mobile d.o.o., the third largest mobile communication 
provider in the Republic of serbia, increased its mobile 
customer base by 7.0% to 2.2 million customers, holding a 
market share of 22.5% at the end of 2014 (2013: 21.1%). by the 
end of 2014 the mobile penetration rate in the Republic of 
serbia had reached 133.6% (2013: 133.1%).

At the end of 2014, vip operator Dooel, the second largest 
mobile communications provider in the Republic of Macedonia, 
had 622,000 customers, compared to 629,700 customers at 
the end of 2013, representing a decrease of 1.2%. however, the 
market share of vip operator increased from 28.0% at the end 
of 2013 to 28.2% at the end of 2014. As of 31 December 2014, 
the mobile penetration rate in the Republic of Macedonia 
was at 107.4% (2013: 109.2%). As a result of the acquisition of 
blizoo Dooel, Macedonia, the segment Macedonia also held 
62,600 fixed line accesses at the end of 2014.

in 2014, mobilkom liechtenstein AG merged with telecom 
liechtenstein AG; the transaction was concluded on 27 August 
2014. mobilkom liechtenstein achieved a number of 6,509 
customers as of 31 July 2014 (2013: 6,356). the market share 
was 16.3% (2013: 16.1%). starting with the third quarter of 2014 
mobilkom liechtenstein is consolidated at equity and there-
fore not any longer part of the segment other Markets.

chAnGes to the MAnAGeMent 
AnD supeRvisoRy boARD
Mr. Di harald stöber, who had been a member of the super- 
visory board for a number of years, passed away in early 
May 2014. All other members who had been appointed until 
14 August 2014 stepped down from their positions with effect 
from the end of the extraordinary General Meeting on 
14 August 2014. in the extraordinary General Meeting on 
14 August 2014 all members of the supervisory boards were 
newly elected following the implementation of the share- 
holders’ agreement.

siegfried Mayrhofer was appointed as chief Financial officer 
for one year with effect from 1 June 2014 to replace hans 
tschuden, whose contract expired on 31 May 2014.

innovAtion AnD technoloGy
the telekom Austria Group concentrates its extensive 
research and development activities on the development 
of market-oriented products and services in addition to the 
ongoing technological development of its network infra- 
structure in order to ensure that it is well-equipped for the 
increasingly stringent demands of the future, namely the 
need to provide ever-larger data volumes more quickly and 
ideally irrespective of location.

With vipnet, Mtel, vip mobile and vip operator the telecom 
Austria Group is among the first providers in europe to have 
successfully tested network function virtualisation (nFv) 
technology — the virtualization and automation of network 
functionalities — in four field trials in croatia, bulgaria, 
serbia and Macedonia. nFv technology renders the network 
more efficient and flexible, and hence represents a paradigm 
shift for the entire telecommunications industry. occupying 
a leading position in this area is a key element of the Group’s 
innovation strategy.

in spring 2014, a successful field trial concerning 400 Gbps 
high speed technology between Zagreb and ljubljana proved 
again the innovating ability of telekom Austria Group. 
in Austria, A1 telekom Austria AG could demonstrate in 
live operation for the first time worldwide the ultra-broad-
band-transmission technology G.fast. Data speeds of several 
hundred Mbps per household could be achieved by using 
existing copper wires in a 19th-century building. G.fast there-
fore enables transmission of ultra-broadband services via 
the existing copper wire network.
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Following the acquisition of the necessary frequency spec-
trum the focus concerning the mobile network rollout was 
put on lte. si.mobil already offers coverage of more than 75% 
in slovenia. A1 telekom Austria AG offers coverage of more 
than 60% in Austria, vip operator coverage in Macedonia is in 
excess of 42%, and vipnet in croatia offers coverage of more 
than 27%. the lte networks are not only rolled out but also 
evolving. in June 2014, A1 telekom Austria AG tested as first 
operator in Austria live 4G/lte voice telephony within a voice 
over lte trial (volte). Furthermore the subsidiaries A1 

telekom Austria AG and si.mobil made an important step in 
the further development of the fourth mobile communica-
tions generation towards lte Advanced by implementing lte 
carrier aggregation in selected conurbations in november 
2014. instead of previous 150 Mbps at the maximum, now 
suitable devices enabled transmission rates up to 300 Mbps. 
Following the launch of 4G/lte Roaming in switzerland in 
late 2013, A1 telekom Austria AG has extended its roaming 
partnerships include a total of 21 countries in recent months.

 end of current term of office/
name (year of birth) Date of first appointment leaving date
Alfred Brogyányi (1948) 29.05.2013 14.08.2014
elisabetta castiglioni (1964) 29.05.2013 2016*
Henrietta egerth-stadlhuber (1971) 20.05.2008 14.08.2014
carlos García moreno elizondo, first Deputy chairman (1957) 14.08.2014 2018**
michael enzinger (1959)*** 29.05.2013 14.08.2014
carlos m. Jarque (1954) 14.08.2014 2018**
Alejandro cantú Jiménez (1972) 14.08.2014 2016*
Rudolf kemler, chairman (1956) 01.11.2012 2018**
Reinhard kraxner (1970) 14.08.2014 2016*
Günther leonhartsberger (1968) 14.08.2014 2018**
peter J. oswald (1962) 20.05.2008 14.08.2014
Ronny pecik (1962)**** 23.05.2012 2018**
stefan pinter (1978) 14.08.2014 2016*
Wolfgang Ruttenstorfer (1950) 27.05.2010 14.08.2014
Harald stöber (1952)***** 04.06.2003 09.05.2014
oscar Von Hauske solís (1957) 23.10.2012 2018**

members of the supervisory Board appointed by the staff council
silvia Bauer (1968) 30.01.2009 to 03.11.2010, reappointed on 26.07.2012
Walter Hotz (1959) Reappointed on 06.05.2011  
Werner luksch (1967) 03.08.2007 to 20.10.2010, reappointed on 11.01.2011
Alexander sollak (1978) 03.11.2010
Gottfried kehrer (1962)****** 27.10.2010

 * The term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting for the 2015 financial year (provisionally May 2016).

 ** The term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting for the 2017 financial year (provisionally May 2018).

 *** Second Vice Chairman until 14 August 2014

 **** First Vice Chairman until 14 August 2014

 ***** Harald Stöber passed away on 9 May 2014.

 ****** Name changed from Zehetleitner to Kehrer on 10 October 2014

MeMbeRs oF the supeRvisoRy boARD
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A1 telekom Austria AG expanded its strategic product port- 
folio with Managed it and e-health solutions in the reporting 
year. A1 telekom Austria AG is market leader concerning 
Managed it at desktop outsourcing with more than 55,000 
managed workstations. in the e-health solutions business 
area offers A1’s infotainment for patients tv, radio, internet 
and telephone as well as — safeguarded via fingerprint —  
medical records.

the telekom Austria Group M2M realises M2M projects 
within the entire footprint of telekom Austria Group. start-
ing from the basic product managed connectivity a full range 
of solutions is offered for asset tracking, fleet management, 
and industrial automation up to smart metering. in bulgaria, 
croatia and serbia cash registers were successfully connected 
to the financial authorities. smart Metering focuses its activ-
ities on Austria due to the national implementations of the 
eu legal framework, which requires the conversion of 95% of 
the existing electricity meters to smart Meters until the end 
of 2019.

thanks to the interconnection of its fiber footprints with 
América Móvil, the telekom Austria Group can now offer its 
wholesale customers more than 200 points of presence (pop) 
in 47 countries. Moreover, both companies cooperate in the 
voice sector: with the interconnection in Miami, telekom 
Austria Group is one of the first providers to use the latin 
America hub of América Móvil.

through the cooperation with national and international 
institutions and application-based research cooperation with 
partners in the scientific and industrial communities, telekom 
Austria is pursuing different approaches for the integration 
of future information and communications technologies in 
order to allow it to permanently offer market and customer- 
oriented communications solutions. the telekom Austria 
Group currently has research partnerships with the Research 
centre for telecommunications in vienna, the vienna uni-
versity of technology, the university of vienna, the christian 
Doppler laboratory for sustainable Mobility, the Josef-Ressel 
center for user-friendly secure Mobile environments and the 
technical university of sofia. beyond its own sphere of action, 
A1 telekom Austria AG also promotes innovation by new com-
panies with a start-up initiative that provides expertise and 
infrastructure. Furthermore telekom Austria Group engages 
within the framework of the stakeholder process of the tech-
nology platform smart Grids in Austria in the discussion 
about the implementation of smart power grids.

coRpoR Ate sociAl Responsibility
the telekom Austria Group’s corporate strategy is geared 
towards increasing enterprise value in a sustainable way, 
while taking into account all relevant economic, ecological 
and social aspects. this goal is supported by the commitment 
to the Austrian corporate Governance code and the application 

of all the requirements of the internal control system, the 
code of conduct and the compliance guidelines. An inte-
grated corporate social responsibility (csR) management 
system, pre-defined standards and processes, a Group-wide 
environment policy and compliance with the un Global 
compact ensure the ongoing development of strategies and 
goals, and the involvement of all business units and hierar-
chies. sustainability reporting is based on the guidelines of 
the Global Reporting initiative (GRi) and is independently 
validated by an external auditor.

the sustainability strategy of the telekom Austria Group was 
fundamentally revised in 2013. A materiality analysis was 
conducted with the help of various interest groups to identify 
the central sustainability issues. Four areas of activity were 
then derived which are considered material to the future 
development of the telekom Austria Group. specific targets, 
measures and performance indicators were defined for these 
areas of activity.

the area of activity named “providing responsible products” 
builds on the innovative application options for secure, high 
performance communication networks and their positive 
impact on the environment and society. “living green” high-
lights the specific measures to reduce the telekom Austria 
Group’s ecological footprint. to allow performance measure- 
ment in this area, environmental indicators were drawn 
across the Group (with the exception of liechtenstein). the 
targeted promotion of employees is at the heart of the area of 
activity named “empowering people”. Finally, “creating equal 
opportunities” comprises the telekom Austria Group’s initia-
tives aimed at fostering digital media skills at subsidiaries.

the environmental management of A1 telekom Austria AG 
and the slovenian si.mobil is iso 14001 certified and satisfies 
all eMAs requirements. A1’s energy management is iso 50001 
certified. compliance with the requirements of these stand-
ards is reviewed annually by an independent certification 
body. in 2014, A1 telekom Austria AG has implemented the 
first and only co2-neutral network in Austria. the underly-
ing co2-calculation was audited and validated by tÜv sÜD 
according to the international norm pAs 2060.

DisclosuRe in AccoRDAnce With 
section 243A oF the AustRiAn business 
enteRpRise coDe (‘uGb’)

shAReholDeR stRuctuRe AnD cApitAl 
DisclosuRes
the shareholders’ agreement between Österreichische 
industrieholding AG (“ÖiAG”), América Móvil, s.A.b. de c.v. 
(“América Móvil”) and carso telecom b.v. (“carso telecom”) 
came into force on 27 June 2014. under the terms of the share-
holders’ agreement, the parties have undertaken to jointly 
pursue a long-term policy with regard to the management of 
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telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft (“telekom Austria AG”) by 
exercising their voting rights on a concerted basis. the share-
holders’ agreement also contains provisions on the joint 
exercise of voting rights in the committees of telekom 
Austria AG for the election of supervisory board and Manage-
ment board members and restrictions on the sale of shares. 
the supervisory board of the telekom Austria AG consists of 
ten shareholder representatives, of which eight members are 
nominated by carso telecom and two by ÖiAG. ÖiAG has the 
right to appoint the chairman of the supervisory board. carso 
telecom has the right to appoint the Deputy chairman. the 
Management board of telekom Austria AG consists of three 
members. two members are nominated by carso telecom, 
while one member of the Management board, namely the 
chief executive officer (ceo), is nominated by ÖiAG. the 
extraordinary General Meeting on 14 August 2014 also 
amended the Articles of Association to state that, as long as 
the Republic of Austria directly or indirectly holds at least 
25% plus one share of the share capital of telekom Austria 
AG, resolutions on capital increases and the issue of instru-
ments containing a conversion right or a conversion obliga-
tion for shares of telekom Austria AG and amendments to 
the provisions of the Articles of Association relating to capital 
increases and such instruments shall require a majority of 
at least three quarters of the share capital represented at the 
vote on the resolution.

ÖiAG and carso telecom have agreed that at least 24% of the 
shares of telekom Austria AG should be in free float while 
the shareholders’ agreement is in place. this minimum free 
float requirement is based on ÖiAG’s maximum equity inter-
est of 25% plus one share. if ÖiAG holds more than 25% plus 
one share of the share capital of telekom Austria AG, the min-
imum free float requirement decreases accordingly so that 
América Móvil can retain an equity interest in telekom Austria 
AG of 51%. if the number of shares in free float falls below the 
minimum while the shareholders’ agreement is in place, (i) 
carso telecom undertakes to sell shares within the next 24 
months and (ii) América Móvil undertakes to ensure that 
neither it nor its subsidiaries purchase any additional shares 
until the minimum free float requirement is restored.

As long as ÖiAG holds 25% plus one share or more of the 
share capital of telekom Austria AG, ÖiAG shall have the fol-
lowing rights of codetermination in accordance with the vot-
ing rights agreement: the right to veto capital increases of 
telekom Austria AG and its subsidiaries, the issue of certain 
convertible instruments, the appointment of the auditor of 
the financial statements, related party transactions, the relo-
cation of the registered office of the company and material 
business functions, including research and development, the 
disposal of the company’s core business, and changes to the 
name of telekom Austria AG and the brands of telekom Aus-
tria AG, among other things. ÖiAG shall also be granted the 
blocking minority rights accruing by law to a minority share-

holder with an equity interest of 25% plus one share. ÖiAG’s 
veto rights in connection with capital increases and the issue 
of certain convertible instruments are also set out in the 
Articles of Association of telekom Austria AG. if ÖiAG’s equity 
interest falls below 20% but remains above 10%, ÖiAG shall 
retain certain veto rights. the voting rights agreement shall 
expire automatically if the equity interest held by one of the 
parties falls below 10%.

At the end of 2014, a total of 59.70% or 396,705,196 shares 
of the telekom Austria AG were directly or indirectly held 
by América Móvil. the Republic of Austria holds 28.42% 
via ÖiAG, while the remaining 11.88% is attributable to free 
float. 0.1% or 0.4 million of these shares were treasury shares. 
América Móvil has more than doubled its equity interest com-
pared to 23.67% at the end of 2013. on 23 April 2014, América 
Móvil and ÖiAG entered into the before mentioned share-
holders’ agreement that triggered a public takeover offer. 
During the acceptance and additional acceptance period from 
15 May 2014 to 16 october 2014, a total of 142,414,783 shares 
(32.15%) of the telekom Austria AG were sold to América 
Móvil for a price of euR 7.15 per share. the first capital 
increase in the history of the telekom Austria AG was under-
taken in november 2014. between 10 and 24 november 2014, 
a total of 221,500,000 new shares were offered for subscrip-
tion at a price of euR 4.57 per share. Around 99.7% of the new 
shares were placed, with the remaining 0.3% subscribed by 
Deutsche bank at a price of euR 5.26 per share. As a result, the 
number of shares in circulation increased to 664,500,000.

the voting rights attached to shares held by telekom Austria 
AG employees, which are held in a collective custody account, 
are exercised by a custodian (notary).

the main changes in the shareholder’s structure were as 
follows:

on 14 January 2014, carso telecom, in which América Móvil 
indirectly holds a controlling interest, concluded a condi-
tional share purchase agreement with inmobiliaria carso, s.A. 
de c.v and control empresarial de capitales, s.A. de c.v for a 
total of 13,901,000 telekom Austria AG shares, corresponding 
to 3.14% of the share capital. When the transaction comes 
into force, carso telecom holds a total of 110,841,174 ordinary 
shares of telekom Austria AG, corresponding to 25.0206% 
of the voting rights in telekom Austria AG, and therefore 
exceeds the threshold of 25% of the voting rights of the issuer; 
América Móvil holds directly (section 91 (1) of the Austrian 
stock exchange Act (‘börseG’) and indirectly (section 92 (Z 4) 
of the Austrian stock exchange Act) a total of 118,776,874 ordi-
nary shares of telekom Austria AG, corresponding to 26.8119% 
of the voting rights in telekom Austria AG, and therefore 
exceeds the threshold of 25% of the voting rights of the issuer.
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As of 13 March 2014 carso telecom holds a total of 110,841,174 
ordinary shares of telekom Austria AG, corresponding to 
25.0206% of the voting rights in telekom Austria AG, and 
therefore exceeds the threshold of 25% of the voting rights 
of the issuer; América Móvil holds directly (section 91 (1) of 
the Austrian stock exchange Act) and indirectly (section 92 
(Z. 4) Austrian stock exchange Act) a total of 118,776,874 ordi-
nary shares of telekom Austria AG, corresponding to 26.8119% 
of the voting rights in telekom Austria AG, and therefore 
exceeds the threshold of 25% of the voting rights of the issuer.

on 23 April 2014, América Móvil announced that it had 
concluded a shareholders’ agreement with ÖiAG concerning 
its equity interest in telekom Austria AG via its wholly-owned 
subsidiary carso telecom.

on 25 April 2014, América Móvil and ÖiAG announced that 
the conditional shareholders’ agreement in accordance with 
sections 91, 91a and 92 (Z. 1) of the Austrian stock exchange 
Act encompassed the voting rights for 244,694,609 shares of 
telekom Austria AG, corresponding to an equity interest of 
55.2358%. When the shareholders’ agreement went into effect, 
América Móvil and ÖiAG exceeded the threshold of 30%, 35%, 
40%, 45% and 50% of the votes in telekom Austria AG in 
accordance with section 92 (Z. 1) in conjunction with section 
91 Austrian stock exchange Act.

on 30 June 2014, carso telecom announced that, following 
the conclusion of a conditional shareholders’ agreement 
with ÖiAG on 15 May 2014, it had submitted a public takeover 
offer with the aim of effecting a change of control in accord-
ance with section 25a of the Austrian takeover Act (‘ÜbG’). 
the takeover offer to the shareholders of telekom Austria 
AG relates to the acquisition of all no-par value shares not 
already held by the bidder, the América Móvil Group, ÖiAG or 
telekom Austria AG. the offer price is euR 7.15 ex dividend 
2013 per no-par value share of telekom Austria AG. the offer 
could have been accepted between 15 May 2014 and 10 July 
2014, 5:00 p.m, vienna time.

on 30 June 2014, carso telecom and ÖiAG announced that 
all of the conditions precedent of the shareholders’ agree-
ment had been met by 27 June 2014. the shareholders’ agree-
ment came into force with the fulfilment of all of the condi-
tions precedent. in accordance with sections 91, 91a and 92 (Z. 
1) Austrian stock exchange Act, the shareholders’ agreement 
encompassed the voting rights for 246,218,158 shares of 
telekom Austria AG, corresponding to an equity interest of 
55.58% at this point in time.

on 15 July 2014, América Móvil and ÖiAG announced that 
carso telecom had received 103,978,115 shares during the 
acceptance period of the public takeover offer for all of the 
shares of telekom Austria AG, corresponding to approxi-
mately 23.47% of the voting rights in telekom Austria AG. in 

accordance with sections 91, 91a and 92 (Z. 1) Austrian stock 
exchange Act, the shareholders’ agreement encompassed the 
voting rights for 351,002,957 shares of telekom Austria AG, 
corresponding to an equity interest of 79.23% at this point in 
time. the acceptance period ended on 10 July 2014. Follow-
ing the payment of the purchase price and the transfer of the 
shares, América Móvil held directly and indirectly 225,085,222 
shares, corresponding to around 50.80% of the share capital 
of telekom Austria AG. under the conditions of the offer doc-
ument, every shareholder who did not accept the offer was 
offered a sell-out period of an additional three months.

on 18 July 2014, América Móvil and ÖiAG submitted the 
following notification: the 125,917,735 ordinary shares of 
telekom Austria AG held by ÖiAG corresponding to 28.4239% 
of the voting rights of the issuer, are attributable in accord-
ance with section 92 Austrian stock exchange Act. Further-
more, a total of 103,978,115 ordinary shares of telekom 
Austria AG were delivered under the terms of the takeover 
offer by carso telecom up until 14 July 2014, corresponding 
to 23.4713% of the voting rights in telekom Austria AG. 
Directly and indirectly and taking into account the shares 
held by ÖiAG and the delivered shares, América Móvil there-
fore holds a total of 351,002,957 ordinary shares of telekom 
Austria AG, corresponding to 79.2332% of the voting rights 
in telekom Austria AG.

on 21 october 2014, América Móvil announced that its 
subsidiary carso telecom had received 38,436,668 shares 
during the additional acceptance period of the public 
takeover offer for all of the shares of telekom Austria AG, 
corresponding to approximately 8.68% of the voting rights 
in telekom Austria AG. the additional acceptance period 
ended on 16 october 2014.

on 21 october 2014, América Móvil announced that, following 
the purchase of additional ordinary shares of telekom Austria 
AG by carso telecom on the otc market and the settlement of 
the shares acquired during the additional acceptance period 
in accordance with section 19 (3) of the Austrian takeover Act, 
América Móvil will hold 264,470,131 ordinary shares of telekom 
Austria AG directly and indirectly via carso telecom, corre-
sponding to 59.6998% of the voting rights in telekom Austria 
AG. the 125,917,735 ordinary shares of telekom Austria AG 
held by ÖiAG, corresponding to 28.4239% of the voting rights 
of telekom Austria AG, are attributable in accordance with 
section 92 of the Austrian stock exchange Act and section 20 
of the Austrian banking Act. Directly and indirectly and tak-
ing into account the ordinary shares held by ÖiAG, América 
Móvil therefore holds a total of 390,387,866 ordinary shares of 
telekom Austria AG, corresponding to 88.1237% of the voting 
rights in telekom Austria AG.

on 7 november 2014, the Management board of telekom 
Austria AG, with the approval of the supervisory board of 

M A nAGe M e n t R e p oRt

129AnnuAl FinAnciAl Rep oR t 2 014  t elekom Aus t RiA GRoup



telekom Austria AG, resolved to implement a capital increase 
with the aim of generating net proceeds of up to euR 1 bn 
from the issue of up to 221,500,000 new no — par value shares 
with voting rights.

on 24 november 2014, the telekom Austria AG announced 
the end of the subscription period and the completion of the 
capital increase announced on 7 november 2014. As a result, 
the number of shares of the telekom Austria AG increased 
by 221.5 million, from 443.0 million to 664.5 million. the net 
proceeds from the transaction amounted to euR 996.6 mn.
on 28 november 2014, the telekom Austria AG announced 
that the share capital of telekom Austria AG had increased 
from euR 966,183,000 to euR 1,449,274,500 as a result of 
the capital increase, which was entered in the commercial 
register on 27 november 2014. At the same time, the number 
of no-par value shares in circulation increased from 
443,000,000 to 664,500,000.

Risk MAnAGeMent

pRinciples AnD MethoDs
As one of the leading telecommunications companies in 
Austria and central and eastern europe, the telekom Austria 
Group is exposed to a wide range of risks and changes in 
market circumstances. the risk management system of the 
telekom Austria Group anticipates these developments at an 
early stage in order allow an effective response. in its essence, 
it consists of four areas: Market and business risks which 
may arise in respective countries due to competition, regula-
tory intervention or an unclear legal situation are monitored 
and analysed throughout the Group by a central risk manager. 
Risks which may influence the guaranteed availability and 
security of the services offered, such as technical and topo-
graphical risks, are covered by business interruption manage-
ment. compliance risks are monitored by Group compliance, 
which is aided by local compliance managers. Finally, finan-
cial risks such as liquidity, default, currency, transfer and 
interest rate risks are handled by the treasury department.

Market and competition risks listed below are managed at 
Group level in the form of the regular analysis of risks and 
opportunities and the use of effective measures to mitigate 
and exploit them. the effects of deviations from planning are 
evaluated using scenario and probability calculations. the 
overall risk situation is derived from the sum of the individ-
ual risks. As of 31 December 2014, in addition to the Austrian 
fixed-line and mobile communications market, the telekom 
Austria Group also holds leading positions internationally 
in six other telecommunications markets, which ensures 
broad diversification in terms of both sectors and geographi-
cal regions. the risks in the respective markets vary, which is 
why risk management is the responsibility of the local opera-
tional units. Risk management is controlled by the holding 
company. structured interviews are conducted with the 

respective top managers in order to identify and assess risks 
and summarise them in an overall risk report. building on 
this, measures to reduce and avoid risk are prepared, imple-
mented and subsequently analysed. A risk catalogue forms 
the basis for risk management. the close integration of 
business planning and risk management ensures appropriate 
risk control.

the telekom Austria Group’s risk management is monitored 
by the Audit committee of the supervisory board.

the most important risk categories and individual risks that 
could materially influence the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations of the telekom Austria Group are 
explained below.

Risks

MARket AnD coMpetition Risks
high competitive intensity, which is also being observed in 
the telekom Austria Group’s international markets, is lead-
ing to sharp price reductions in both mobile communications 
and data traffic. Accordingly there is the risk that growth in 
traffic volumes will not sufficiently offset these price declines. 
Falling prices for mobile communications are also accelerating 
fixed-to-mobile substitution. however, the Group is address-
ing this risk by means of attractive product bundles and by 
expanding its convergent business strategy to include foreign 
markets. the trend towards smartphones is being exploited 
to make higher-value tariffs more attractive and to thereby 
increase sales potential in the medium term. the focus 
remains on convergent products.

the telecommunications sector is facing the challenge of hav-
ing to be able to offer new services and products at faster and 
faster rates. shorter innovation cycles also entail innovation 
risks that are countered with different measures. An example 
of this is “future.talk”, a series of events created by telekom 
Austria Group to discuss global challenges to the industry.

the economic and financial crisis led to increased volatility 
in the overall economic environment in the telekom Austria 
Group’s operating markets. the monitoring of key macroeco-
nomic indicators in order to assess any changes in consumer 
behaviour is therefore an important aspect of risk management 
as well as strategic pricing and product design.

ReGulAtoRy AnD leGAl Risks
telecommunications services offered by a provider with sig-
nificant market power are subject to extensive network access 
and price regulations. in Austria the telekom Austria Group 
falls into this category in several sub-markets, and its foreign 
subsidiaries are also subject to equivalent regulatory frame-
works. Regulation at both retail and wholesale levels restricts 
operational flexibility with regard to products and product 
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bundles. there is also an obligation to provide access to 
infrastructure and fixed-line services for alternative pro- 
viders. Additional regulatory rulings such as a reduction in 
mobile and fixed-line termination rates due to the european 
commission’s recommendation on termination rates could 
negatively affect the telekom Austria Group’s earnings 
development.

in 2011 the european union decided to introduce additional 
comprehensive regulatory measures for roaming rates within 
the community as part of its Roaming iii regulation, which 
came into effect on 1 July 2012. by contrast to the previous 
system this includes a structural solution that is intended to 
allow all customers a choice of provider for roaming services 
regardless of the national operator. this measure led to addi-
tional competition between operators in europe from mid-
2014 onwards. price regulation is also continuing for voice, 
messaging and data services. Furthermore, the european 
commission has issued a proposal entitled “Digital single 
Market” with the aim of lowering roaming charges for con-
sumers to a national level. these regulations would affect the 
mobile communications companies of the telekom Austria 
Group in the eeA member states Austria, bulgaria, croatia 
and slovenia.

telekom Austria AG and its subsidiaries are party to a num-
ber of legal proceedings both in and out of court with author-
ities, competitors and other parties. An ongoing dialogue 
with stakeholders and a regular exchange of information on 
controversial issues, which could pose a threat to the com-
pany, enable the Group to identify problems at an early stage 
and develop measures to counteract them in a targeted man-
ner if need be. telekom Austria Group has joined the ongoing 
proceedings in connection with past misconduct as a private 
party. While some of the proceedings have already been 
concluded in the court of first instance, a final ruling has 
not yet been imposed.

coMpliAnce Risks
the annual compliance risk assessment process — which is 
an essential element of the compliance management system 
of the telekom Austria Group — identifies relevant compli-
ance risks on the basis of structured management interviews 
and workshops and defined risk-mitigating measures.

FinAnciAl Risks
telekom Austria Group is exposed to various financial risks, 
including liquidity risk, interest rate, foreign currency 
exchange rate risk and credit risk associated with underlying 
financial assets, liabilities and anticipated transactions. 
liquidity risk is the risk that telekom Austria Group will not 
be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
telekom Austria Group’s approach to managing liquidity is 
to ensure that telekom Austria Group will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due, under both 

normal and stressed conditions. Furthermore, all measures 
required to assure sufficient liquidity for the needs according 
to the liquidity plan shall be taken. excess liquidity is only 
invested in instruments with counterparties and within 
limits approved by the cFo and the risk committee. All long-
term instruments and derivatives are contracted with counter- 
parties having an investment grade rating from standard & 
poor’s or an equivalent rating from another globally recog-
nised rating agency. if no such external rating is available, 
an internal rating based on quantitative ratios is carried out. 
interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risk is the 
risk that the income of telekom Austria Group is influenced 
by changing foreign exchange rates and interest rates. the 
objective of risk management is to manage and control these 
risk exposures within acceptable parameters.

the credit risk is continuously monitored by the telekom 
Austria Group, because the credit Management Department 
has established a credit policy that requires each new cus-
tomer to be analysed individually for creditworthiness. credit 
risk or the risk of default in payment by contractual partners 
is continuously monitored via credit checks, credit limits 
and verification routines. Due to the large number of custom-
ers and the high level of diversification of the portfolios, the 
default of any single debtor would not entail grave conse-
quences (low concentration risk) in respect of the consoli-
dated financial statements of telekom Austria Group. Within 
telekom Austria Group, operative credit risk management 
functions are performed at the operating company level. 
there is no material credit risk in regard to a single contrac-
tual partner or a single financial instrument.

potential risks relating to interest rate and foreign exchange 
rate fluctuations can be limited by entering into derivative 
financial instruments. these policies are laid down in the 
treasury Guidelines, which are established in order to iden-
tify and analyse the risks faced by telekom Austria Group, to 
set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks 
and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and 
systems are regularly reviewed to reflect changes in market 
conditions and telekom Austria Group’s activities.

investMent Risk
the telekom Austria Group counters investment risks with 
measures such as the active management of equity invest-
ments through target requirements, coordination processes 
and, in the event of an acquisition, thorough due diligence 
and enterprise valuation.

peRsonnel-RelAteD Risks
the telekom Austria Group counters personnel-related risks 
in various ways. For example young talents are recruited in 
part through the ‘1A career’ programme, which focuses on 
graduates, trainees and apprentices. the risk of losing key 
employees is counteracted by means of forward-looking 

M A nAGe M e n t R e p oRt

131AnnuAl FinAnciAl Rep oR t 2 014  t elekom Aus t RiA GRoup



succession and Group-wide talent management. Managers 
act in accordance with leadership standards, focusing on the 
dimensions of person, team and business. Group-wide feed-
back aiming on the further development of managers is given 
via a 360°-feedback programme. An internal business school 
assists in the ongoing development of employees’ skills and 
abilities and serves as a platform for Group-wide transfer of 
expertise. the Group-wide satisfaction survey ‘tAGisfaction’ 
is used to obtain employee feedback. every year, the results of 
tAGisfaction lead a number of effective improvement meas-
ures and are also incorporated into strategic planning for the 
subsequent year. personnel planning comprises additional 
to the business plan oriented cost planning also measures to 
improve the employees’ mobility.

Approximately 50% of the workforce in the Austrian segment 
has civil servant status, these are Group-wide 27%. to address 
the structure of employee costs, the Austrian segment has 
not only developed several social plans in cooperation with 
employee representatives, but also models which enable 
employees with civil servant status to transfer to government 
ministries. the verdict by the european court of Justice in 
november 2014 concerning the remuneration and other 
rights of civil servants required telekom Austria Group to 
recognise an additional provisions for employee costs of 
euR 30.1 mn and provisions for restructuring of euR 15.0 mn 
in the financial year 2014; this increases the expenses for the 
financial years following 2014, which may negatively impact 
the financial position and profitability of telekom Austria 
Group.

technicAl AnD topoGRAphicAl Risks
Maintaining a high level of availability and reliability of the 
services and products offered is a key aspect of operational 
risk management, as a host of threats such as natural disas-
ters, major technical disruptions, third-party construction 
work, hidden faults or criminal activities can all impair their 
quality. long-term planning takes technological develop-
ments into account, while the redundancy of critical com-
ponents ensures fault tolerance, and efficient operating and 
security processes safeguard high standards of quality. Group 
guidelines guarantee uniform methods for recognising and 
managing the most important risks to operational processes. 
in 2014 the efficiency of operative risk precautions were 
tested as heavy floods in serbia and part of croatia occurred. 
Due to the good technical and organisational preparation the 
crisis was superbly handled by the local emergency manage-
ment which was supported by the Group.

enviRonMentAl Risks
climate change can give rise to risks for the telekom Austria 
Group’s network infrastructure (ranging from rising average 
temperatures and high rainfall levels through to flooding, 
mudslides, etc.). the telekom Austria Group is actively 
committed to climate protection and continuously observes 

developments in this area in order to ensure that it can 
initiate measures to protect its infrastructural facilities as 
necessary. 

inteRnAl contRol systeM FoR 
FinAnciAl RepoRtinG 
since delisting from the new york stock exchange in 2007, 
the telekom Austria Group has retained the internal control 
system (ics) for financial reporting as was required by law 
up until that time. the ics is intended to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability and accuracy of external 
financial reporting in compliance with international and 
national standards. Regular internal reporting to manage-
ment and the review of the internal control system by inter-
nal Audit also ensure that weaknesses are identified promptly 
and reported and eliminated accordingly. the most impor-
tant content and principles apply to all telekom Austria 
Group subsidiaries. each significant financial transaction has 
a risk and control matrix to ensure that its financial report-
ing is correct and complete. the effectiveness of this system 
is reviewed, analysed and assessed at regular intervals. At the 
end of each year management carries out an assessment of 
the relevant companies with the involvement of the business 
units. based on the findings of this assessment and the 
defined criteria, the management declared the internal 
control system effective as at 31 December 2014.

subsequent events 
in october 2014, telekom Austria AG announced that it had 
agreed with telekom slovenije Group to merge their subsidi-
aries vip operator and one, both operating in the Republic of 
Macedonia. telekom Austria AG will hold 55% and have 
sole control over the newly created entity, whereas telekom 
slovenije Group will hold 45%. Furthermore, the agreement 
also includes call and put options for the exit of telekom 
slovenije Group from the joint venture within three years 
after the closing of the merger. the closing of the transaction 
is subject to merger control clearance in the Republic of 
Macedonia, and is expected for q1 2015. one is the third larg-
est mobile network operator in the Republic of Macedonia, 
and in 2013, achieved revenues and ebitDA of approximately 
euR 75.5 mn and euR 14.4 mn respectively.

since 31 December 2014 the belarusian Rouble lost approxi-
mately 20% of its value compared to the euro. the impact of 
the devaluation on the belarusian inflation rate remains to be 
seen.

on 21 January 2015, a condition precedent with regard to the 
conditional agreement between telekom slovenije and si.
mobil was fulfilled. therefore si.mobil abandoned the lawsuit 
and a partial amount of euR 20 mn has already been collected.

on 11 november 2014, a decision from the european court 
of Justice (ecJ) — after submission by the Austrian higher 
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Administrative court — ruled, that the statutory rule concern-
ing the date of advancement to the next pay grade for Austrian 
civil servants is inconsistent with european union law. to 
compensate for the resulting burden on the Federal budget 
the Austrian national Assembly passed an appropriate bill on 
21 January 2015. this bill has not yet come into legal effect as 
it has not yet been passed by the Austrian Federal Assembly 
and has not been published in the Federal law Gazette. 
telekom Austria Group will consider any further steps with 
regard to the findings of the Austrian higher Administrative 
court, which are still pending as well as to the evaluation of 
the present bill concerning its consistency with european 
union law.

outlook 2015
the preceding business year involved some important 
strategic decisions for the future development of telekom 
Austria Group. With the backing of the new principal share-
holder América Móvil and the additional leeway due to the 
successfully completed capital increase in november 2014 
the Management board is confirmed in its confidence to 
enhance the stabilisation measures initiated in the preceding 
business year and to return back to growth.

Although adverse external factors such as macro-economic 
headwinds, regulatory cuts and severe price pressure, which 
dominated the business development, will continue, in 2014, 
the increasingly positive impacts from the strategic steps 
already taken by the Management board to deal with these 
external factors became apparent.

to safeguard this development a substantial transformation 
programme was launched. A bundle of measures focused on 
the market, on costs and on technology shall enable growth 
in revenues as well as in ebitDA comparable. these measures 
shall also positively impact Free cash Flow.

vienna, 22 January 2015
the Management board

chairman Dr. hannes Ametsreiter

Dipl.ing. siegfried Mayrhofer

Dipl. ing. Günther ottendorfer
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R epoRt on the 
FinA nci A l 
stAteMents

We have audited the accompanying financial 
statements, including the accounting system, of 
telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, vienna, for 
the fiscal year from January 1, 2014 to December 31, 
2014. these financial statements comprise the 
balance sheet as of December 31, 2014, the income 
statement for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2014, and the notes.

MAnAGeMent’s Responsibility 
FoR the FinAnciAl stAteMents 
AnD FoR the AccountinG 
systeM
the company’s management is responsible for 
the accounting system and for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with Austrian Generally Accepted 
Accounting principles. this responsibility 
includes: designing, implementing and main-
taining internal control relevant to the prepa-
ration and fair presentation of financial state-
ments that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 
applying appropriate accounting policies; making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances.

AuDitoR’s Responsibility AnD 
DescRiption oF type AnD scope 
oF the stAtutoRy AuDit
our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with laws and 
regulations applicable in Austria and Austrian 

standards on Auditing. those standards require 
that we comply with professional guidelines and 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial state-
ments are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the amounts and dis-
closures in the financial statements. the proce-
dures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. in making those risk assess-
ments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the company’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the company’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a reasonable basis for our audit opinion.

opinion
our audit did not give rise to any objections. in 
our opinion, which is based on the results of our 
audit, the financial statements comply with legal 
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requirements and give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of telekom Austria Aktien- 
gesellschaft as of December 31, 2014 and of its 
financial performance for the fiscal year from 
January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014 in accordance 
with Austrian Generally Accepted Accounting 
principles.

coMMents on the 
MAnAGeMent RepoRt
pursuant to statutory provisions, the manage-
ment report is to be audited as to whether it is 
consistent with the financial statements and as 
to whether the other disclosures are not mislead-
ing with respect to the company’s position. the 
auditor’s report also has to contain a statement 
as to whether the management report is consist-
ent with the financial statements and whether 
the disclosures pursuant to section 243a uGb are 
appropriate.

in our opinion, the management report is 
consistent with the financial statements. the 
disclosures pursuant to section 243a uGb are 
appropriate.

vienna on January 23, 2015

Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs Gmbh

Mag. nikolaus schaffer
certified public Accountant (Austria)

Mag. Maximilian schreyvogl
certified public Accountant (Austria)

This report is a translation of the original report in German, which 
is solely valid. Publication of the financial statements together with 
our auditor̒s opinion may only be made if the financial statements 
and the management report are identical with the audited version 
attached to this report. Section 281 paragraph 2 UGB (Austrian 
Commercial Code) applies.
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R epoRt by the
supeRv isoRy 
boA R D

lADies AnD GentleMen!

the telekom Austria Group broke new ground 
and made substantial progress in the 2014 finan-
cial year. in terms of ownership, too, a number of 
important strategic steps were realised in order to 
ensure continued support for the future develop- 
ment of the telekom Austria Group. Following 
the conclusion of the shareholders’ agreement 
between ÖiAG and América Móvil in April 2014, 
the telekom Austria Group has a new controlling 
majority shareholder in the form of América 
Móvil, which held 59.7% of the shares when the 
takeover offer was completed on 20 october 2014. 
thanks to this stable ownership structure with a 
long-term focus, the company is well-equipped 
for the future. the euR 1 bn capital increase that 
was implemented in november made an impor-
tant contribution to the Group’s ongoing strategic 
development, strengthening the capital struc-
ture and securing important investments for the 
future of the company such as the expansion of 
the fibre network in Austria.

At an operational level, our focus on high-value 
customer segments, the successful convergence 
strategy and targeted cost optimisation pro-
grammes allowed us to achieve a slight increase 
in ebitDA comparable in Austria following 
several years of negative development. in other 
words, we are moving in the right direction. the 
Group has also actively addressed the various 
challenges in its cee markets. the Republic of 
Macedonia became the fourth country in which 
the Group successfully implemented its conver-
gence strategy. the key selling point and require-
ment for success is the Group’s high-quality, 
high-performance infrastructure, which is kept 
state of the art through continuous investment. 
numerous awards for best network quality reflect 
the performance of our networks.

harald stöber, who had been a member of our 
supervisory board for a number of years, passed 

away in early May 2014. he had been a member 
of the supervisory board of telekom Austria AG 
since 2003, shaping the Group’s development 
over many years with his extensive expertise as 
a proven and internationally recognised telecom-
munications expert.

in the 2014 financial year the supervisory board 
dealt in detail with the issues of strategic orienta- 
tion, investment and financing decisions as well as 
the business development of the telekom Austria 
Group and its subsidiaries in ten meetings of 
the supervisory board and numerous committee 
meetings, including a strategy workshop.

in addition, personnel changes in the executive 
bodies of the company were prepared and imple-
mented. the contract with chief Financial officer 
hans tschuden was dissolved with effect from 
31 May 2014. he was succeeded by siegfried 
Mayrhofer with effect from 1 June 2014.

At the extraordinary General Meeting on 14 August 
2014, the shareholder representatives of the 
supervisory board were newly elected as a result 
of the implementation of the shareholders’ agree-
ment between ÖiAG and América Móvil. All of 
the elected supervisory board members stepped 
down from their positions with effect from the 
end of the extraordinary General Meeting on 
14 August. the extraordinary General Meeting 
on 14 August 2014 therefore newly elected the 
members of the supervisory board. i would like 
to take this opportunity to thank the members 
of the supervisory board who have stepped down 
for their extraordinary commitment and many 
years of constructive cooperation.

the current general national and international 
conditions, strategic opportunities and challenges 
as well as the potential courses of action for 
optimising business performance were discussed 
in detail at the strategy workshop of the supervisory 
board, which was held in connection with a 
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supervisory board meeting. in addition to stabi-
lising business performance in its more mature 
markets, the central objective of corporate 
strategy is to leverage all potential in the Group’s 
growth markets. in Austria, bulgaria, croatia and, 
since 2014, the Republic of Macedonia, the strategy 
of advancing convergent communications solu-
tions must be continued successfully. efficiency 
enhancements to improve earnings power are 
also essential for all business units. the main 
focus of the supervisory board meeting in 
December 2014 was the budget for 2015.

the supervisory board of telekom Austria AG 
is strongly committed to compliance with the 
Austrian corporate Governance code (AcGc) and 
to responsible corporate management and con-
trol aimed at generating sustainable enterprise 
value. All ten shareholder representatives have 
declared their independence within the meaning 
of Rule 53 of the AcGc. the supervisory board 
also analysed the effectiveness of its activities, 
organisation and working methods in accordance 
with Rule 36 of the AcGc.

As provided for by Rule 62 of the AcGc, the 
telekom Austria Group’s compliance with the 
provisions of the AcGc and the accuracy of its 
public reporting in association with this are 
assessed externally every three years. the most 
recent evaluation, which was performed by 
Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs Gmbh in 
early 2014, found no facts that conflicted with the 
declaration made by the Management board and 
the supervisory board in the 2014 financial year 
concerning observance of and compliance with 
the ‘comply or explain’ rules or the recommenda-
tions of the AcGc.

the personnel and nomination committee 
prepared the above personnel changes in the 
supervisory board and the Management board 
in two meetings. 

the Frequency committee, which was created 
to assist in the Austrian frequency auction in 
summer 2013, dealt at length with the frequency 
auction in slovenia in the first quarter of 2014. 
After the conclusion of this auction, the Frequency 
committee discontinued its work.

in 2014 the Audit committee of the supervisory 
board dealt with financial reporting as part of the 
preparation of the Annual Financial statements 
and the quarterly reports in addition to perform-

ing its duties to monitor the effectiveness of the 
internal control system, risk management and 
the internal audit system at three meetings. As 
part of its reporting, Deloitte Audit Wirtschafts-
prüfungs Gmbh credibly demonstrated its impar-
tiality to the Audit committee in accordance with 
section 270 (1a) of the Austrian business enter-
prise code (‘uGb’). the findings of the Audit com-
mittee meetings were reported to the supervisory 
board on an ongoing basis.

the Annual Financial statements of telekom 
Austria AG and the consolidated Financial state-
ments for the year ending 31 December 2014 
were issued with unqualified audit opinions by 
Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs Gmbh. the 
Management Report and the Group Management 
Report are consistent with the Annual Financial 
statements and the consolidated Financial state-
ments respectively. After prior consultation with 
the Audit committee and following an extensive 
discussion and review, the supervisory board 
approved the Annual Financial statements for 
2014, which have therefore been adopted in 
accordance with section 96 (4) of the Austrian 
stock corporation Act. After prior consultation 
with the Audit committee and following an 
extensive discussion and review, it also approved 
the consolidated Financial statements prepared 
in accordance with the iFRss as prescribed by 
section 245a of the Austrian business enterprise 
code, the Management Report, the Group Man-
agement Report and the corporate Governance 
Report.

the supervisory board approved the Management 
board’s proposal for the appropriation of the net 
result, namely the distribution of a dividend of 
5 eurocents per eligible share for the 2014 financial 
year, with the remaining amount being carried 
forward to new account.

i would like to conclude by thanking the members 
of the Management board and all our employees 
for the impressive commitment they have shown 
in the challenging 2014 financial year. i would 
also like to assure the shareholders of telekom 
Austria AG that, going forward, the supervisory 
board will continue to actively support and press 
ahead with the strategic development of the 
telekom Austria Group.

Rudolf Kemler
chairman of the supervisory board 
vienna, January 2015
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   end of current  
 other supervisory board  term of office on independent 
 mandates and similar  supervisory Board of as per 
 functions at other listed  telekom Austria AG or Rule 53 of 
name (year of birth) companies (as per the AcGc) First appointed date of departure the AcGc
Rudolf kemler, chairman (1956) Österreichische post AG (chairman), 01.11.2012 2018* Yes 
 omV AG (chairman)    
carlos García moreno elizondo,  Royal kpn n.V. (netherlands) 14.08.2014 2018* Yes 
Vice chairman (1957)
Alfred Brogyányi (1948)  29.05.2013 14.08.2014 Yes
Alejandro cantú Jiménez (1972)  14.08.2014 2016** Yes
elisabetta castiglioni (1964)  29.05.2013 2016** Yes
Henrietta egerth-stadlhuber (1971)  20.05.2008 14.08.2014 Yes
michael enzinger*** (1959)  29.05.2013 14.08.2014 Yes
carlos m. Jarque (1954) Grupo carso s.A.B. de c.V.  14.08.2014 2018* Yes 
 (mexico)
Reinhard kraxner (1970)  14.08.2014 2016** Yes
Günter leonhartsberger (1968) Österreichische post AG 14.08.2014 2018* Yes
peter J. oswald (1962)  20.05.2008 14.08.2014 Yes
Ronny pecik**** (1962)  23.05.2012 2018* Yes
stefan pinter (1978)  14.08.2014 2016** Yes
Wolfgang Ruttenstorfer (1950) Flughafen Wien AG, cA 27.05.2010 14.08.2014 Yes 
 immobilien Anlagen AG     
 (chairman), RHi AG, nis     
 a.d.novi sad
Harald stöber***** (1952)  04.06.2003 09.05.2014 Yes
oscar Von Hauske solís (1957) Royal kpn n.V. (netherlands) 23.10.2012 2018* Yes
   
Members of the Supervisory Board appointed by the Staff Council
silvia Bauer (1968) 30.01.2009 to 03.11.2010, 
 reappointed on 26.07.2012
Walter Hotz (1959) Reappointed on  
 06.05.2011
Werner luksch (1967) 03.08.2007 to 20.10.2010,  
 reappointed on 11.01.2011
Alexander sollak (1978) 03.11.2010
Gottfried kehrer****** (1962) 27.10.2010

supeRvisoRy 
boARD MeMbeRs

 * Term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting dealing with the 2017 financial year (provisionally May 2018).

 ** Term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting dealing with the 2015 financial year (provisionally May 2016).

 *** Second Vice Chairman until 14 August 2014

 **** First Vice Chairman until 14 August 2014

 ***** Harald Stöber passed away on 9 May 2014. 

 ****** Name changed from Zehetleitner to Kehrer on 10 October 2014 

su pe Rv i s oRy b oA R D M e M be R s
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Decl A R Ation 
oF the M A nAGeMent 
boA R D

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the separate 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the parent 
company as required by the applicable accounting standards 
and that the management report gives a true and fair view of 

the development and performance of the business and the 
position of the company, together with a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties the company faces.

the Management board

Günther ottendorfer
chief technology officer
telekom Austria Group

hannes Ametsreiter
chief executive officer
telekom Austria Group

siegfried Mayrhofer
chief Financial officer
telekom Austria Group
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